
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: Thursday, 10th December, 2020 
Time: 6.30 pm 
Venue: Virtual Meeting - Zoom - Public Access via 

YouTube 
https://www.youtube.com/bathnescouncil 

 

Agenda 
 
To: All Members of the Cabinet 
 
Councillor Dine Romero (Council Leader and Liberal Democrat Group Leader), Councillor Rob 
Appleyard (Cabinet Member for Adult Services), Councillor Tim Ball (Cabinet Member for 
Housing, Planning, and Economic Development), Councillor Neil Butters (Cabinet Member for 
Transport Services), Councillor Paul Crossley (Cabinet Member for Community Services), 
Councillor Kevin Guy (Cabinet Member for Children’s Services), Councillor Richard Samuel 
(Deputy Council Leader and Cabinet Member for Resources), Councillor Sarah Warren 
(Cabinet Member for Climate Emergency and Neighbourhood Services), Councillor David Wood 
(Cabinet Member for Climate Emergency and Neighbourhood Services) and Councillor Joanna 
Wright (Cabinet Member for Transport Services) 

 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
 

 
 
 

Chief Executive and other appropriate officers  
Press and Public  

Jack Latkovic 
Democratic Services 
Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG  
Telephone: 01225 39 443501225 394452 
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk  
E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk 



NOTES: 
1. Inspection of Papers: Papers are available for inspection as follows: 
 

Council’s website: https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1 
 
 

2. Details of decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
circulated with the agenda for the next meeting. In the meantime, details can be obtained by 
contacting as above.  
 

3. Recording at Meetings:- 
 
The Council will broadcast the images and sounds live via the internet 
https://www.youtube.com/bathnescouncil  
 
The Council may also use the images/sound recordings on its social media site or share with 
other organisations, such as broadcasters. 
 
4. Public Speaking at Meetings 
 

The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to make their views known at meetings. 
They may make a statement relevant to what the meeting has power to do. They may also 
present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a group.  
 
Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting. This 
means that for meetings held on Thursdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 5.00pm the previous Monday. 
 
Further details of the scheme can be found at: 
 

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942 
 
5. Supplementary information for meetings 

 
Additional information and Protocols and procedures relating to meetings 
 

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505 
 

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/bathnescouncil
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505


Cabinet  - Thursday, 10th December, 2020 
  

in the Virtual Meeting - Zoom - Public Access via YouTube 
https://www.youtube.com/bathnescouncil 

  
A G E N D A 

  

1.   WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate: 
(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare. 
(b) The nature of their interest. 
(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   

(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests) 

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his 
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting. 

4.   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  

5.   QUESTIONS FROM PUBLIC AND COUNCILLORS  

 Questions submitted before the deadline will receive a reply from an appropriate 
Cabinet member or a promise to respond within 5 days of the meeting.  Councillors 
may ask one supplementary question for each question they submitted, up to a 
maximum of two per Councillor. 

6.   STATEMENTS, DEPUTATIONS OR PETITIONS FROM PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS  

 Councillors and members of the public may register their intention to make a statement 
if they notify the subject matter of their statement before the deadline.  Statements are 
limited to 3 minutes each.  The speaker may then be asked by Cabinet members to 
answer factual questions arising out of their statement. 

7.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS CABINET MEETING (Pages 7 - 14) 

 To be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair 

8.   CONSIDERATION OF SINGLE MEMBER ITEMS REQUISITIONED TO CABINET  

 This is a standard agenda item, to cover any reports originally placed on the Weekly 
list for single Member decision making, which have subsequently been the subject of a 
Cabinet Member requisition to the full Cabinet, under the Council’s procedural rules 

9.   MATTERS REFERRED BY POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY BODIES  



 This is a standing agenda item (Constitution rule 14, part 4D – Executive Procedure 
Rules) for matters referred by Policy Development and Scrutiny bodies.  The Chair of 
the relevant PDS Panel will have the right to attend and to introduce the Panel’s 
recommendations to Cabinet. 

10.   SINGLE MEMBER CABINET DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE PREVIOUS CABINET 
MEETING (Pages 15 - 18) 

 A list of Cabinet Single Member decisions taken and published since the last Cabinet 
meeting to note (no debate). 

11.   LIVEABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS (Pages 19 - 100) 

 The B&NES Climate Emergency Action Plan, approved in October 2019, recommends 
a major shift to mass transport, walking and cycling to reduce transport emissions.  
Liveable Neighbourhoods are an important aspect of proposals to tackle the climate 
emergency and to improve health and wellbeing across the area.  The ambition is for 
Liveable Neighbourhoods is to breathe new life into residential areas by reducing the 
dominance of motor vehicles. We strive to reconsider how road space is utilised to 
reduce carbon emissions, improve air quality, enhance road safety and promote 
healthy lifestyles. The idea is to provide fairer access for those travelling on foot and 
by bicycle, creating healthier outdoor spaces for everyone to enjoy. This includes 
better walking and cycling routes, and vibrant local high streets where people can relax 
outside and connect with others. 

12.   LOCAL PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE: OPTIONS CONSULTATION (Pages 101 - 150) 

 This report sets out the scope and arrangements for the Local Plan Partial Update 
Options consultation scheduled to start in January 2021. It also seeks changes to the 
Council’s Local Development Scheme (LDS) which is the Council’s programme for the 
preparation and review of planning polices). 

13.   PROPERTY SERVICES - SERVICE REVIEW (Pages 151 - 158) 

 COVID19 has had a significant impact upon and how the council manages its’ 
commercial estate.  The pandemic has resulted in immediate and permanent changes 
to our ways of working and our operational estate requirements.  COVID19 related 
socio-economic impacts, some of which may become permanent, require the 
organisation to re-position its estate to respond to this change. 

14.   FUTURE OF DESTINATION MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS (Pages 159 - 210) 

 Covid 19 has significantly impacted on the long-term viability of Destination 
Management Organisations across the UK.  In conjunction with neighbouring Councils, 
B&NES considers it necessary to combine the back-office functions of the existing 
Destination Management Organisation, Visit Bath, with Destination Bristol, to create 
Visit West. 

  
  
The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Jack Latkovic who can be contacted on  
01225 394452. 



 

 

 (a)   

 (b)   

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET 
 
CABINET 
 
Thursday, 5th November, 2020 
 
 

These minutes are draft until 
confirmed as a correct record at 
the next meeting. 

 

 
Present: 
Councillor Dine Romero Council Leader and Liberal Democrat Group Leader 
Councillor Rob Appleyard Cabinet Member for Adult Services 
Councillor Tim Ball Cabinet Member for Housing, Planning, and Economic 

Development 
Councillor Neil Butters Cabinet Member for Transport Services 
Councillor Paul Crossley Cabinet Member for Community Services 
Councillor Kevin Guy Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 
Councillor Richard Samuel Deputy Council Leader and Cabinet Member for 

Resources 
Councillor Sarah Warren Cabinet Member for Climate Emergency and 

Neighbourhood Services 
Councillor David Wood Cabinet Member for Climate Emergency and 

Neighbourhood Services 
Councillor Joanna Wright Cabinet Member for Transport Services 
  
  
  
53    WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting by explaining that this meeting is being 
held under The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus)(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2020. The Council has agreed a protocol to cover 
virtual meetings and this meeting would operate in line with that protocol. The 
meeting has the same status and validity as a meeting held in the Guildhall. 

The Chair also reminded everyone that today was the first day of the new lockdown 
and urged everyone to follow the lockdown rules, stay at home (when possible) and 
by doing so protect the NHS and save lives.      

  
54    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 

There were no apologies for absence. 

  
55    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

There were none. 

  
56    TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR 

 
The Chair informed the meeting that agenda item 11 ‘Government invitation to 
Somerset to submit locally led proposals for unitary local government’ would be 
considered under Constitution ‘Part 4 B (Access to Information Procedure Rules) - 
Urgency Rule 15. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



 

 
2 

  
57    QUESTIONS FROM PUBLIC AND COUNCILLORS 

 

There were 12 questions from Councillors. 

[Copies of the questions and responses, including supplementary questions and 
responses if any, have been placed on the Minute book as Appendix 1 and are 
available on the Council's website.] 

 
  
58    STATEMENTS, DEPUTATIONS OR PETITIONS FROM PUBLIC OR 

COUNCILLORS 
 
David Redgewell in a statement [a copy of which is attached to the Minutes as 
Appendix 2 and on the Council's website] addressed the issues around bus travel 
around West of England Combined Authority during COVID19 pandemic. 
 

  
59    MINUTES OF PREVIOUS CABINET MEETING 

 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 8th October 2020 be 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

  
60    CONSIDERATION OF SINGLE MEMBER ITEMS REQUISITIONED TO CABINET 

 

There were none. 

  
61    MATTERS REFERRED BY POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY BODIES 

 

There were none. 

  
62    SINGLE MEMBER CABINET DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE PREVIOUS CABINET 

MEETING 
 

The Cabinet agreed to note the report. 

  
63    RULE 15 GOVERNMENT INVITATION TO SOMERSET TO SUBMIT LOCALLY 

LED PROPOSALS FOR UNITARY LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
 
Councillor Dine Romero introduced this report by saying that she has received a 
letter from the Secretary of State for housing Communities and Local Government on 
the 9th October, asking if the Council would want to submit a locally led proposal for 
unitary local government with all of, or part of Somerset.  In May 2018 Somerset 
County Council announced its intention to explore a model of government which 
might deliver better services in Somerset.  Earlier discussions included the districts 
within Somerset County Council's borders, as well as with North Somerset, and Bath 
and North East Somerset. The administration of the Council had commissioned 
advice in 2018, so that it could objectively take part in those early discussions.  That 
advice concluded that there were significant risks to the Council's ability to deliver its 
strategic priorities, noting that the proposed financial impact, along with the ability of 
Bath the North East Somerset, to be able to develop policies and interventions 

Page 8



 

 
3 

specific to its socio-economic environment were likely to be hampered.  Also, any 
benefits were deemed to be insignificant compared to the scale of risk arising from 
the proposal.  
Councillor Romero continued by saying that she did not believe that situation had 
changed.  The Council did not formally take part in discussions, nor was the Council 
involved in the business plans drawn up and submitted by Somerset County Council, 
nor those submitted by the four District Councils within Somerset County Council.  
Councillor Romero didn’t believe that at this time the Council would have anything to 
gain by submitting a late extra option for government to consider.  The Council did 
have a question of North Somerset's request to join WECA that would need to be 
fully addressed.  This would have some obvious benefits as it would consolidate the 
economic area as this was a region that the Council has already worked within. 
Councillor Romero added that in her view this request would need to be resolved 
more urgently than creating a new unitary with untried partners. The Council would 
need to continue to act as a separate local unitary authority, and continue to 
cooperate with all public sector partners, including neighbouring Councils, to offer the 
best services to local residents and visitors. 
 
Councillor Dine Romero moved the recommendations. 
 
Councillor Richard Samuel seconded the motion by saying that the history of County 
based reorganisations around the country has not been a happy one over the years.  
The cost of these reorganisations has been higher than hoped at the point proposals 
were put forward and agreed by the government. These reorganisations consume an 
enormous amount of time in the public sector, not just for the Councils involved but 
also for partners who work with the Councils, and at this particular point in time, 
when all Councils were trying to work with colleagues in the National Health Service 
to help tackle the COVID19 pandemic, this was a costly and entirely unnecessary 
distraction. Councillor Samuel agreed with the Leader that the Council should build 
on previous partnerships.  
Councillor Samuel concluded by saying that this proposal did not seem to be a great 
deal for BANES residents.  Nevertheless, the Council have taken this proposal 
seriously, and in reaching the recommendations have considered carefully the 
possibilities. 
 
Councillor David Wood agreed with the comments made by the Leader and 
Councillor Samuel and added that the Council had to consider what was the best for 
its residents.  Councillor Wood felt that entering into unitary local government with 
Somerset would be a poor outcome for the residents of BANES, and for those 
reasons he would be voting for the recommendation of the Leader. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) that the Cabinet agreed to: 
 

1) Consider this report and recommend to Council that it does not submit a 
proposal for local government reorganisation in Somerset, and  

 
2) Indicate its intention to continue to act as a separate local unitary authority 

council (Bath & North  East Somerset Council) but continue to co-operate with 
all public sector partners (including neighbouring councils) to offer the best 
services it can to its local residents and visitors. 

  
64    AMENDMENT TO POLICY ON HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE 

LICENSING STANDARDS FOR DRIVERS, VEHICLES AND OPERATORS 

Page 9



 

 
4 

 
Councillor Paul Crossley introduced this report by saying that this was about aligning 
Taxi policy with Clean Air Zone (CAZ) policy.  The Council has received £9.4m from 
the Government to help taxis, coaches, buses and all commercial vehicles meet the 
requirements for clean air standards.  The report outlined the ways the funding would 
be used and so far there were 600 expressions of interest.  All of BANES taxi 
operators have been contacted by the Council to alert them to this offer.  Also, 
Councillor Crossley hoped that all of the local business and traders would take on 
this offer.  Anyone that applied would be fitted with a telematic device in order to 
check if they were eligible in meeting terms and conditions of the government grant.   
 
Councillor Paul Crossley moved the recommendations. 
 
Councillor Sarah Warren seconded the motion by saying that she was pleased that 
the policy requires vehicles to have nitrogen dioxide emissions compliant with CAZ, 
barring some exemptions, as set out in the report.  Everyone can check the 
compliance of their vehicles with the DVLA vehicle checker, which can be accessed 
by the Council’s CAZ web page, and they can then contact the Council's CAZ team 
to establish whether they might be eligible for grants or loans.  Councillor Warren 
also said that the CAZ was an important public health measure that would improve 
air quality in the city and that she hoped that all taxi drivers would look into upgrading 
their vehicles. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) that the Cabinet agreed to: 
 

1) Adopt the proposed amendment to the Policy which provides that all vehicles 
licensed by the Council must be (as a minimum) compliant with the terms of 
the Clean Air Zone and meet with its emission standards, unless they are 
eligible for exemptions as detailed in the CAZ scheme. 

 
2) Note that drivers using vehicles eligible for exemptions under and in 

accordance with the CAZ scheme will be exempted from enforcement action 
under the Policy 

  
65    YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2020-21 

 
Councillor Kevin Guy introduced this report by saying that the Council had a  
statutory duty to, in consultation with a police probation and health services (as 
named in the Crime & Disorder Act 1998), publish annual Justice Plan setting out 
agreed actions to help prevent offending, and reoffending as a lead partner in the 
multi-agency arrangement.  Due to the pandemic the Youth Justice Board of England 
and Wales advised that there was no requirement to submit a plan to them this year, 
and therefore no national framework has been completed. However, the Youth 
Offending Service Management Board has agreed to prepare shorter pack. 
Councillor Guy added that the rate of children coming into the justice system for the 
first time continued to reduce in B&NES and the rate of custodial sentencing remains 
low in the area.  There were still some concerns about the rates of reoffending by a 
minority of children, which was addressed through the continuation of involvement in 
a wider multi agency work to address criminal exploitation of young people. This was 
currently being explored through active involvement in the local criminal justice 
board.  
Councillor Guy concluded by saying that the cross-party Children and Young 
People's PDS Panel endorsed the Plan at their meeting on the 3rd November 2020. 

Page 10



 

 
5 

 
Councillor Kevin Guy moved the recommendations. 
 
Councillor Rob Appleyard seconded the motion by thanking Councillor Guy and the 
relevant officers for bringing this Plan even though that it wasn’t a requirement for 
this year and continue to keep the focus on the work they were doing.  Councillor 
Appleyard highlighted one of the figures in the Plan which was about reduction of 
first-time offenders; since 2015 the number of first-time youth offenders has been 
reduced by around 75%. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) that the Cabinet agreed to recommend approval of the 
Youth Justice Plan to Full Council. 
 

  
66    REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING, CASH LIMITS AND 

VIREMENTS – APRIL 2020 TO SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
Councillor Richard Samuel introduced the report by thanking the officers on the 
comprehensive document.  The government’s announcements between June and 
September have led to expected improvements in the Council’s financial position due 
to grants that the government had provided.  However, the government grants have 
not covered 100% of Council’s extra costs, losses and income.  The Council had 
endured substantial income losses from Heritage Services, parking and commercial 
estate income, and these losses were substantial and serious and that had to be 
dealt with.  In addition to that, there were other pressures caused by COVID19 
pandemic such as these on SEND within Children’s Services in an amount of £3.2m 
this year.  That money would not be drawn from the Council’s Revenue Budget but 
from the school’s grants.  Some of the original savings would not be delivered 
because of COVID19. 
The capital programme has slipped from £113.7m to £93.7m, which was an 
expected outcome.  
Councillor Samuel highlighted pressures on Council Tax and business rates 
collections funds due to individuals and businesses inability to pay in the way they 
used to.  Some of those losses would be covered by past surpluses in the collection 
funds and some would be covered elsewhere.  In terms of the reserves, the Council 
may not have to withdraw from reserves as was the suggested in the last monitoring 
report.   
Councillor Samuel took the meeting through the rest of the report, as presented, and 
added that it was encouraging to see that the strong action that the Council took to 
stabilise its finances, along with financial assistance from the government, have led 
to an improved financial position. 
 
Councillor Richard Samuel moved the recommendations. 
 
Councillor Dine Romero seconded the motion by thanking the officers and Councillor 
Samuel on the comprehensive report and on the work that had been done to ensure 
that the revenue was forecasted to be on budget, and on the position of capital, cash 
limits and reserves. 
 
Councillor Paul Crossley welcomed the report and also thanked the officers for the 
amazing work they have done in responding to the crisis.  Councillor Crossley 
highlighted a few initiatives within his portfolio such as engagement of people with 
library services which were predominantly web based.  Councillor Crossley also 

Page 11



 

 
6 

thanked the Heritage Services staff for responding well to challenges during COVID 
19 pandemic and to all other services and teams within his portfolio. 
 
Councillor Tim Ball also welcomed the report and thanked all Council staff for 
responding well during this crisis whilst working in very difficult and stressful 
circumstances. 
 
Councillor Richard Samuel added that the Council would need to continue to keep 
sharp focus on its finances, and not become complacent over the next six months. 
 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) that the Cabinet agreed: 
 

1) To note the 2020/21 revenue budget position (as at the end of September 
2020). 

2) To approve the revenue virement listed for approval in Appendix 3(i) and to 
note those virements listed for information only. 

3) To note the capital year-end forecast detailed in paragraph 3.36 of this 
report; 

4) To note the changes in the capital programme including capital schemes 
that have been agreed for full approval under delegation listed in Appendix 
4(i). 

 
 

  
67    TREASURY MANAGEMENT MONITORING REPORT TO 30TH SEPTEMBER 

2020 
 
Councillor Richard Samuel introduced the report by saying that this was a standard 
report for the Cabinet to consider.  Councillor Samuel highlighted very low returns on 
investment that have been received, although these were still above what was a very 
low benchmark.  All the indicators that the Council had previously agreed and all of 
the indicators on Treasury performance were within the target. Councillor Samuel 
also added that COVID19 restrictions would continue over the next year and would 
have consequent financial and economic impacts until a mass vaccine is found and 
distributed to the wider population.  The pandemic would not go away quickly which 
was important to consider in terms of how the Council would invest in the 
foreseeable future. This was something that would be reflected in the next Council’s 
Budget.  
 
Councillor Richard Samuel moved the recommendations. 
 
Councillor Sarah Warren seconded the motion by saying that the Council was 
currently actively engaging with the Treasury advisors, with regard to disinvesting 4-
8% of Council’s Treasury funds that remain indirectly invested in fossil fuels, and that 
was inevitably a gradual process that would need to balance any financial risks that 
might result in order to safeguard Council funds at a time of ongoing cuts and 
COVID19 related losses. However, any risks associated with a greener investment 
portfolio would need to be weighed relative to the alternatives. Councillor Warren 
expressed her hope that a future Treasury report would be able to publish a 
timeframe for disinvestment of Treasury reserves from fossil fuels. 
 

Page 12



 

 
7 

Councillor Samuel added that he would seriously Councillor Warren’s points on 
disinvesting in fossil fuels, but for the moment the Council was in transitional period. 
Councillor Samuel also said that he was sure that over time this and most of other 
Councils would move away from fossil fuel investment. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) that the Cabinet agreed to: 
 

1) The Treasury Management Report to 30th September 2020, prepared in 
accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Code of Practice, is noted. 

2) The Treasury Management Indicators to 30th September 2020 are noted. 
3) This Treasury Management Report and attached appendices are reported to 

November Council and December Corporate Audit Committee. 
  
  
  
The meeting ended at 7.40 pm  
  
Chair  

  
Date Confirmed and Signed  

  
Prepared by Democratic Services 

  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



 Bath & North East Somerset Council 

Cabinet Single-Member Decisions and Responses to 
Recommendations from PDS Panels 

published from 27-Oct-2020 to 1-Dec-2020 

Further details of each decision can be seen on the Council's Single-member Decision Register at 
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?&dm=3  

 

Neighbourhood CIL for Bath - Approval of the ninth round of project 

recommendations 

 

The Council Leader is asked to agree that following: - 

 

An allocation of £45,000 for a Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) at Rosewarn Park in 

Whiteway, Bath. 

An allocation of £17,500 to replace the floodlights with energy efficient LED lighting 

at Combe Down Rugby Club, Bath. 

An allocation of £37,500 for improvements to the play equipment and the creation of 

a football pitch area at The Sandpits Park, Bath. 

Decision Maker: Council Leader 

Decision published: 27/11/2020 

Effective from: 05/12/2020 

Decision: 

The Cabinet Member agrees that: 

  

1)  An allocation of £45,000 for a Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) at Rosewarn Park 

in Whiteway, Bath. (Capital External) 

  

2)  An allocation of £17,500 to replace the floodlights with energy efficient LED 

lighting at Combe Down Rugby Club, Bath.  (Capital External) 

  

3)  An allocation of £37,500 for improvements to the play equipment and the creation 

of a football pitch area at The Sandpits Park, Bath. (Capital External) 

  

4)  Amend the provisional Capital Programme for Bath Area Forum to £311k to 

reflect balance of funding available prior to these allocations. These allocations, if 

approved, will reduce it to £211k. 

  

Wards affected: Combe Down; Moorlands; Southdown; Twerton; 

Lead officer: Mark Hayward 

Page 15

Agenda Item 10

http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?&dm=3


 
 

Test and Trace Support Payment Policy 

  

A Policy to guide officers in making decisions on Test and Trace Support Payments 

Decision Maker: Cabinet Member for Resources 

Decision published: 25/11/2020 

Effective from: 03/12/2020 

Decision: 

The Cabinet Member agrees to adopt the policy attached to the report. 

Wards affected: (All Wards); 

Lead officer: Damien Peak 

 
 

Bath Record Office Collections Management Policies 

 

The report seeks Cabinet Member endorsement of the updated Record Office 

collections management policies in advance of application for Accredited status with 

The National Archives (TNA). 

Decision Maker: Cabinet Member for Community Services 

Decision published: 24/11/2020 

Effective from: 02/12/2020 

Decision: 

The Cabinet Member agrees to the adoption of the Bath Record Office (BRO) 

Collections Management Policies. 

Wards affected: (All Wards); 

Lead officer: Stephen Bird 

 
 

COVID19 Business Support Grants: Additional Restrictions Grant Policy  

(Rule 4 and Rule 16 Urgent Decision) 

 

The government has announced a further Covid-19 business support funding 

package to be administered by Local Authorities. The funding is available either at 

the point the area enters tier 3 local restrictions or on the imposition of national 

restrictions. National restrictions came into effect on 5th November 2020 triggering 

the need to implement the business support schemes in all Local Authority areas. 

Decision Maker: Cabinet Member for Resources 

Decision published: 13/11/2020 

Effective from: 13/11/2020 

Decision: 

The Cabinet Member agrees to: 

Page 16



  

1)  Approve the Additional Restrictions Grant scheme policy as set out in Appendix 

1. 

 

2)  Delegate the application of the grant fund to the Director of Finance, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Resources, the CX, and the Monitoring 

Officer to ensure the grant is distributed within the £3.866m government funding, 

with fair distribution across the eligible business groups. 

Wards affected: (All Wards); 

Lead officer: Andy Rothery 

 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Printed on recycled paper 

[ 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER:  

Cabinet 

MEETING 
DATE:  

10th December 2020 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 
PLAN REFERENCE: 

E 3238 

TITLE: Liveable Neighbourhoods Consultation Outcome 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report: 

Appendix LN1 – Consultation Outcome Summary 

 

1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 The B&NES Climate Emergency Action Plan, approved in October 2019, 
recommends a major shift to mass transport, walking and cycling to reduce 
transport emissions.  Liveable Neighbourhoods are an important aspect of 
proposals to tackle the climate emergency and to improve health and wellbeing 
across the area.  The ambition is for Liveable Neighbourhoods is to breathe new 
life into residential areas by reducing the dominance of motor vehicles. We strive 
to reconsider how road space is utilised to reduce carbon emissions, improve air 
quality, enhance road safety and promote healthy lifestyles. The idea is to 
provide fairer access for those travelling on foot and by bicycle, creating 
healthier outdoor spaces for everyone to enjoy. This includes better walking and 
cycling routes, and vibrant local high streets where people can relax outside and 
connect with others.  

2 RECOMMENDATION 

The Cabinet is asked to: 

2.1 Review the responses to the consultation on the proposed Liveable 
Neighbourhood strategies. 

2.2 Delegate the decision to adopt the three Liveable Neighbourhood strategies 
(Low Traffic Neighbourhoods; Residents’ Parking Schemes; and On-Street 
Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy) with minor amendments, updates and 
corrections, to the Director of Partnerships and Corporate Services, in 
consultation with the Joint Cabinet Members for Transport. 

 
Page 19

Agenda Item 11



Printed on recycled paper 

2.3 Support the need to allow all schemes once implemented to be in place for a 
minimum of 6 months to allow behaviour change to occur.  

 

3 THE REPORT  

3.1 The council has developed a structured approach to delivering Liveable 
Neighbourhoods through addressing the issue of traffic volumes, residents 
parking, electric vehicle (EV) charging, air quality and road safety.  The three 
strategies that form the approach were subject to public consultation from 9th 
September to 18th October 2020. This report sets out the feedback on these 
strategies.  

3.2 The draft strategy documents issued for public consultation comprised: 

• Low traffic neighbourhood strategy & appendices; 

• Residents’ parking schemes; and 

• On-street electric vehicle charging strategy. 

 

3.3 An online survey was issued to gauge public opinion on these documents. A 
summary of the results is presented as Appendix LN1 to this report. 

3.4 The overarching aim of Liveable Neighbourhoods is to turn streets that are noisy, 
polluted and dangerous into pleasant, healthy and safe places for people to live, 
work, and connect with others. They are a relatively cost-effective way to reduce 
the dominance of vehicles in residential areas and prioritise active travel (walking 
& cycling) and public transport improvements. Schemes will maintain vehicle 
access to homes and businesses and can be designed without disadvantaging 
disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. The aim is to reduce 
overall vehicle use, rather than divert traffic elsewhere.  

3.5 The Liveable Neighbourhood concept encompasses an overarching strategy to 
turn the tide on the way motorised vehicles have increasingly dominated our 
urban streets over the past 50 years.  It aims to reverse a vicious circle where an 
over-reliance on cars for our everyday travel needs has denuded the quality of 
the urban environment to such an extent that fuels even greater car use.  
Liveable Neighbourhoods strive to create a virtuous circle in urban areas, with 
demand longer-distance through car trips suppressed and the vehicles 
themselves excluded from minor roads. Short car trips will be replaced by 
walking and cycling, with all the environmental, health, safety and community 
benefits that will manifest.  

3.6 A range of measures will be deployed to make Liveable Neighbourhoods in 
B&NES a success including:   

• modal filters will reduce long distance trips on minor roads which have no 
business in the neighbourhood; 

• expansion of residents’ car parking will reduce the supply of free and 
convenient all-day commuter parking, suppressing the demand for car-

Page 20

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/FINAL%20DRAFT%20LTN%20Strategy.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/DRAFT%20RESIDENTS%20PARKING%20SCHEMES.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/DRAFT%20ON%20STREET%20EV%20strategy.pdf


Printed on recycled paper 

commuting and encouraging the use of alternative travel modes, including 
cycling, public transport and park & ride. 

• school streets, implemented as part of Liveable Neighbourhoods, will make 
active travel the natural choice for our young people travelling to/from school; 

• local streets will become places that are attractive, safe and convenient for 
people to walk and cycle; 

• strategic corridor improvements to facilitate and encourage walking, cycling 
and public transport that will build capacity for these modes, generating a 
modal shift towards sustainable travel; and 

• investment in on-street electric vehicle charging to assist in facilitating the 
phasing out of cars propelled by combustion engines, generating 
improvements in local air quality and assisting in meeting the council’s 
climate emergency goals.  

3.7 In the short term, there will undoubtedly be issues as people adjust to new travel 
behaviours.  However, when implemented as a comprehensive package, 
Liveable Neighbourhoods will promote sustainable local travel alongside an 
overall reduction in the use of motorised vehicles for many decades to come. 

3.8 Respondents to the consultation expressed considerable support for the concept 
of Liveable Neighbourhoods and the proposed measures. A summary of the 
results is presented below.  

Low Traffic Neighbourhoods (LTN) - Key Principles 

3.9 Respondents expressed overwhelming support for the key principles of low 
traffic neighbourhoods with between 78% and 85% either agreeing or strongly 
agreeing with the proposed key principles, with 10% to 16% disagreeing or 
strongly disagreeing.  

3.10 Within the free text responses, respondents highlighted several common 
themes.  These included strong support for the creation of safer spaces, 
improving resident’s wellbeing and improving air quality; as well identifying a 
numerous areas and streets that residents felt would benefit from being 
designated a liveable neighbourhood.    

3.11 The impact on parking provision in residential areas, specifically in relation 
to older residents and those with restricted mobility was highlighted. Numerous 
respondents expressed concern regarding the level of student’s cars present in 
their neighbourhoods. 

3.12 Many respondents highlighted concerns about traffic volume, speed, 
pollution and air quality. The resulting impact on the health, safety and well-being 
of residents was also a concern.  The Clean Air Zone will be implemented in 
Bath from March 2021. This will support Liveable Neighbourhoods work in terms 
of reducing emissions and improving air quality. 

3.13 In relation to walking and cycling, respondents commented on the need for 
improved infrastructure to support these modes. Improved health opportunities 
and safer travel for all were also noted.  Particular importance was attributed to   

Page 21



Printed on recycled paper 

supporting children walking and cycling to school and the need for safer routes 
to facilitate these trips.  The need for improved links for cycling from areas 
outside of Bath to the city was also highlighted.  Some responses expressed 
concern regarding the impact of Bath’s topography on the ability to promote 
active travel. 

Low Traffic Neighbourhoods - Local Priorities 

3.14 Again, overwhelming support was awarded to the identified local priorities 
with between 74% and 87% of respondents either agreeing or strongly agreeing 
with the listed priorities and 6% to 13% of respondents disagreeing or strongly 
disagreeing.  

3.15 Within the free text response, respondents raised several concerns and 
recommendations regarding the implementation of Liveable Neighbourhoods. 
Themes were often inter-related. For example, the effect of Bath’s topography on 
active travel was raised again, particularly for residents with mobility issues. This 
suggests that improvement for alternative modes, such as public transport and 
e-bikes should be developed where topography is a key issue within specific 
Liveable Neighbourhood schemes.  

3.16 Many respondents were concerned about the impact of parking restrictions 
on local businesses Particularly since many business owners were already 
struggling due to Covid-19. In contrast, others recognised the positive impact 
Liveable Neighbourhoods could have on local business, yet that the council 
would need to communicate this effectively. Many respondents flagged fairness 
and justice issues around the potential displacement of traffic onto main roads. 
Therefore, the council must enhance capacity on the highway network for public 
transport, walking and cycling to mitigate this impact as part of the overall 
strategic delivery plan.  

Liveable Neighbourhoods Approach to Developing Schemes 

3.17 Respondents to the questionnaire were very supportive of the proposed 
approach to developing Liveable Neighbourhood schemes with between 65% 
and 85% of respondents either agreeing or strongly agreeing with the elements 
of the proposed approach, with between 3% and 10% either disagreeing or 
strongly disagreeing  

3.18 The council’s proposed approach is consistent with government guidance 
contained in Gear Change, a bold vision for cycling and walking, Department for 
Transport, July 2020 (page 18 refers) which proposes creating a community right 
to close side streets and create low traffic neighbourhoods, with groups of 
residential streets able to petition local authorities for rat-run closures. 

3.19 Within the free text responses, a significant number of responses 
suggested adjustments to the methodology. This included a simplified approach 
to encourage engagement and the council taking a stronger lead on scheme 
development.  The LTN strategy proposes that communities should express a 
desire to be considered for LTN interventions and scheme development will be 
on the basis of co-design.  However, in some areas community groups have a 
much lower profile or representation at a grass roots level is limited. In this case 
the council can, in consultation with local Members, take a stronger lead. Public 

Page 22



Printed on recycled paper 

consultation should be undertaken to ensure that these areas are not 
disadvantaged in selection for LTN interventions.    

Residents Parking Schemes 

3.20 The publication: Residents Parking Schemes: Approach to implementation 
of residents' parking schemes in B&NES (the Residents’ Parking Strategy) aims 
to reduce carbon emissions, encourage the use of public transport systems, 
improve both residential amenity & quality of life and deliver a more pleasant 
residential environment. The Assistant Director of Highways and Traffic is 
responsible for assessing revisions to existing restrictions, evaluating 
extensions, implementing these restrictions on the public highway and the daily 
operation, such as permit allocation and enforcement.  

3.21 In 2014, the council's Parking Services issued two documents: 

• Purpose of Residents Parking Schemes; and 

• Guidance on the Introduction of Residents Parking Schemes. 

3.22 These documents were designed to encompass the primary objectives of 
residents parking schemes. Priority over limited kerb space is given to residents 
to enable a consistent approach to their introduction, operation and enforcement. 
This policy framework was formerly adopted on 7th February 2018 within 
Balancing your needs - a parking strategy for Bath & North East Somerset, 
CH2M for B&NES Council. This document introduced a hierarchy of users for 
kerb space, to further balance the competing needs of different stakeholder 
groups during the development and introduction of residents parking schemes. 

3.23 Respondents to the consultation questionnaire were very supportive of the 
proposed approach to reviewing and expanding residents parking zones with 
between 52% and 88% agreeing or strongly agreeing with the proposed 
approach and between 4% and 9% disagreeing or strongly disagreeing  

3.24 In the text responses, strong support was voiced on both sides regarding 
the expansion of residents’ parking zones. Many people identified benefits, but 
others were concerned about cost, enforcement and the needs of disabled 
people.  Parked vehicles generated by student households and hotels/guest 
houses were also raised as concerns.   

On street electric vehicle charging 

3.25  The council’s declared climate emergency demands a fundamental step-
change in methods of travel adopted by residents, visitors and employees. It 
requires a major shift from car use to walking, cycling and public transport in 
order to reduce transport emissions. However, going forward in the short term, 
there inevitably remains a role for the private car for some trips and for some 
users. In this situation the council’s aim, in line with national policy and industry 
changes, is to encourage the use of zero or low-emission vehicles. Electric 
vehicles have potential to offer significant benefits and are an important part of 
the overall toolkit for improving air quality in B&NES and addressing the climate 
emergency. 

Page 23



Printed on recycled paper 

3.26 Respondents to the survey demonstrated strong support for EV charging 
infrastructure, with 64% to 84% either agreeing or strongly agreeing with the 
proposed measures, with 5% to 20% disagreeing or strongly disagreeing. The 
20% disagreeing figure related to the statement proposing that EV charging 
equipment should be located in the carriageway rather than the footway (as a 
means to reduce obstruction to pedestrians and mobility impaired people, in 
particular).  It’s likely that this relates to a concern about reduced levels of non-
EV car parking, following introduction of an on-street EV charging facilities and 
dedicated parking spaces.  

3.27 In the text responses to EV charging many comments were positive in 
nature but some highlighted the public and private cost implications and that 
electricity should be provided from sustainable sources.  

Next steps 

3.28 The Liveable Neighbourhood Strategy sets out that communities that wish 
to be considered for low traffic neighbourhoods should submit requests through 
their ward Member.  The council will develop an assessment and scoring 
methodology to identify schemes that will generate the maximum benefits. This 
will feed into a prioritised programme for implementation.   

3.29 The Residents’ Parking Strategy identifies the need to consult on proposed 
changes to existing residents’ parking zones, which will be undertaken in 2021.  
Further consultation will also take place in developing new zones. Work is 
already underway to expand residents’ parking zones in parts of Bath. 
Consultation on some of these schemes is expected to commence in early 2021, 
subject to approval of the Residents’ Parking Strategy.  

3.30 The on-street EV charging strategy identifies further steps in preparation to 
implement schemes, including equipment specification and parking controls to 
restrict use to electric and plug in hybrid vehicles. 

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1 The council has the necessary legal powers to implement the proposed schemes 
using existing highways legislation.  The government’s declared intention to 
enact Part 6 of the Traffic Management Act 2004 (expected in Spring 2021) will 
allow the councils outside London to enforce a broader range of moving traffic 
offences (rather than the police) which will provide the option to install modal 
filters with limited vehicular access enforced by automatic number plate 
recognition (ANPR) cameras, in addition to physical road closures.  In Gear 
Change, a bold vision for cycling and walking, Department for Transport, July 
2020 the government signalled their intention that a warning may be issued for 
the first offence.   

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

5.1 Funding to implement these schemes is identified as follows:- 

• £200K allocation with the 2020/21 Transport Improvement Programme; and 

Page 24



Printed on recycled paper 

• A Provisional Allocation in the current Council Capital Programme, 
identified as Transportation Delivery Programme; 2020/21 £120k, 2021/22 
£1,480k and 2022/23 £500k. 

5.2 Provisional allocations will seek full approval though future decision making as a 
detailed programme of works develops further. 

6 RISK MANAGEMENT 

6.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision-making risk management 
guidance.   

7 EQUALITIES 

7.1 A series of equalities impact assessments have been undertaken for each of the 
three strategies.  Potential impacts for disabled people and communities living in 
socially and/or economically deprived localities (plus rural areas to a lesser 
extent) have been identified together with proposed measures to eliminate or 
mitigate this impact.  Separate equalities impact assessments will be undertaken 
for each scheme based on local area impacts, which cannot be fully understood 
until identified during scheme design.  

7.2 During 2020, Councillor Joanna Wright, Joint Cabinet Member for Transport, 
made two accompanied tours of Bath city centre to understand how disabled 
people and people with sight loss are affected by street layouts. Cllr Wright was 
accompanied by Susan Charles, Honorary Chair of the Access B&NES Group 
and Steve Hyde, Royal National Institute of Blind People (RNIB) Regional 
Campaigns Officer.   These experiences will help to ensure that the needs of 
disabled people and people with sight loss are addressed during scheme design.  

8 CLIMATE CHANGE 

8.1 A climate emergency was declared across Bath & North East Somerset in 2019.  
The B&NES Climate Emergency Action Plan approved in October 2019 
recommends a major shift to mass transport, walking and cycling to reduce 
transport emissions.  Liveable Neighbourhoods are an important part of 
proposals to tackle the climate emergency and to improve health and wellbeing 
across the area.   

8.2 In the slide presentation entitled ‘Climate Emergency Study Discussion Pack, 
Anthesis for B&NES Council, September 2019’ Anthesis estimated that the 
transport sector accounts for 29% of carbon emissions within the district, making 
it a key contributor to climate change. The council’s highway, transport and 
parking functions will play a key role in reducing emissions. The Joint Local 
Transport Plan 4, West of England Combined Authority, March 2020 estimates 
that if no action is taken to address the increasing levels of forecast traffic 
forecast across the West of England, transport CO2 emissions will rise by a 
further 22% by 2036.  

8.3 The climate emergency progress report considered by full council in October 
2019, indicated that for transport to achieve the required reduction in emissions, 
the council will need to enable a major shift from private car travel.  This requires 
a 25% cut in car and van mileage per person per year by 2030, coupled with a 

Page 25



Printed on recycled paper 

76% switch to electric cars on the road by 2030. The council has a vital 
leadership and facilitation role to help deliver this target in partnership with other 
key local organisations, stakeholders and the community. 

8.4 The Council’s Corporate Strategy, adopted in February 2020, cites Liveable 
Neighbourhoods as a key intervention to help meet the council’s climate 
emergency target. 

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

9.1 Liveable Neighbourhoods will be co-designed with the community such that a 
range of measures can be considered for implementation.  

10 CONSULTATION 

10.1 A formal consultation on Liveable Neighbourhoods was held between 9th 
September to 18th October 2020.  The consultation opportunity was publicised 
digitally via the council’s website, twitter account, a press release and parish 
liaison meetings.  Additionally, a presentation was made to the Climate 
Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny panel on 21st 
September. 

10.2 Queries were available for submission to the Liveable Neighbourhoods 
project team email address: LNconsultation@bathnes.gov.uk, through Council 
Connect or through elected Members of the council.  During the consultation 
period, two webinars were conducted via Zoom where officers and Members 
discussed the proposals and responded to questions from the public.  Recording 
can be found on at:   

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7lorgqE9UjA 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GXech8bUbQM 

 

10.3 A web-based survey was developed using Survey Monkey to seek views 
on the concept of liveable neighbourhoods as well as the three draft strategies 
that will help shape them.    

10.4 A consultation summary document was prepared alongside the survey to 
give guidance on the Liveable Neighbourhoods concept. Hard copies of both 
were made available upon request from Council Connect.  

10.5 Following the results of the consultation, the strategy documents have been 
updated and a framework will be developed to help guide the identification, 
design and development of liveable neighbourhoods, working closely with local 
communities. 

Page 26

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GXech8bUbQM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GXech8bUbQM


Printed on recycled paper 

 

Contact person    Chris Major 07530 263 334 

Background 
papers 

A series of draft strategy documents were issued for public 
consultation between 9th September and 18th October 
2020.  These documents included (with web links): 

• Consultation summary brochure  

• Low traffic neighbourhood strategy (Draft 2020) 

• Appendix A: Low traffic neighbourhood policy 
review 

• Appendix B: Types of interventions and 
measures 

• Appendix C: Low traffic neighbourhoods case 
studies and best practice 

• Appendix D: low traffic neighbourhood 
proforma 

• Residents’ parking schemes (Draft 2020) 

• On-street electric vehicle charging strategy (Draft 
2020) 

 

 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 27

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/FINAL%20DRAFT%20LTN%20Strategy.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Appendix%20A%20-%20Low%20traffic%20neighbourhood%20policy%20review.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Appendix%20A%20-%20Low%20traffic%20neighbourhood%20policy%20review.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Appendix%20B%20Types%20of%20LN%20interventions.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Appendix%20B%20Types%20of%20LN%20interventions.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Appendix%20C%20-%20Low%20traffic%20neighbourhood%20case%20studies%20and%20best%20practice.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Appendix%20C%20-%20Low%20traffic%20neighbourhood%20case%20studies%20and%20best%20practice.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Appendix%20D%20-%20low%20traffic%20neighbourhood%20proforma.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Appendix%20D%20-%20low%20traffic%20neighbourhood%20proforma.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/DRAFT%20RESIDENTS%20PARKING%20SCHEMES.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/DRAFT%20ON%20STREET%20EV%20strategy.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/DRAFT%20ON%20STREET%20EV%20strategy.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



  

Liveable Neighbourhoods 

Consultation Outcome Summary 

[Category] 

1 December 2020 

Revision 06   

 

Revision  00Click here to enter text. 

  

 

 

Page 29



Page 30



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 3 

Revision Description Issued by Date  

00 Draft 00 NJH 10/11/2020  

01 Draft 01 NJH 13/11/2020  

02 Draft 02 NJH 18/11/2020  

03 Draft 03 NJH 20/11/2020  

04 Revision 04 NJH 26/11/2020  

05 Revision 05 NJH 27/11/2020  

06 Revision 06 NJH 01/12/2020  

 

Click here to enter text.Sustainable Transport Team 

 

 

Authors Joanna Sammons, George Edwards, Alasdair Yule & Nick Helps 

Approved Nick Helps 

Date 1/12/20 

 

.. 

 

Page 31



Page 32



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 5 

Contents 

1 Introduction 7 

2 Consultation Overview 9 

3 Consultation Response 11 

4 Respondents’ Characteristics 13 

5 Liveable Neighbourhoods: Background & Overview 18 

6 Liveable Neighbourhoods: Key Principles 19 

7 Liveable Neighbourhoods: Local Priorities 24 

8 Liveable Neighbourhoods: Approach to Developing Schemes 33 

9 Residents’ Parking Strategy 38 

10 On-Street Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy 45 

11 Summary and Conclusions 51 

 

APPENDIX SQ1: Survey Questionnaire  

  

Page 33



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 6 

Table of Figures 

Figure 4.1: Which one of the following options best describes how you are responding to 
this questionnaire? ......................................................................................................... 13 

Figure 4.2: Where do you live or where is your business located? ................................ 13 

Figure 4.3: What would best describe your professional or working status? .................. 14 

Figure 4.4: How do you describe your sex? ................................................................... 14 

Figure 4.5: Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? (i.e. do you have physical 
or mental impairment which has a substantial long-term adverse effect on your ability to 
carry out day to day activities?) ...................................................................................... 15 

Figure 4.6: What was your age at your last birthday? .................................................... 15 

Figure 4.7: Do you have any dependent children? ......................................................... 16 

Figure 6.1: Key principles for Liveable Neighbourhoods ................................................ 19 

Figure 7.1: Priorities for low traffic neighbourhoods (1) .................................................. 24 

Figure 7.2: Priorities for low traffic neighbourhoods (2) .................................................. 25 

Figure 7.3: Priorities for low traffic neighbourhoods (3) .................................................. 27 

Figure 8.1: Proposed approach to low traffic neighbourhoods ....................................... 33 

Figure 9.1: Proposed approach to residents’ parking schemes (1) ................................ 38 

Figure 9.2: Proposed approach to residents’ parking schemes (2) ................................ 39 

Figure 10.1: Proposed approach to electric vehicle charging (1) ................................... 46 

Figure 10.2: Proposed approach to electric vehicle charging (2) ................................... 47 

 

 

 

Page 34



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 7 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Aims & objectives 

1.1.1 In March 2019 the council declared a Climate Emergency. This was in response 
to the latest science from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change and 
clear demands from our community. The Council pledged to provide the 
leadership enabling B&NES and the council itself to become carbon neutral by 
2030.This will have a significant impact on our role as an organisation and 
requires a step change across the public, private and community sectors within 
our area.  

1.1.2 The Climate Emergency Action Plan was approved in October 2019 and 
recommends a major shift to mass transport, walking and cycling to reduce 
transport emissions.  Liveable Neighbourhoods are an important part of our plan 
to tackle the climate emergency and to improve health and wellbeing across the 
area.   

1.1.3 The Council’s Corporate Strategy, publicly consulted upon and subsequently 
adopted in February 2020, includes two core policies: tackling the climate & 
nature emergency and giving the community a greater voice. These policies will 
shape everything we do.  

1.1.4 The Corporate Strategy includes Liveable Neighbourhoods as a key commitment 
to help meet the climate emergency target. We shall work with communities to 
ensure that we listen to their views and take forward proposals with genuine 
community involvement.  

1.1.5 The council’s ambition for Liveable Neighbourhoods will breathe new life into 
residential areas by reducing the dominance of vehicles. The allocation of road 
space must be reconsidered to reduce carbon emissions, improve air quality and 
promote healthy lifestyles. Our vision is to provide fairer access for those 
travelling on foot and by bicycle, creating healthier outdoor spaces for everyone 
to enjoy. This includes improved walking and cycling routes, and vibrant local 
high streets where people can relax outside and connect with others.  

1.2 Public consultation 

1.2.1 A series of draft strategy documents were issued for public consultation between 
9th September and 18th October 2020 (https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/liveable-
neighbourhoods-consultation) These documents included: 

 Consultation summary brochure  

 Low traffic neighbourhood strategy (Draft 2020); 

 Appendix A: Low traffic neighbourhood policy review; 

 Appendix B: Types of interventions and measures; 

Page 35



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 8 

 Appendix C: Low traffic neighbourhoods case studies and best 
practice; 

 Appendix D: low traffic neighbourhood proforma; 

 Residents’ parking schemes (Draft 2020); and 

 On-street electric vehicle charging strategy (Draft 2020). 

 

1.2.2 An online survey was issued to gauge public opinion on these documents. This 
report summarises feedback received from the 5-week consultation process. The 
report provides information on:   

 the format of the consultation; 
 the overall number of responses received; 
 the quantitative data generated; 
 the qualitative feedback provided, including that received outside of the formal 

survey consultation; and 
 the consultation / engagement process.  

1.2.3 The aim of the consultation and engagement process was to gather views 
towards the development of Liveable Neighbourhoods in Bath and North East 
Somerset.   

1.3 Decision making process 

1.3.1 Following the feedback, the strategy documents will be updated to guide the 
identification, design and development of Liveable Neighbourhoods, working 
closely with local communities. There will be increasing opportunities to engage 
with the council on individual projects when areas have been selected for further 
investigation.  

1.4 Structure of the report 

1.4.1 This report follows the structure of the consultation questionnaire and summary 
document. Following this introduction: 

 section 2 summarises the overview of the consultation activities; 
 section 3 provides a summary of the responses; 
 section 4 details the demographic characteristics of the respondents; 
 section 5 to 8 provides feedback on Liveable Neighbourhoods (Low Traffic 

Neighbourhoods Strategy); 
 section 9 gives feedback on the Residents’ Parking Scheme Strategy; 
 section 10 gives feedback on the On-Street Electric Vehicle Charging 

Strategy; and 

 section 11 provides a summary  

Page 36



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 9 

2 Consultation Overview 

2.1 Consultation format 

2.1.1 This section provides an overview of the consultation activity and the type of 
feedback generated. 

2.1.2 A web-based questionnaire was developed using Survey Monkey to seek views 
on the concept of Liveable Neighbourhoods as well as the three draft strategies 
that will shape them.   

2.1.3 The questionnaire comprised 49 questions, 37 of which used a Likert scale from 
which an answer could be selected.  The answer options were: strongly agree; 
agree; neither agree or disagree; disagree; and strongly disagree.  In addition, 
there were five free text questions plus seven single answer questions.  A copy of 
the survey questionnaire is provided as Appendix SQ1.  The questions were 
divided as follows: 

 Key Principles: questions 1-6; 
 Local Priorities: questions 7-22; 
 Steps to delivering Liveable Neighbourhoods: questions 22-27; 
 Residents Parking Schemes: questions 28-35; 
 On-Street Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy: questions 36-42; and 
 About You: questions 43-49. 

2.1.4 Alongside the survey, a consultation summary document was prepared to give 
guidance on the Liveable Neighbourhoods concept. Hard copies of both 
documents were available upon request from Council Connect. However, 
respondents were encouraged to access the survey online where possible. 

2.1.5 Due to Covid-19 restrictions no public-facing drop-in events were held. Any 
queries were directed to the Liveable Neighbourhoods team via the following 
email address: LNconsultation@bathnes.gov.uk, through Council Connect or 
through elected Members of the council.  During the consultation period, two 
webinars were conducted via Zoom where officers and Members discussed the 
proposals and responded to questions from the public.  The recordings can be 
found online:   

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7lorgqE9UjA 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GXech8bUbQM 

 

 

Page 37



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 10 

2.2 Press and social media coverage 

2.2.1 The consultation opportunity was held between 9th September and 18th October 
2020 and publicised digitally via the council’s website, twitter account, press 
release, parish liaison meetings, and a presentation was made to the Climate 
Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny panel on 21st 
September 2020. 

2.2.2 Any views that were expressed through social media or the press are not 
considered within this report. 

Page 38



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 11 

3 Consultation Response 

3.1 Feedback generated 

3.1.1 The online survey generated 1,575 individual responses. 15 additional responses 
were submitted as letters or written directly on copies of the draft strategies.   

3.1.2 The consultation analysis has involved both quantitative and qualitative data.   
Quantitative data is gathered through multiple choice or single answer questions 
producing numerical results. Qualitative data is gathered through open ended 
questions that ask about impressions, opinions and views in their own words. 
From these types of questions, the answers have been summarised into key 
themes. 

3.2 Quantitative analysis  

3.2.1 Section 4 provides a profile of respondents, whilst sections 5 to 10 provide an 
overview of the results for each question asked.   

3.3 Qualitative data analysis  

3.3.1 The more detailed, qualitative feedback generated from questions 6, 21, 27, 35 & 
42 plus letters, emails and direct on the strategies themselves is summarised in 
sections 5 to 10.   

3.3.2 To analyse the open-ended questions, a method of coding key words and themes 
was developed.  These key words and themes enabled clear identification of the 
issues of greatest importance.  Comments were abbreviated for ease of 
presentation in the analysis.  

3.4 Survey bias 

3.4.1 Some respondents to the questionnaire suggested that the questions were 
loaded or biased.  Survey bias can take two main forms: 

 Questionnaire bias, i.e. the questions asked and phrasing; and 
 Response bias, e.g. the respondents are self-selecting and do not represent 

the population. 
 

Page 39



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 12 

3.4.2 Questionnaire bias is considered below, whereas respondent bias is considered 
in section 4, Respondents’ Characteristics. 

3.5 Questionnaire bias   

3.5.1 Some respondents remarked that the Likert questions (those with strongly agree 
to strongly disagree options) were loaded in favour of agreeing with the 
statement.    

3.5.2 The Likert questions were phrased in the following way ‘How strongly do you 
agree that …’.  This potentially generated some confirmation bias, where the 
respondent is led towards agreeing with the statement. The phrase ‘or disagree’ 
should have been included to counter this effect.  The alternative approach is to 
ask, ‘Do you agree or disagree with the following statements?’ 

3.5.3 Some questions also included the phrase How strongly do you agreed with i) the 
importance we’ve placed on …’ and ii) ‘our approach’.  This could also have 
generated confirmation bias.   

3.5.4 Despite the potential scope for confirmation bias, the results demonstrate 
overwhelming support for the proposals.  The actual level of potential bias is 
unknown, yet it’s likely to be low and when taken into account is unlikely to 
change the high degree of general support for the proposals.  

Page 40



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 13 

4 Respondents’ Characteristics 

4.1 General Characteristics 

4.1.1 Questions 43 to 49 provided general information relating to respondents’ 
individual characteristics. The results are provided in Figures 4.1 to 4.7.  

 

Figure 4.1: Which one of the following options best describes how you are 
responding to this questionnaire? 

 

 

Figure 4.2: Where do you live or where is your business located? 

91.7%

4.7%

1.4%

1.4%

0.8%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

As a resident

As a commuter

On behalf of a group of individuals

On behalf of a business/organisation

Prefer not to say

Q43 Which one of the following options best 
describes how you are responding to this 

questionnaire?

88.9%
1.8%
0.3%
0.4%
0.4%

6.8%
1.1%
0.4%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Bath
Keynsham

Saltford
Midsomer Norton

Radstock
B&NES village/rural location

Further Afield
Prefer not to say

Q44 Where do you live or where is your business 
located?

Page 41



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 14 

 

Figure 4.3: What would best describe your professional or working status? 

  

Figure 4.4: How do you describe your sex?  

 

 

 

 

 

51.7%

17.9%

23.5%

2.6%

1.2%

3%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Employed

Self-Employed

Retired

Not in Work

Student

Prefer not to say

Q45 What would best describe your 
professional or working status?

Male, 47.9%

Female, 
45.6%

Something else, 
0.4%

Prefer not to say 
6.1%

Q46 How do you describe your sex? 

Page 42



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 15 

 

Figure 4.5: Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? (i.e. do you 
have physical or mental impairment which has a substantial long-term 
adverse effect on your ability to carry out day to day activities?) 

 

Figure 4.6: What was your age at your last birthday? 

1.5%

7.2%

19.0%

26.7%

39.7%

5.8%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45%

Under 25

25-34

35-44

45-54

55+

Prefer not to say

Q48 What was your age at your last birthday?

Yes, 4.6%

No, 91.0%

Prefer not to 
say, 4.4%

Q47 Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person?

Page 43



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 16 

 

Figure 4.7: Do you have any dependent children? 

Yes, 46.8%

No, 48.6%

Prefer not to 
say, 4.6%

Q49 Do you have any dependent children?

Page 44



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 17 

4.2 Response distribution 

4.2.1 Figure 4.1 indicates that the overwhelming number of responses were from 
residents (95%) and indicated that they lived in Bath (89%).  These metrics are 
clearly evident.  In developing Liveable Neighbourhoods, the views of affected 
business interests require attention.    

4.2.2 Figure 4.2 indicates that the majority of respondents live in Bath.  The 
questionnaire did not to identify greater detail relating to home location.  Given 
the subject, a significant number of respondents are more likely to live in 
residential areas affected by through traffic, commuter parking, student parking 
and poor air quality.  Lower income households are likely to be under-
represented.  This is an important consideration relating to financial implications 
such as residents’ parking permit fees and supporting electric vehicles (where the 
entry cost requirement is currently high).  However, low income households are 
likely to accrue significant benefits more from measures to encourage walking, 
cycling and public transport.  

4.2.3 Figure 4.3 indicates that 24% of the respondents stated that they were retired.  
This compares with 16% of the B&NES population classified as retired in the 
Office for National Statistics (ONS) annual population survey (2019/20). 

4.2.4 Figure 4.4 indicates that the response rate for women and men was broadly 
similar (46% and 48% respectively) with only a slightly higher response rate for 
men. 

4.2.5 Figure 4.5 indicates that 4.1% of responses considered themselves to be a 
disabled person. This is an under-representation of the population, with 16% of 
the B&NES population having a long-term health problem or disability (source: 
ONS) 

4.2.6 Figure 4.6 indicates that the majority of respondents (67%) are over the age of 45 
with 56% over the age of 55. The 2011 census indicates that 54% of the B&NES 
adult population are over the age of 45 and 38% are over 55.   Figure 4.6 also 
indicates that 1.3% of respondents are under the age of 25. This compares with 
16% of the B&NES adult population, who also have the lowest level of car 
availability (26% of 18-25 year olds in B&NES have no access to a car or van). 
The survey results should therefore be viewed in the context of some over-
representation of older adults and corresponding under representation of younger 
adults.  School and pre-school aged children were not expected to respond to the 
consultation, so their potential needs should also be taken into account.  Previous 
studies of primary school children have indicated that a significant proportion 
would prefer to cycle to/from school, if they were given the choice.  

4.2.7 Figure 4.7 indicates that just under 47% of respondents have dependent children. 
This compares to 40% of B&NES households who have dependent children 
(source: ONS). 

 

Page 45



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 18 

5 Liveable Neighbourhoods: Background & Overview 

5.1 Background 

5.1.1 The overall aim of Liveable Neighbourhoods is to turn noisy, polluted and 
dangerous streets into pleasant, healthy and safe places for people to live, work, 
and connect with others. They present a relatively simple and cost-effective 
opportunity to reduce the dominance of vehicles in residential areas. This is 
without disadvantaging people with mobility restrictions, while also maintaining 
vehicle access to homes and businesses. The aim is to reduce use of motorised 
vehicles, rather than force traffic to use alternative routes.  

5.1.2 Schemes including modal filters, one-way streets or width restrictions can be 
trialled before making them permanent, allowing changes to be made if 
necessary. 

5.1.3 The comments received through the consultation help to build an understanding 
of the potential ways in which people may react to Liveable Neighbourhoods.  

5.2 Overview 

5.2.1 The following sections outline:  

 Responses and key issues made within questions one to six of the Liveable 
Neighbourhoods Survey. These questions asked for opinions on the Key 
Principles relating to Liveable Neighbourhoods.  

 Responses and key issues made within questions seven to 21 of the Liveable 
Neighbourhoods Survey. These questions asked for opinions on the Local 
Priorities regarding Liveable Neighbourhoods.  

 Responses and key issues made within question 22 to 27 of the Liveable 
Neighbourhoods Survey. These questions asked for opinions on Our 
Approach to developing Liveable Neighbourhoods within B&NES. 

5.2.2 Within these sections, comments are summarised to provide an overview of the 
range of feedback received. Where a comment was made multiple times, it is 
stated only once. The orders of comments do not imply any priority or weighting.  

5.2.3 Section 6 first reports feedback to the key principles. Section 7 sets out 
comments to local priorities and section 8 provides feedback on the proposed 
approach to delivering Liveable Neighbourhoods.  

Page 46



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 19 

6 Liveable Neighbourhoods: Key Principles  

6.1 Introduction 

6.1.1 Figure 6.1 graphically represents responses relating to key principles for Liveable 
Neighbourhoods using horizontal stacked bars. Each bar represents responses to 
a separate question, with a summary provided in the proceeding text. The 
number of respondents agreeing or strongly agreeing with the statement are 
displayed in green and dark green, respectfully.  Respondents disagreeing or 
strongly disagreeing with the statement are shown in pink and red, respectfully. 
The proportion of respondents expressing no opinion is shown in yellow.  

 

Figure 6.1: Key principles for Liveable Neighbourhoods 

 

Page 47



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 20 

Question 1: Reducing the dominance of vehicles 

6.1.2 85% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the principle of reducing the 
dominance of vehicles in busy residential areas by using more road space for 
safer active travel, such as walking, cycling and public transport to improve our 
environment, health and wellbeing.  10% disagreed or strongly disagreed with this 
statement.  

Question 2: Potential to encourage active travel 

6.1.3 80% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the principle of low traffic 
neighbourhoods having the potential to encourage active travel among those that 
are able, and therefore reduce the overall use of cars.  13% disagreed or strongly 
disagreed with that statement. 

Question 3: Reclaimed road space 

6.1.4 79% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the principle of using 
reclaimed road space for public realm improvements. For example, attractive 
seating, places to meet, electric vehicle charging and electric car club areas (as 
suits the community). 13% disagreed or strongly disagreed with that statement. 

Question 4: Restricting through traffic 

6.1.5 84% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that to establish Liveable 
Neighbourhoods, it may be necessary to restrict through-traffic on certain streets 
(with various measures or modal filters) while also maintaining vehicle access to 
homes and businesses.  11% disagreed or strongly disagreed with that 
statement. 

Question 5: Trade-offs 

6.1.6 78% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that certain trade-offs are required 
to achieve the overall aims of Liveable Neighbourhoods. This includes residents 
and visitors in some cases driving for longer to reach a main road, and also a loss 
of some on-street parking (where the community supports this).  16% disagreed 
or strongly disagreed with that statement. 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 48



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 21 

6.2 Key principles for Low Traffic Neighbourhoods: text responses 

Overview 

6.2.1 Respondents highlighted several key themes in relation to Low Traffic 
Neighbourhoods in B&NES and would often include more than one of these 
themes in their response.   

6.2.2 Issues raised in relation to the concept of Liveable Neighbourhoods included 
strong support for the creation of safer spaces, improving resident’s wellbeing 
and improving air quality.  Additionally, numerous areas and streets that residents 
felt would benefit from being designated a liveable neighbourhood were identified.    

6.2.3 The impact on parking provision in residential areas for older residents and those 
with restricted mobility, was highlighted. Other respondents felt that the level of 
student cars present in some areas was a key concern. 

6.2.4 Many respondents highlighted their concerns about current traffic flow and speed. 
Concerns regarding pollution and air quality with the consequent impact on the 
health, safety and well-being of residents were also stated.  The Clean Air Zone 
will be implemented in Bath from March 2021. This will support Liveable 
Neighbourhoods work in terms of reducing emissions and improving air quality. 

6.2.5 In relation to active travel, respondents commented on the need for greater 
supporting infrastructure to deliver improved health opportunities and safer travel 
for all.  Particular importance was given to supporting children walking and cycling 
to school and the need for safer routes to facilitate this.  Improved links for cycling 
from areas outside of Bath to the city was also highlighted.  Some respondents 
expressed concern at the topography in Bath and how this could present a barrier 
for some residents to walk and cycle. 

6.2.6 Of the 1,574 responses to the Liveable Neighbourhoods Survey, there were 583 
responses to question 6 regarding key principles which are based on national and 
international best practice.  These principles are continually evolving, and the 
council’s approach will evolve with them.  Key themes are summarised below.  

Low Traffic Neighbourhoods 

6.2.7 Overall, 102 comments received referred to the concept of Liveable 
Neighbourhoods.     

6.2.8 Issues raised by respondents included strong support for the creation of safer 
spaces, improving resident’s wellbeing and improving air quality. A number of 
areas and streets that residents felt would benefit from being designated a 
liveable neighbourhood were identified.    

6.2.9 Some residents expressed concerns about displacement of traffic. However, 
others highlighted the need to ensure that residents with mobility impairments 
were fully consulted and considered during scheme development. 

Page 49



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 22 

6.2.10 The responses received from residents’ associations and other parties outside of 
the online survey further expressed strong support for Liveable Neighbourhoods.  
Issues raised included the need to reference the impact of Covid19, especially for 
community consultation and recognition of the benefits of Liveable 
Neighbourhoods, in terms of increased physical activity, and positive impacts on 
health and wellbeing.  The need for a robust consultation and monitoring process 
was also stated. 

6.2.11 Some concerns were expressed as to how displaced traffic would be dealt with. 
Also, the potential impacts on those with mobility impairments was of concern. 

6.2.12 Actions:  The council will ensure proper consideration is afforded to people with 
mobility restrictions within the design and consultation process to ensure that 
these residents will not be disadvantaged.   

Ensure all residents can access the consultation process for Liveable 
Neighbourhoods.  Materials will be available as digital and hard copies. 

Car Parking  

6.2.13 211 comments received were related to car parking.  Respondents questioned 
how car parking provision would be affected. The potential loss of car parking 
was raised including loss of spaces outside or near home plus the impact on 
people with restricted mobility.  

6.2.14 Current difficulties included the need to address student parking and school-
related traffic & parking in certain areas.  Support to move away from car-based 
transport was highlighted. However, concern relating to the potential of restricted 
on-street parking for families was cited. 

6.2.15 Actions: The residents’ parking terms and conditions to be reviewed in 
conjunction with expanding the areas covered.   

The council to engage with the universities with the aim of reducing the number of 
students bringing cars to Bath. 

Further work with schools to encourage active travel and address parking 
concerns in the vicinity of schools.  

Expand residents parking zones to areas with greatest need, in first instance.  

Traffic & Congestion (including vehicle speed, road safety, air quality) 

6.2.16 495 comments referencing traffic and congestion were received. Respondents 
commented as to how traffic flows would be affected. Concern was raised 
regarding current and future levels of traffic flow and speed, as well as pollution 
and air quality.  Strong support was expressed for measures to reduce traffic flow 
and speed to make streets safer for active travel to work and schools.   

6.2.17 A number of responses included reference to specific areas both within Bath and 
rural areas. 

Page 50



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 23 

6.2.18 Action: Implementation of Liveable Neighbourhoods will stem through traffic, 
thereby addressing some speeding concerns. The council to work with the Police 
to promote speed awareness education and address any remaining issues that 
occur. 

Active Travel (including walking & cycling infrastructure plus health) 

6.2.19 219 comments referencing active travel and health were received. Respondents 
commented on the need for greater infrastructure to support active travel as well 
as improved health opportunities and safer travel for all.  Particular importance 
was given to the priority of supporting children walking and cycling to school and 
the need for safer routes to facilitate this.  The need for improved links for cycling 
from areas outside of Bath to the city was also highlighted as was secure cycle 
parking. 

6.2.20 Respondents expressed support for the encouragement of active travel.  
However, some concern as to how those with mobility impairments may be able 
to participate was expressed.  Improvements for public transport were considered 
necessary. 

6.2.21 Some responses did express concern at the topography in Bath and how this 
might be a barrier for some residents. 

6.2.22 Action: The council will ensure that the development of Liveable Neighbourhoods 
in B&NES will include safe routes to school, coordinated cycle route 
improvements and secure on-street cycle parking for residents. 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 24 

7 Liveable Neighbourhoods: Local Priorities 

7.1.1 Figure 7.1 to 7.3 graphically represent responses relating to priorities for Liveable 
Neighbourhoods.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7.1: Priorities for low traffic neighbourhoods (1) 

Question 7: Listed Aims 

7.1.2 76% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that Liveable Neighbourhoods can 
achieve the listed aims for B&NES.  12% disagreed or strongly disagreed with 
that statement. 

Question 8: Developing Liveable Neighbourhoods Context 

7.1.3 76% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the importance we’ve placed 
on developing Liveable Neighbourhoods in the context of wider policy. This 
includes clean air plans, transport strategies, park and ride expansion, bus 
improvement plans, and health strategies.  12% disagreed or strongly disagreed 
with that statement. 

 

Page 52



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 25 

Question 9: Potential to Improve General Health 

7.1.4 76% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that Liveable Neighbourhoods 
have the potential to improve general health in B&NES by encouraging a more 
active lifestyle and reducing isolation and loneliness.  12% disagreed or strongly 
disagreed with that statement. 

Question 10: Implementation as a range of measures 

7.1.5 76% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with supporting the 
implementation of Liveable Neighbourhoods as part of a range of measures 
aimed at reducing chronic disease, such as heart and lung disease. 10.49% 
disagreed or strongly disagreed with that statement.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7.2: Priorities for low traffic neighbourhoods (2) 

 

Page 53



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 26 

Question 11: Liveable Neighbourhoods in Urban Residential Areas 

7.1.6 80% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with our approach of prioritising 
Liveable Neighbourhoods in urban residential areas.   13% disagreed or strongly 
disagreed with that statement. 

Question 12: Air Quality in Residential Areas 

7.1.7 83% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the potential for Liveable 
Neighbourhoods to improve air quality in residential areas by reducing through-
traffic and overall car use. 10% disagreed or strongly disagreed with that 
statement. 

Question 13: Main Roads Air Pollution 

7.1.8 87% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with our approach that main roads 
and areas outside of Liveable Neighbourhoods should not see air pollution 
exceeding legal limits as a result of its development. 6% disagreed or strongly 
disagreed with that statement. 

Question 14: Environment for Restricted Mobility 

7.1.9 74% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that Liveable Neighbourhoods 
have the potential to improve the environment for those with restricted mobility or 
other disabilities, including access to shops and homes. 13% disagreed or 
strongly disagreed with that statement. 

Question 15: Walking or Cycling Short Car Journeys 

7.1.10 80% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that there is good potential in our 
cities and towns for encouraging people to walk or cycle short car journeys, given 
better availability of e-bikes to tackle hills, and also improved walking and cycling 
infrastructure. 12% disagreed or strongly disagreed with that statement. 

  

Page 54



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 27 

 

Figure 7.3: Priorities for low traffic neighbourhoods (3) 

Page 55



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 28 

Question 16: Potential to Improve footfall 

7.1.11 83% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that there is potential to improve 
footfall at local shops, cafes and businesses by providing more attractive walking 
and cycling links to local high streets. 13% disagreed or strongly disagreed with 
that statement. 

Question 17: Reclaiming Space 

7.1.12 83% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that there is potential for local 
shops, cafes and businesses to thrive by reclaiming space from parked and 
moving vehicles (while ensuring access for people with disabilities and for 
deliveries).  15% disagreed or strongly disagreed with that statement. 

Question 18: Road Closures and Modal Filters 

7.1.13 83% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that the use of road closures and 
modal filters, such as bollards, bus gates, attractive planters and no-entry signs 
can address rat running, speeding and inappropriate use of roads by HGVs in 
busy residential areas.  10% disagreed or strongly disagreed with that statement. 

Question 19: Enhancing World Heritage Status 

7.1.14 77% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that Liveable Neighbourhoods can 
enhance the World Heritage status of Bath, provided they are developed in line 
with the relevant local planning policy.  11% disagreed or strongly disagreed with 
that statement. 

Question 20: Limiting Parking 

7.1.15 82% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that Liveable Neighbourhoods 
should aim to limit on-street parking, prioritise parking for residents, and 
encourage commuters to use park and ride/public transport (in-line with wider 
policy).  11% disagreed or strongly disagreed with that statement.  

7.2 Key priorities: Text responses  

7.2.1 421 responses were received to question 21 regarding local priorities for Low 
Traffic Neighbourhoods (LTNs). Of these, 130 were supportive of LTNs and 145 
were negative. A number of themes arose and are summarised below.  

 

 

 

 

Page 56



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 29 

Topography and hilliness of Bath 

7.2.2 32 respondents highlighted how Bath’s topography would make the aims of the 
strategy to increase walking and cycling more challenging. Some believed that 
Bath’s hilly terrain made the car the most appropriate mode of transport in the 
city. Therefore, to restrict vehicle movements would not be an appropriate 
intervention.  

7.2.3 A number of respondents stated that hills in Bath would especially hamper the 
ability of those residents that were less fit or able bodied to adapt their travel 
behaviour to cycling or walking, or to use a bike for daily errands such as 
shopping.  

7.2.4 A few respondents commented that electric bikes could help some negotiate the 
hills of Bath. However, they may not meet everyone’s needs.  

7.2.5 Some respondents highlighted that cycle lanes would make hills with high levels 
of travel more feasible for cycling. If cycle lanes were implemented on hills, they 
believed people would use them.  

Impact on the disabled and those with mobility issues 

7.2.6 Respondents expressed a general concern for the ability of residents with mobility 
issues to adapt their travel behaviour when vehicle access is restricted, as a 
result of LTNs. They cautioned the ability of those residents to adopt alternative 
travel behaviours such as walking or cycling, particularly when considering the 
hilly terrain in Bath.  

7.2.7 A few respondents were concerned that Resident Parking Zones would mean 
those with mobility issues would not be able to park outside their home. 

7.2.8 Some respondents felt that residents with mobility issues could have their 
freedom curtailed by the new measures. This would result in reduced access 
shops and services or limit the option to visit friends and relatives by car, 
prompting exclusion and isolation.  

Prioritising public transport improvements 

7.2.9 86 respondents highlighted the importance of reducing the cost of public 
transport, improving ability of bus services within Bath, and bus services 
connections from rural areas.  

7.2.10 Some respondents felt public transport improvements should be a high priority. 
This would allow those with mobility issues to continue accessing areas of the city 
if the option of traveling by car was made more difficult. 

7.2.11 Many respondents felt public transport improvements should be a priority due to 
the topography of Bath. 

7.2.12 A number of respondents believed public transport needed to be cheaper to 
encourage more families to use it for school travel.  

Page 57



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 30 

7.2.13 Action: The council will work with the West of England Combined Authority to 
develop measures to promote public transport in conjunction with Liveable 
Neighbourhood interventions.  

Affordability of electric bicycles 

7.2.14 Electric bikes were referred to 28 times in comments on local priorities. Many 
respondents saw electric bikes as important for tackling Bath’s challenging 
topography and supporting those with a disability or mobility issues.  

7.2.15 Some respondents highlighted the high costs of owning an electric bike will most 
models available between £600-£3,000. There were concerns that good quality 
ebikes would be out of reach for many residents and family groups.  

7.2.16 A few respondents felt there needed to be a subsidy scheme to reduce the cost of 
electric bikes to make them accessible for all.  It is understood that the 
government is due to announce a major funding boost to support ebike purchases 
in Spring 2021. 

7.2.17 Action: The council will incorporate measures to encourage the use of ebikes 
within Liveable Neighbourhoods, including secure storage (for both electric and 
standard cycles) and loan schemes.  

Impact on local business 

7.2.18 31 respondents referred to the impact of LTNs on businesses. 

7.2.19 Some respondents believed that businesses benefitted from customers being 
able to park their car nearby and were therefore concerned about the impact 
parking and vehicle access restrictions would have on local trade.  

7.2.20 Some respondents were particularly concerned for those small businesses that 
sold products or quantities of product that would not be appropriate for the 
customer to transport by walking and cycling. There was a risk these shops would 
see a loss of business if parking was restricted. 

7.2.21 There was a recognition that businesses were already struggling with the impact 
from coronavirus, and that restricted car parking outside shops and restaurants 
would further reduce footfall and potential customers. A few respondents 
questioned the timing of the strategy and expressed a clearly felt need to support 
and prioritise businesses in the short term. 

7.2.22 Several respondents recognised the positive impact LTNs could have on local 
trade by improving the environment for pedestrians and cyclists. Some 
highlighted the importance of communicating this opportunity to concerned 
business owners. Recommendations included referring to case studies from 
elsewhere demonstrating a positive impact on footfall, and lessons learned.  

Page 58



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 31 

7.2.23 Action: The council will support businesses to engage with the Liveable 
Neighbourhoods process and beyond by making available a portfolio of case 
studies where local trade has been influenced by an LTN. This can be used by 
business owners and the council to understand how LTNs can become a positive 
intervention for local business. Business representatives can draw upon this 
resource in engagement sessions with the council to determine the suitability of 
proposed measures and during the design stage.   

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
Displacement of traffic 

7.2.24 18 respondents expressed concerns about the displacement of traffic as a result 
of an LTNs which could increase traffic, congestion and pollution along main 
roads. These respondents raised fairness and justice issues around the 
displacement of traffic, as some areas would be disproportionality impacted by an 
increase in traffic whilst other areas benefitted from quieter streets. 

7.2.25 Some respondents who lived on main roads were worried by potential negative 
impacts of LTN schemes. 

7.2.26 The LTN strategy states that an increase in pollution along main roads would not 
be permitted to exceed legal air quality limits. Some respondents criticised this 
position, suggesting that any increase in air pollution should be a matter of 
concern.  

7.2.27 Many respondents believed in the need for a whole city approach to LTNs to 
avoid transfer of pollution and congestion to other areas. 

7.2.28 Action: The council will aim to minimise the long-term displacement of existing 
traffic onto main roads by increasing capacity for alternative modes on main route 
corridors, including walking, cycling and public transport.  

  

Page 59



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 32 

Infrastructure for cyclists  

7.2.29 21 respondents highlighted the need to improve provision for cyclists. Improving 
the safety and attractiveness of cycling was important to encourage more people 
to adopt that travel behaviour. Specific recommendations included; separating 
cyclists and walkers; creating cross city routes that avoided main roads; and cycle 
infrastructure linking urban and rural areas.  

7.2.30 Respondents also wanted to see safe cycle routes to schools. Supporting cycling 
to school would support health and wellbeing of pupils and meet the needs of 
families who wanted to cycle but currently felt unsafe doing so.  

7.2.31 Some respondents believed that creating safe cycle routes up hills should be a 
priority. Specific reference was made to Prior Park Road, Widcombe Hill, and 
Claverton Down Rd. 

7.2.32 A few respondents felt that Bath did not have the space available to implement 
comprehensive provision for cyclists.  

School travel 

7.2.33 30 respondents highlighted school travel in their comments. Many of these 
respondents believed LTNs would provide a safer and more amenable 
environment for walking and cycling around schools and would encourage more 
families to adopt these travel behaviours. References regarding public transport 
and cycling are included above.   

7.2.34 Some respondents believed that roads with schools should be within an LTN, 
rather than being designated main boundary roads. Specific reference was made 
to St Andrew’s Church School adjacent to Julian Road, Bath 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 33 

8 Liveable Neighbourhoods: Approach to Developing 
Schemes 

8.1 Summary 

8.1.1 Questions 22 to 27 of questionnaire related to the council’s proposed approach to 
developing Liveable Neighbourhoods. The results for the 5 quantitative questions 
are demonstrated graphically in Figure 8.1 and summarised below.  

 

 

 Figure 8.1: Proposed approach to low traffic neighbourhoods 

 

Page 61



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 34 

Question 22: Co-design  

8.1.2 89% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that Liveable Neighbourhoods 
should be identified, co-designed and developed with the local community, with 
particular emphasis on gathering a wide range of perspectives. 4% of 
respondents either disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement.  

Question 23: Application process 

8.1.3 78% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with our approach to let 
communities request and apply for Liveable Neighbourhoods, with a description 
of the issues hoped for address and proof of the level of support in the area. 9% 
of respondents either disagreed or strongly disagreed.  

Question 24: Shortlisting 

8.1.4 65% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with how we propose to identify 
potential Liveable Neighbourhoods and shortlist proposals using a scoring 
system. 25% neither agreed nor disagreed whilst 10% disagreed or strongly 
disagreed.  

Question 25: Community involvement 

8.1.5 75% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the level of community 
involvement we have proposed for reviewing design options and developing 
suitable designs for liveable communities. This includes webinars, design 
workshops, drop-ins and meetings. 8% either disagreed or strongly disagreed.  

Question 26: Trial of shortlist designs 

8.1.6 83% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with our proposal to trial shortlist 
designs using temporary measures and experimental traffic orders (ETOs) for six 
months. During this time, we can monitor and evaluate its effectiveness before 
making it permanent. 10% of respondents either disagreed or strongly disagreed 
with this statement.  

8.2 Approach to the development of Liveable Neighbourhoods: text responses 

8.2.1 334 responses were received to question 27 regarding our approach to the 
development of Liveable Neighbourhoods. Numerous themes arose and these 
are summarised below.  

 

Page 62



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 35 

Liveable Neighbourhood Methodology  

8.2.2 Overall, 34 comments recommended adjustments to the methodology. Whilst 
some respondents were positive, there was general concern that the approach 
needed to be simplified for the community to understand and participate. Some 
respondents explained further that they were confused by who would take the 
lead with proposing an area, whether it was residents, local councillors or the 
council.  

8.2.3 Respondents raised concerns surrounding how the proposals would be scored, 
explaining that the consultation documents lacked transparency on the criteria for 
success.  

8.2.4 It was recommended by other respondents that the council should propose viable 
schemes which would form part of wider strategies. These would then be 
evaluated by local residents through a consultation period.  

8.2.5 Action: The council will ensure that design and development of each scheme will 
include identification of critical success factors with the local community as part of 
the co-design process.  

Community Involvement  

8.2.6 86 of the 334 responses to question 27 (further comments on Liveable 
Neighbourhoods) mentioned community involvement.  

8.2.7 Respondents often cited community involvement as a key element of scheme 
development. They noted that the council was correct to ensure community 
consultation was conducted throughout the process. This would assist in 
developing sustainable support through the life of the scheme. However, there 
was concern that some communities do not have the level of organisation that 
others do. Therefore, they could be disadvantaged if requests are community 
driven.   

8.2.8 Nonetheless, there were mixed responses to community involvement. 
Respondents felt that the council should be more forceful in its approach to 
delivering schemes, reducing the amount of consultation conducted. Issues 
raised included the effect of dominant vocal groups within the community. Groups 
like these may not represent what the majority of the community desired. 
However, vocal groups could form with opposing views, both supporting and 
opposing proposed schemes. 

Consultation approach  

8.2.9 82 comments received to question 27 related to the council’s consultation 
approach.  

Page 63



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 36 

8.2.10 The responses were mixed. Respondents mentioned that seeking views from 
residents and businesses surrounding any proposed areas of low traffic 
neighbourhoods is important. However, others felt that consultation requires a 
careful approach as a proposal generating many conflicting opinions can lead to 
policy stagnation. Additionally, it was noted that local and national policy is 
attempting to improve active travel, so consultations should not be a barrier to 
scheme delivery. 

8.2.11 Respondents requested that it should be made clearer who and how communities 
will be consulted. Engagement methods needed to be widespread and reach 
large groups of people.  

8.2.12 Many respondents expressed the view that decisions should be based on data 
and opinions from professionals, not from consultation responses alone.  

8.2.13 Action: The council will publish a consultation strategy setting out how residents, 
businesses and other stakeholders will be consulted during the development and 
implementation of liveable neighbourhoods. 

 

 

 

Page 64



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 37 

Trial Period  

8.2.14 45 comments received related to the proposed trial period.  

8.2.15 Many respondents were fully supportive of trial period but stated it was necessary 
to reconsult with residents towards the end of the trial.  Several comments further 
explained that any trial period must have the residents’ agreement prior to 
implementation. 

8.2.16 Respondents recommended that the trial period should be extended as it could 
be beneficial to observe any habitual changes. Others felt that six months was too 
long for a trial period and that it was possible to gauge whether an intervention 
was working after a few days. 

8.2.17 An issue frequently raised related to the identification of success factors in 
advance of scheme implementation. Respondents wanted reassurance that 
interventions must be reversed if they do not achieve their intended aims. 

8.2.18 B&NES’ response: An experimental traffic order allows schemes to be tested in a 
‘live’ situation.  Formal objections can be submitted within 6 months and if the 
scheme proves successful it must be made permanent within 18 months.  If a 
scheme proves unsuccessful it can be withdrawn immediately.  If a scheme 
appears to be working, then it can be made permanent between 6 and 12 
months.  If additional year-round data is required, then the full 18 months may be 
required.  

8.2.19 The success criteria will be based upon how the scheme performs against the 
strategy objectives and if the scheme benefits significantly outweigh the costs.  
Quantitative measurements can be used in this assessment to inform decision 
making. However, there will inevitably be an element of political judgement. Many 
people will enjoy substantial benefits, whilst others may be disadvantaged. For 
example, non-resident commuters and residents who make a higher number of 
short car trips. If the majority of residents enjoy significant benefits and wider 
climate change and other relevant objectives are met, then the final political 
judgement will be easier to make.  

8.2.20 Action: The council will consider ongoing evidence when deciding upon the time 
period of an experimental traffic order, up to the legal limit of 18 months.  

 

Page 65



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 38 

9 Residents’ Parking Strategy 

9.1 Summary 

9.1.1 Questions 28 to 35 of the survey related to the council’s proposed approach to 
reviewing and expanding resident parking zones. The results for the 7 
quantitative questions are provided graphically in Figure 9.1 & 9.2 and 
summarised below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 9.1: Proposed approach to residents’ parking schemes (1) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 39 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 9.2: Proposed approach to residents’ parking schemes (2) 

 

 

Page 67



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 40 

Question 28: RPZs supporting Climate Emergency and Transport Targets 

9.1.2 79% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that Residents Parking Zones 
(RPZs) should be part of the toolkit to help the Council achieve its Climate 
Emergency and transport targets. 10% disagreed or strongly disagreed with that 
statement. 

Question 29: RPZs supporting modal shift in LTNs 

9.1.3 76% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that Residents’ Parking Zones can 
contribute to the success of a liveable neighbourhood and encourage the 
necessary shift towards sustainable / active modes of transport. 12% disagreed 
or strongly disagreed with that statement. 

Question 30: Reviewing current RPZs for LTN projects  

9.1.4 79% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the need to review current 
residents parking zones to ensure they complement liveable neighbourhood 
projects. 9% disagreed or strongly disagreed with that statement. 

Question 31: New arrangements for Blue Badge Holders 

9.1.5 52% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that blue badge holders will 
benefit from the new arrangements for within residents’ parking zones. 10% 
disagreed or strongly disagreed with that statement. 

Question 32: The right to withdraw permits  

9.1.6 88% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the enforcing authority 
reserving the right to withdraw any permit that is misused. 4% disagreed or 
strongly disagreed with that statement. 

Question 33: Process to prioritise RPZs  

9.1.7 63% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the process for prioritising 
potential areas for residents’ parking zones. 9% disagreed or strongly disagreed 
with that statement. 

Question 34: Implementing RPZs for Liveable Neighbourhoods  

9.1.8 69% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that the approach for designing 
and implementing a residents’ parking zone is in line with the processes for 
Liveable Neighbourhoods. 9% disagreed or strongly disagreed with that 
statement. 

 

Page 68



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 41 

9.2 Approach to development of residents’ parking schemes: text responses 

9.2.1 There were 264 individual responses to question 35 regarding our approach to 
the development of residents’ parking schemes. From the responses, a number 
of themes arose which are summarised below.  

Update and extend residents’ parking zone 

9.2.2 Strong support was voiced for expanding residents’ car parking zones.  Specific 
references were made to Oldfield Park, Lyncombe Vale, Greenway Lane, 
Rosemount, Newbridge and Lower Weston. Respondent’s expressing the 
contrary view citied displacement of vehicles as their main concern, plus a view 
that the controls are crude in nature. Some suggested that for Bath, a city-wide 
RPZ might solve this problem.  However, concern regarding the potential 
disproportionate impact on low income households was highlighted.  Some 
respondents suggested that the benefits would be reduced if too many permits 
were issued, still resulting in difficulty finding a parking space.  

9.2.3 Action: The council will proceed with consultation on the proposed expansion of 
residents’ parking zones in Bath. All requests for residents’ parking schemes will 
be considered in accordance with the Residents’ Parking Schemes strategy 
document.  

9.2.4 Reviewing the existing RPZs was also highlighted, yet some respondents 
preferred to keep the current controls, retaining the current benefits for residents.  
Several respondents suggested that removing on-street car parking bays in the 
city centre would reduce circulating traffic and improve air quality.  However, 
others suggested that the placement of additional car parking bays could be used 
to reduce traffic speeds. Some respondents suggested that large SUVs should be 
prevented from securing a permit as they occupy more space.  

Standardise days and hours of operation 

9.2.5 Some respondents suggested that RPZ controlled hours should be standardised 
across Bath.  Currently most zones operate Monday to Saturday (not Sundays) 
0800-1800, with central zone having an additional hour of operation in the 
evening (0800-1900). This additional hour was added to enable residents to find a 
space when returning home in the early evening, giving them priority over 
evening visitors to central Bath. Zones 15, 16 & 17 also operate on a Sunday and 
Zone B operates Monday to Friday only. 

Extend RPZ to cover Sundays 

9.2.6 Some residents suggested that RPZ controls in their areas should be extended to 
Sundays. 

 

Page 69



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 42 

Provision should be made for trades people. 

9.2.7 Concern was expressed regarding new parking controls on trades people.  The 
existing Trade Permits were introduced specifically to enable trades people to 
park within different zones with the RPZ.  Trades people living within a RPZ with 
their own work vehicle can apply for a residents’ permit for vehicles up to 3.5 
tonnes.  

9.2.8 Action: The council will consult on changes to residents’ parking zones terms and 
conditions.  

Students and other houses of multiple occupation (HMOs) 

9.2.9 Students’ cars and vehicles generated by other HMOs generated a high degree 
of concern.  Many respondents expressed the view that students should be 
excluded from parking cars in RPZs. This is because they are temporary 
residents, don’t pay council tax and abandon their cars for long periods of time as 
they are generally unable to use them for trips to university.  There were no 
specific comments on this issue from students, although one respondent 
suggested that three working people in an HMO should be able to secure three 
permits.  Other respondents suggested that permits should be limited to one per 
household, irrespective of tenure or the nature of the occupants.  

9.2.10 Action: Note actions listed in section 6.2.15 

Cost of permits 

9.2.11 Some respondents expressed the view that RPZs are a tax on residents and the 
cost should either be included within the council tax or funded from non-residents.  
However, this was contrary to some views that second permits should be charged 
higher than the current differential.  Other suggestions included banding the cost 
of permits by vehicle emissions to encourage more energy efficient vehicles. 
Proposals to introduce resident parking permit charges linked to vehicle 
emissions are currently in development with community engagement and 
consultation expected to take place in late 2020/21. 

 

Page 70



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 43 

Restricting RPZ permits if off street parking available 

9.2.12 Respondents offered various solutions to the issue of limited parking stock. This 
included prioritisation of residents with no off-street parking, limiting permits with 
their own parking spaces.  The allocation of permits within recently created RPZs 
includes reference to the availability of off-street parking. Residents with two off 
street parking spaces within these zones are prevented from obtaining an on-
street permit and residents with one off street space can only apply for one 
permit.  Off street spaces includes garages with internal dimensions measuring 
2.5m x 5m (the entrance can be narrower).  However, some respondents 
expressed reluctance to accept their garage as a parking space on the basis of 
constrained dimensions.  Many older garages are considered to be small for 
modern vehicles. In addition, many garages are used for storage or extra living 
space.  

Parking near local shops 

9.2.13 Some respondents requested that short stay parking should be made available 
near shops and business to enable them to accommodate visitors arriving by car.  
However, this was contrasted by the contrary opinion expressed that short stay 
parking generated additional traffic. 

Enforcement 

9.2.14 Some respondents suggested that existing parking controls require additional 
enforcement to make them effective.  Additional enforcement requires additional 
costs, which should be funded from permit fees, on-street charging and fines. 
Additional staff are also required.   

9.2.15 Action: Recruitment processes will be reviewed to fill vacant posts and expand 
the enforcement capability.  

Renting private off-street parking 

9.2.16 Some respondents expressed the view that those residents renting out their 
parking spaces should be controlled and licenced by the council, and not be given 
access to a residents’ parking permit.  The government’s view* is that it should be 
possible to rent parking spaces without planning permission, provided there are 
no substantive planning concerns. For example, public nuisance to neighbours. 

*https://www.gov.uk/guidance/when-is-permission-required 

Page 71



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 44 

Hotel, guest house and holiday let permits 

9.2.17 Numerous respondents expressed frustration regarding the impact of parking 
permits awarded to hotels, guest houses and holiday lets within residential car 
parking zones that reduces residents’ ability to park their cars. Proposals to 
review the issue and operation of these permits, along with other permit types 
currently in circulation that are not in accordance with the council’s strategic 
transport objectives, are currently in development with community engagement 
and consultation expected to take place in late 2020/21. 

Parking for Disabled People 

9.2.18 Opposing views were expressed regarding parking provision for disabled people.  
Many blue badge holders expressed a wish to retain their existing rights to park in 
any residents’ parking bay across the city (no time limit and no charge).  
However, this was countered by the view that there is abuse of the system which 
could be reduced if disabled residents were required to apply for a permit (which 
would be provided free of charge).  Good availability of disabled parking bays 
close to the entrances in Charlotte Street, Avon St and Southgate car parks as 
also cited.  

9.2.19 Numerous respondents mentioned that mobility issues are not limited to 
registered disabled people, as some qualifying people chose not to obtain a blue 
badge, plus concerns relating to the needs of older people.  

Reducing parking to promote modal shift 

9.2.20 Respondents made suggestions to reduce reliance on private cars and promote 
walking, cycling and public transport.  These included: 

 Removing parking spaces to make more room and improved safety for 
pedestrians and cycles, including more cycle parking and cycle lanes within 
and between urban areas; 

 Limit permits to one per household;  
 Promote school streets and reduce car use for trips to school; 
 Progressively reduce car parking stock year on year;  
 Provide incentives to residents who don’t have cars; and 
 Improve public transport, including better infrastructure, more reliable, 

expanded/new park & ride and cheaper fares. 

9.2.21 Action: The council to consult on changes to the terms and condition for 
residents’ car parking schemes.  

 

 

Page 72



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 45 

10 On-Street Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy 

10.1 Introduction 

10.1.1 The council’s declared climate emergency demands a fundamental step-change 
in methods of travel adopted by residents, visitors and employees. It requires a 
major shift from car use to walking, cycling and public transport in order to reduce 
transport emissions. However, going forward and particularly in the short term, 
there inevitably remains a role for the private car for some trips and for some 
users. In this situation the council’s aim, in accordance with national policy and 
industry changes, is to encourage the use of zero or low-emission vehicles. 
Electric vehicles (EVs) have potential to offer significant benefits and act as a key 
component of the overall toolkit for improving air quality in B&NES and 
addressing the climate emergency. 

10.1.2 The electric vehicles strategy document outlines the council’s current position and 
strategy on public on-street electric vehicle (EV) charging. It recognises that this 
marks a key area of demand where short-term opportunities to deliver 
improvements are likely.  

10.1.3 The comments received through this consultation has helped to build an 
understanding of the potential ways in which people may react to electric vehicle 
infrastructure.  

10.1.4 This section summarises comments on key issues reported within questions 36 to 
42 of the survey questionnaire. These questions asked for opinions on the On-
street Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy. 

10.2 Overview of responses 

10.2.1 Questions 36 to 41 of the Liveable Neighbourhoods Survey related to our 
approach to developing Liveable Neighbourhoods. The results for the 7 
quantitative questions are provided graphically in Figure 10.1 & 10.2 and 
summarised below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 46 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 10.1: Proposed approach to electric vehicle charging (1) 

 

Question 36: EV charging is considered alongside Liveable Neighbourhoods. 

10.2.2 79% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that on-street EV charging is 
considered alongside Liveable Neighbourhoods and integrated into their planning, 
whereas 8% disagreed or strongly disagreed.  

Question 37: The aims identified: 

10.2.3 73% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the aims identified for on-
street electric vehicle charging, whereas 7% of respondents disagreed or strongly 
disagreed.  

Question 38: Units should be located off the pavement/footway: 

10.2.4 64% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that on-street charging units 
should be located off the pavement and in the carriageway, which would require 
the loss of some parking spaces to protect pavements for pedestrians and those 
with disabilities. 20% of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed.  

 

 

 

Page 74



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 47 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 10.2: Proposed approach to electric vehicle charging (2) 

 

Question 39: Enforcement 

10.2.5 82% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that an enforcement system is 
required for limiting time spent charging in public on-street charging bays, and 
that vehicles should be moved when charging is complete. 6% of respondents 
disagreed or strongly disagreed.  

Question 40: Sustainable sources 

10.2.6 84% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the need for the council to 
ensure the source of energy supplied is wholly or partially from sustainable 
sources. 5% of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed.  

Question 41: Design 

10.2.7 81% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the need for the council to 
ensure the design of on-street charging points is sympathetic to the heritage 
status of Bath. 6% disagreed or strongly disagreed.  

 

 

Page 75



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 48 

10.3 Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy: text responses 

10.3.1 There were 293 responses to the free-text question 42, regarding the on-street 
EV charging strategy. From the responses, a number of themes arose which are 
summarised below.  

EV parking and charging  

10.3.2 55 comments received related to parking provision. Numerous respondents cited 
that many homes in Bath do not have any off-street parking, nor have the 
potential for it. Therefore on-street charging will be essential to encourage a move 
to electric vehicles. This was further encouraged by comments suggesting that 
the council should facilitate ease of transition to electric vehicle ownership. 
However, respondents noted that in residential areas there is already pressure on 
space used for residents’ parking. Therefore, losing spaces for electric charging 
points would be a significant concern for some respondents.  

10.3.3 It was recommended that there should be the potential to charge an electric 
vehicle in every space.  Other respondents felt that there is currently and 
insufficient number of EVs on the road to create dedicated parking spaces and 
warned that these spaces would be underutilised.  

Importance 

10.3.4 22 comments received related to the importance of the On-Street EV Charging 
Strategy. Many respondents were pleased to see the council taking a proactive 
approach to providing for EVs in the future. However, other respondents felt the 
approach was too slow and more radical change was required to promote a 
quicker uptake. Some respondents considered that EV charging was a much 
lower priority compared with measures to encourage walking and cycling.   

Heritage and Design 

10.3.5 40 comments related to the design of the charging infrastructure and its effect on 
local heritage. Respondents were concerned that the chargers will add to street 
clutter. However, there was a general consensus that environmental progress is 
more important than the design of the charging infrastructure. Some comments 
expressed the view that functionality is more important than the design.  

10.3.6 Respondents raised concerns regarding how the proposals would affect Bath’s 
UNESCO World Heritage status. Some respondents were worried that tourism 
might decrease if this status was removed.  

10.3.7 Overall, respondents were generally positive regarding the proposals. It was  
stated that in many cultural destinations, modern and innovative design sits side 
by side with traditional architecture and both complement each other.  

 

Page 76



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 49 

Implementation cost 

10.3.8 39 comments received related to the cost of implementation. Whilst may 
comments supported the need for this investment, some felt the money could be 
better spent. Recommendations included improving walking and cycling 
infrastructure. Other comments raised the issue of equality, as EVs often have 
high up-front costs. Thus, it was argued that this investment will only support 
those with higher incomes.   

10.3.9 Some respondents raised the issue about the technology to be adopted. 
Concerns were raised that infrastructure could become outdated quickly and 
more investment would be required.   

Sustainability 

10.3.10 33 comments related to the sustainability of electric vehicles. Whilst many 
respondents were supportive of the move to encourage their usage, others felt 
they were not the answer to transport problems, due to the carbon footprint during 
manufacture and non-exhaust emissions (e.g. from tyre & brake wear).  

10.3.11 Numerous respondents suggested that the electricity consumed should 
come from sustainable sources.   

10.3.12 Action: The council will aim to ensure the delivery of 100% renewable 
energy throughout the public electric charging network within B&NES.  

Electric charging infrastructure  

10.3.13 130 comments out of the 293 received in response to question 27 
regarded electric charging infrastructure. Many comments offered 
recommendations on how they felt was the best way to implement the 
technology. Suggestions ranged from using street lighting, only using park and 
ride sites and focussing primarily on residential areas.  

10.3.14 Enforcement was an issued which was raised frequently. Many 
respondents felt there needed to be a balance between efficiency and 
practicalities for residents, with restrictions on time limits being lenient. 

10.3.15 Many respondents expressed that space shouldn’t be taken away from the 
footway and instead it should be taken from the carriageway. 

10.3.16 Other recommendations included requiring new housing developments to 
provide substantial electric charging infrastructure.  

10.3.17 Action: The council will ensure electric charging facilities are located in 
new developments, through changes to the Local Plan in accordance with the 
council’s adopted Parking Strategy, objective 2. 

 

Page 77



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 50 

Further comments  

10.3.18 The comments received were generally very positive, with almost 80% of 
responses stating that now is the time to address at this issue. This consultation 
has helped to understand how people would react to the introduction of on-street 
electric vehicle charging. Some key issues have been exposed from the 
comments received and will be considered in more depth.  

 

Page 78



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 51 

11 Summary and Conclusions 

11.1.1 The importance of addressing the council’s Climate Emergency, declared in 
March 2019, is central to the development of Liveable Neighbourhoods.  The 
Climate Emergency Action Plan, approved in October 2019, recommends a major 
shift to mass transport, walking and cycling to reduce transport emissions.  
Liveable Neighbourhoods are an important part of our plan to tackle the climate 
emergency and to improve health and wellbeing across the area.   

11.1.2 The Council’s Corporate Strategy includes Liveable Neighbourhoods as a key 
commitment to help meet the climate emergency target.  The council’s ambition is 
to breathe new life into residential areas by reducing the dominance of motor 
vehicles. It encourages rethinking how road space is used to reduce carbon 
emissions, improve air quality, improve safety and promote healthy lifestyles.  

11.1.3 The council has developed a structured approach to delivering Liveable 
Neighbourhoods through addressing the key issues of traffic volumes, residents’ 
parking, EV charging, air quality and road safety.  The idea is to provide fairer 
access for those travelling on foot and by bicycle, creating healthier outdoor 
spaces for everyone to enjoy. This includes better walking and cycling routes, and 
vibrant local high streets where people can relax outside and connect with others.   

11.1.4 Three draft strategies were the subject of public consultation, which took place 
from 9th September to the 18th October 2020. An online survey generated 1,575 
individual responses. 15 additional responses were received outside of the 
survey.  Strong support for Liveable Neighbourhoods was identified throughout 
the responses. However, a variety of concerns were highlighted that require 
investigation. 

11.1.5 Following the feedback on the key themes identified, the strategy documents will 
be updated.  These documents will help guide the identification, design and 
development of Liveable Neighbourhoods within B&NES, working closely with 
local communities. If the revised strategies are adopted, there will be increasing 
opportunities to engage with the council on individual projects when areas have 
been selected for further investigation.    

 

  

Page 79



 
 
 
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods           Revision 06        00 
Consultation Outcome Summary 01 December 2020 

Page 52 

Appendix SQ1: Survey Questionnaire 

 

 

Page 80



Page 81



 

  

Joanna Sammons, George Edwards, Alasdair Yule & Nick Helps 
Sustainable Transport Team 
Highways & Transport 
Environmental Services 
Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 
Email: LNConsultation@bathnes.gov.uk 

Page 82



1

  Public Consultation,  Autumn 2020

Liveable Neighbourhoods
Better health, environments and spaces for people and business

Why are we consulting?
We’d like your views on our approach to developing liveable neighbourhoods in Bath & North East 
Somerset. 

Liveable Neighbourhoods aim to create safer, healthier streets by promoting walking, cycling and public 
transport while reducing the dominance of vehicles in residential streets. They are an important part of 
our plan to tackle the climate emergency and to improve health and wellbeing across the area. 

We’d specifically like your views on three strategies that will help us to create liveable neighbourhoods, 
which we’ve summarised in our consultation summary brochure:

• Low-traffic neighbourhoods strategy (July 2020)

• Resident’s parking schemes (July 2020)

• On-street electric vehicle strategy (July 2020)

It’s important that you read the consultation summary and the strategies themselves before answering 
the survey. See ‘How to take part’ below. 

Once we’ve received your feedback, we’ll develop a framework to help guide the identification, design 
and development of liveable neighbourhoods, working closely with local communities. There will be more 
opportunities to engage with us over individual projects and areas in the near future. 

  This consultation closes on Wednesday 7 October 2020.

Who should take part?
Anyone can take part, in particular we’d like to hear from those who live in or run businesses/services in 
busy residential areas of B&NES. Residents and interest groups may also wish to take part. 

How to take part
Please read the consultation summary and the relevant sections of the strategy documents (listed above) 
before taking the survey.  These documents are available at https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/ 
liveable-neighbourhoods-consultation

If you don’t have access to the internet, you can request printed copies by calling council connect on 
01225 39 40 41.   

If you’re able, please complete the survey online at our website. Otherwise, please complete this  
paper copy. 

Page 83



2

How to return this questionnaire
Please post it to: Liveable Neighbourhoods Consultation, Transportation team, B&NES Council, Lewis 
House, Manvers Street, BA1 1JB 

Data protection
The responses to this consultation questionnaire are anonymous and no personal data will be taken. 

Contact us
Due to Covid-19 restrictions we’re not running any drop-in events. But you can submit any questions to 
the team via email to: LNconsultation@bathnes.gov.uk. 

  Completed surveys (print and online) must be submitted by Wednesday 7 October 2020. 

Page 84



3

Liveable neighbourhoods survey 
Please complete each section:

Section 1: Liveable Neighbourhoods (3 parts)

Section 2: Residents Parking Schemes 

Section 3: On-street electric vehicle charging strategy

Please select one answer to each question. 

Section 1: Liveable Neighbourhoods 
Part A: Key principles 

Liveable neighbourhoods are developed collaboratively with communities to turn streets that are noisy, 
polluted and dangerous into pleasant, healthy and safe places for people to live, work, and connect with 
others. They are not new and have been used across the world to improve residential environments.

They are a relatively simple and cost-effective way to reduce the dominance of vehicles in residential 
areas, instead prioritising active travel, such as walking, cycling, public transport and public realm 
improvements. This is without disadvantaging people with mobility restrictions, and also maintaining 
vehicle access to homes and businesses. The aim is to reduce overall vehicle use, rather than push traffic 
elsewhere.

A range of tailored measures and vehicle restrictions can help to achieve this, including approaches (as 
set out in the Low Traffic Neighbourhood strategy) such as modal filters (bollards, planters etc.), one-
way streets, width restrictions, traffic calming, residents parking schemes (as set out in the Residents 
Parking Strategy), the introduction of electric vehicle charging (as set out in the EV Charging Strategy) 
leading to more pleasant outdoor meeting places, among others. These schemes can be trialled before 
making them permanent, allowing changes to be made if necessary.  

Typically, a liveable neighbourhood is a group of residential streets approximately 1km2 in area 
that should take no longer than 15 minutes to walk across. Usually they are grouped around key 
amenities, such as schools, surgeries and shops and are bordered by a main road and linked to other 
neighbourhoods by safe crossings.  

Not every area is suitable for a liveable neighbourhood, but its elements can still be used to address local 
issues, such as improving or installing a residents’ parking zone. 

Page 85



4

A: Key principles 

How strongly do you agree with the 
principle of reducing the dominance of 
vehicles in some busy residential areas 
by using more road space for safer active 
travel, such as walking, cycling and public 
transport, with the aim of improving our 
environment, health and wellbeing? 

How strongly do you agree that low traffic 
neighbourhoods have the potential to 
encourage active travel among those that 
are able, and therefore reduce the overall 
use of cars?  

How strongly do you agree with the 
principle of using reclaimed road space 
for public realm improvements such as 
attractive seating, places to meet, electric 
vehicle charging and electric car club areas 
(as suits the community)? 

How strongly do you agree that to 
establish liveable neighbourhoods, it may 
be necessary to restrict through-traffic 
on certain streets (with various measures 
or modal filters) while also maintaining 
vehicle access to homes and businesses? 

  

How strongly do you agree that certain 
trade-offs are required to achieve the 
overall aims of liveable neighbourhoods? 
This could include residents and visitors 
in some cases driving for longer to reach 
a main road, and also a loss of some on-
street parking (where the community 
supports this). 

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Please read section one of the consultation summary (and the relevant areas of the low 
traffic neighbourhood strategy) before answering the following questions.  

Page 86



5

Part B: Local priorities 

To meet our carbon neutrality target for 2030 (as part of our Climate and Nature Emergency Plan) we 
need to encourage a major shift to active travel in B&NES (walking, cycling and public transport), along 
with more people using ultra-low emission vehicles. In turn, cleaner air and more physical activity can 
help to improve residents’ health and wellbeing. 

A wide range of policies will help us to achieve this, but liveable neighbourhoods play an important 
role because they are designed to reduce the number of vehicles in residential areas, discourage short 
car journeys, and reclaim road space for better walking and cycling infrastructure and public realm 
improvements. 

Our aims for liveable neighbourhoods in Bath & North East Somerset are:

• Better health and wellbeing for residents from increased physical activity 

• Closer communities supported by quieter, safer streets

• Reduced rat-running, speeding and inappropriate use by HGVs on residential roads

•  Better walking and cycling infrastructure, with more people walking or cycling their short 
journeys

• Better places for business

• Fewer people relying on private cars or vehicles to get around

•  Reallocation of on-street non-residential parking to make way for EV charging, car clubs, 
social spaces and improved walking and cycling routes

• A cost-effective approach to achieving this.

There are a number of things we need to consider when identifying and developing liveable 
neighbourhoods in B&NES, including: wider national and local policy context, traffic impacts, air pollution, 
supporting those with restricted mobility, Bath’s topography, managing the demand for parking, catering 
sympathetically for on-street electric vehicle charging, and how we can support local businesses to thrive. 

Page 87



6

Please read section two of the consultation summary and the relevant areas of the low 
traffic neighbourhood strategy before answering these questions. 

Part B:  
Local priorities

How strongly do you agree that liveable 
neighbourhoods can achieve the listed 
aims for B&NES? (See the list above.)

How strongly do you agree with the 
importance we’ve placed on developing 
liveable neighbourhoods in the context 
of wider policy, including clean air plans, 
transport strategies, park and ride 
expansion, bus improvement plans, and 
health strategies? 

How strongly do you agree that liveable 
neighbourhoods have the potential to 
improve general health in B&NES by 
encouraging a more active lifestyle and 
reducing isolation and loneliness? 

How strongly do you support 
the implementation of liveable 
neighbourhoods as part of a range of 
measures aimed at reducing chronic 
disease, such as heart and lung disease?

How strongly do you agree with 
our approach of prioritising liveable 
neighbourhoods in urban residential areas? 

How strongly do you agree with the 
potential for liveable neighbourhoods to 
improve air quality in residential areas by 
reducing through-traffic and overall car use?

How strongly do you agree with our 
approach that main roads and areas 
outside of liveable neighbourhoods should 
not see air pollution exceeding legal limits 
as a result of its development?

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Page 88



7

How strongly do you agree the liveable 
neighbourhoods have the potential to 
improve the environment for those with 
restricted mobility or other disabilities, 
including access to shops and homes? 

How strongly do you agree that there is 
good potential in our cities and towns for 
encouraging people to walk or cycle short 
car journeys, given better availability of 
e-bikes to tackle hills, and also improved 
walking and cycling infrastructure? 

How strongly do you agree that there is 
potential to improve footfall at local shops, 
cafes and businesses by providing more 
attractive walking and cycling links to local 
high streets? 

How strongly do you agree that there 
is potential for local shops, cafes and 
businesses to thrive by reclaiming space 
from parked and moving vehicles (while 
ensuring access for people with disabilities 
and for deliveries)?   

How strongly do you agree that the use 
of road closures and modal filters, such as 
bollards, bus gates, attractive planters and 
no-entry signs can address rat running, 
speeding and inappropriate use of roads 
by HGVs in busy residential areas? 

How strongly do you agree that liveable 
neighbourhoods can enhance the World 
Heritage status of Bath, provided they are 
developed in line with the relevant local 
planning policy?  

How strongly do you agree that liveable 
neighbourhoods should aim to limit 
on-street parking, prioritise parking for 
residents, and encourage commuters to 
use park and rides/public transport (in-line 
with wider policy)? See also questions on 
our residents parking scheme strategy.   

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Page 89



8

Part C: Steps to delivering your liveable neighbourhoods
Using feedback from this consultation, we’ll develop a framework for liveable neighbourhoods that 
local communities can use to work closely with us to identify, shortlist, co-design and monitor the 
effectiveness of liveable neighbourhoods. 

Please see page 19 of the consultation summary and the relevant section of the low traffic 
neighbourhood strategy before answering the questions below. 

Part C: Steps to delivering 
liveable neighbourhoods 

How strongly do you agree that liveable 
neighbourhoods should be identified, 
co-designed and developed with the local 
community, with particular emphasis on 
gathering a wide range of perspectives? 

How strongly do you agree with our 
approach to let communities request and 
apply for liveable neighbourhoods, with 
a description of the issues you hope to 
address and proof of the level of support 
in the area?

How strongly do you agree with how 
we propose to identify potential liveable 
neighbourhoods and shortlist proposals 
using a scoring system? 

How strongly do you agree with the 
level of community involvement we’ve 
proposed for reviewing design options 
and developing suitable designs for your 
liveable community, using webinars, design 
workshops, drop-ins and meetings? 

How strongly do you agree with our 
proposal to trial shortlist designs using 
temporary measures and experimental 
traffic orders for six months, during 
which time we can monitor and evaluate 
its effectiveness (before making it 
permanent)? 

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Page 90



9

Further comments
If you would like to provide any further comments on our approach to developing liveable 
neighbourhoods in B&NES, please use the space below. 

Page 91



10

Section 2: Residents parking schemes 
In residential areas, particularly within our city and towns, then can be significant demand from shoppers 
and commuters for on-street parking. This congests local streets and reduces parking opportunities for 
residents.

A liveable neighbourhood encourages active travel and restricts non-local traffic, so has potential for 
reducing both car ownership and demand for parking. Re-claimed space can then be used to install 
modal filters, prioritise walking and cycling or provide electric car clubs. However, where initiatives are 
successful, there may be more demand for residents’ parking during the day. 

Residents parking zones (RPZs) can help to balance demand for parking by prioritising residents parking 
and encouraging commuters and non-local traffic to use park and rides or public transport. 

If existing RPZs or other measures are already in place to alleviate issues, these can be reviewed and 
altered, and it may be that this resolves issues without the need for a liveable neighbourhood. Careful 
consideration must also be given to ensure one RPZ does not impact demand in a neighbouring area.

To cater for this, we’ve updated our residents parking scheme strategy to support the development of 
liveable neighbourhoods. 

Importantly, it incorporates a change to how we manage blue badge holders in RPZs. Currently blue 
badge holders do not need a residents’ parking permits provided they display their badge and this causes 
issues for blue badge holders when they remove their badge to use it in another vehicle. They are also 
able to park in any RPZ bay, regardless of whether they’re a resident. To resolve this issue, we will issue 
blue badge holders with a free residents’ permit for their own area. They will no longer be able to use 
their blue badge in any residents parking bays, but can use visitor permits or continue to park for free in 
on-street, pay-and-display bays in line with the national blue badge scheme. 

Requests for residents parking zones are generally received from local members supported by their 
community. The criteria for evaluating the request is set out in the strategy, along with the factors which 
will be used to prioritise the application (see Appendix A). 

Page 92



11

You may wish to read the full residents parking scheme strategy 2020 before answering the 
questions below.

Residents Parking 
Schemes

How strongly do you agree that RPZs 
should be part of the toolkit to help the 
Council achieve its Climate Emergency 
and transport targets? 

How strongly do you agree that RPZs 
can contribute to the success of a liveable 
neighbourhood, and encourage the 
necessary shift towards sustainable / active 
modes of transport?

How strongly do you agree with the 
need to review current residents parking 
zones to ensure they complement liveable 
neighbourhood projects?

How strongly do you agree that blue 
badge holders will benefit from the new 
arrangements for Blue Badge holders in 
RPZs, as outlined above? 

How strongly do you agree with the 
enforcing authority reserving the right to 
withdraw any permit that is misused?

How strongly do you agree with the 
process for prioritising potential areas for 
RPZs?

How strongly do you agree with the 
approach for designing and implementing 
an RPZ is in line with the processes for 
Liveable Neighbourhoods? 

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Page 93



12

Further comments
If you would like to provide any further comments on revisions to our Residents Parking Scheme 
strategy, please use the space below. 

Page 94



13

Section 3: On-street electric vehicle charging strategy 

While our intention is to encourage more active travel across the area, we understand that private cars 
are still necessary for some trips and some users. Encouraging the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles 
and electric car clubs is therefore important if we’re to meet our climate emergency goals. 

In residential areas with less off-street parking (particularly in central Bath) providing adequate on-street 
charging points is vital if EVs are to become a viable alternative to diesel or petrol vehicles. 

At the moment, we’d like your feedback on the overarching aims for providing on-street EV charging. 
Tailored plans can be developed as part of the liveable neighbourhood project, when applications for on-
street EV charging can be made. 

Please note that other high level policies are being developed to address public and private EV charging 
across the area.  

Our aims:

•  Ensure the provision of an on-street electric vehicle charging network that meets the 
demands of residents, businesses and visitors by 2030 

•  Encourage the uptake of electric vehicles by ensuring adequate and convenient charging 
facilities in residential areas

•  Ensure that charging sites consider all road users and that the charge points do not take 
up valuable pedestrian space 

•  Ensure that the design does not contribute to street clutter

•  Ensure an overarching plan for appropriate energy supply and a co-ordinated approach 
to providing infrastructure and supporting systems (for example, payment and 
enforcement).

•  Ensure that the design of electric vehicle charging points responds to local circumstances 
and in particular is in keeping with the World Heritage Site and Conservation Area status 
of key areas of B&NES.

Page 95



14

You may wish to read the full on-street electric vehicle charging strategy (2020) before 
answering the questions below.

B&NES on-street electric 
vehicle charging strategy 
(2020)

How strongly do you agree that on-
street EV charging is considered alongside 
liveable neighbourhoods, and integrated 
into their planning?

 

How strongly do you agree with the aims 
identified for on-street electric vehicle 
(EV) charging?

How strongly do you agree that on-
street charging units should be located 
off the pavement and in the carriageway, 
which would require the loss of some 
parking spaces to protect pavements for 
pedestrians and those with disabilities?

How strongly do you agree that an 
enforcement system is required for 
limiting time spent charging in public 
on-street charging bays, and that vehicles 
should be moved when charging is 
complete? 

How strongly do you agree with the 
need for B&NES to ensure the source of 
energy supplied is wholly or partially from 
sustainable sources? 

How strongly do you agree with the need 
for B&NES to ensure the design of on-
street charging points is sympathetic to 
the heritage status of Bath?

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Page 96



15

Further comments
If you would like to provide any further comments on our on-street EV charging strategy, please use the 
space below. 

Page 97



16

Section 4: About you 

The council is committed to ensuring its services are accessible to everyone. The following questions 
help us to understand whether different groups of people have difference views. Some of this information 
can be regarded as highly personal and so ‘prefer not to say’ options have been included. 

Which one of the following options best describes how you are responding to this questionnaire?  
Please tick one. 

q Prefer not to say

q As a resident

q As a commuter

q On behalf of a group of individuals

q On behalf of a business/organisation 

Where do you live (or where is your business located)? Please tick one.

q Prefer not to say

q In Bath

q In Keynsham

q In Saltford

q In Midsomer Norton

q In Radstock

q In a B&NES village/rural location 

q Further afield 

q Prefer not to say

What would best describe your professional or working status? Please tick one.

q Prefer not to say

q Employed

q Self-employed

q Retired

q Not in work

q Student 

How do you describe your sex?:

q Prefer not to say

q Male

q Female

q Something else
Page 98



17

Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person?

(i.e. do you have physical or mental impairment which has a substantial long term adverse effect on your 
ability to carry out day to day activities?)

q Prefer not to say

q Yes

q No

What was your age at your last birthday? Please tick one.

q Prefer not to say

q Under 25

q 25 – 34

q 35 – 44

q 45 – 54

q 55+

Do you have any dependent children? Please tick one.

q Prefer not to say

q Yes

q No

Thank you for taking the time to respond to this consultation. Your comments will be considered in the 
development of our final strategies and the liveable neighbourhoods framework.

Please return completed printed surveys by 7 October 2020 to:  

Liveable Neighbourhoods Consultation,  
Transportation team,  
B&NES Council,  
Lewis House,  
Manvers Street,  
BA1 1JB 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100



Printed on recycled paper 

 

 
Bath & North East Somerset Council 

 

MEETING Cabinet 

MEETING 
DATE:  

10th December 2020 

EXECUTIVE 
FORWARD PLAN 

REFERENCE: 

E 3239 

TITLE: Local Plan Partial Update: Options Consultation 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 
List of attachments to this report: 
Attachment 1 – Scope of Local Plan Options for public engagement 
Attachment 2 – Revised Local Development Scheme 
   

 
 
 
1 THE ISSUE 

 
1.1 This report sets out the scope and arrangements for the Local Plan Partial Update 

Options consultation scheduled to start in January 2021. It also seeks changes to 
the Council’s Local Development Scheme (LDS) which is the Council’s programme 
for the preparation and review of planning polices). 

 
  

2 RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 The Cabinet is asked to; 
 

a. agree the policy options and proposals in Attachment 1 as the basis for 
public engagement, 
 

b. agree the revised B&NES Local Development Scheme in Attachment 2, 
and 
 

c. agree the approach to public engagement in Section 10 of this report , 
and  

 

d. delegate authority to the Director for Development and Public 
Protection, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Housing, to finalise the Local Plan Partial Update Options consultation 
document and the Local Development Scheme, 

Page 101

Agenda Item 12



Printed on recycled paper 

3 THE REPORT 
 
Local Plan Partial Update 

3.1 All Local Plans must be reviewed at least 5 years after adoption and updated if 
required. The B&NES Local Plan (consisting of the Core Strategy and Placemaking 
Plan) was adopted in 2014 and its policies, which run to 2029. The Local Plan was 
reviewed in 2019 following the publication of a new Corporate Strategy and this 
review concluded that a number of policies now need updating. 

 
3.2  The key policy areas which require review are; 

 

a) Policies to deliver on the Council’s declaration of climate and ecological 
emergencies, including those on renewable energy generation, retrofitting, 
sustainable construction and biodiversity net gain,  

b) Transport polices including reviewing the parking standards 

c) The approach to Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs), student 
accommodation, development on the University campuses  

d) The district’s housing land supply and type available to meet the Housing 
Requirement to 2029, 

e) The supply of employment land in light of green recovery objectives 

f) The role of City & Town centres 

g) Review of some existing allocated development sites  

h) Ensure the efficient and effective use of the Bath Park & Ride sites  

 
3.3 A full review of the Local Plan depends on the progress of the WECA Spatial 

Development Strategy (SDS) which is scheduled for publication (adoption) in 2023. 
Therefore, in the interim, B&NES is undertaking a Partial Update of the Local Plan 
to address the above urgent issues. 

3.4 The Government is proposing changes to the current planning system 
(Consultation paper issued August 2020) and this entails a review of the Standard 
Method on the calculation of Local Authority housing need.  The timetable and the 
impact of this on B&NES is as yet unclear although the housing requirement is 
likely to be higher and the Government is seeking to introduce this change as soon 
as it can.  To enable Local Authorities to adjust, it has provided transitional 
arrangements that if a Local Authority publishes a draft Plan (Reg 19) three months 
after the new standard method is published, then the existing approach to 
assessing housing need can be retained.  

3.5 The full work programme to deliver the Council’s priorities and to meet national 
requirements is set out in the revised Local Development Scheme (LDS) in 
Attachment 2 to this report. The key stages in the partial update of the Local Plan 
are as follows; 

 

• Jan/Feb 2021 – Engagement on Options (Regulation 18) 

• Spring 2021 – Formal consultation on Draft Partial Update (Regulation 19) 

• Autumn 2021 – Submit Plan for examination (Regulation 21) 

• Winter 2021/22 – exam hearings 

• Spring 2022 - Adopt 

Page 102



Printed on recycled paper 

3.6 At the Local Plan exam, the Council will be required to demonstrate that it has 
formulated an appropriate strategy in light of the evidence and reasonable options. 
It is necessary that stakeholders and communities are given a say to comment on 
the options before the Council publishes its draft plan. Therefore, the consultation in 
Jan/February 2021 will set out the key policy options for public engagement and 
these are summarised in Attachment 1. 
  

3.7 As this is a Partial Review of an existing plan, not a full review or a new plan, the 
scope for changes is limited. A full review of the Plan will take place alongside the 
WECA Spatial Development Strategy.  National Policy requires that, to demonstrate 
effective and on-going joint working, strategic policy-making authorities should 
prepare Statements of Common Ground, documenting progress in cooperating to 
address strategic, cross-boundary matters (the Duty to Co-Operate). This 
requirement will be considered through the process of the Partial Update. 

 

The Local Development Scheme 
3.8 The Local Development Scheme (LDS) sets out the Council’s planning policy work 

programme to assist those who want to engage in the process of plan preparation. 
In some cases, the policy changes also requires an associated Supplementary 
Planning Document to be amended and these is shown in the LDS. The LDS must 
be kept up-to-date and the main changes are; 

• An acceleration to the Local Plan Partial Update Programme to reflect the 
proposed transitional arrangements on national Planning Reform, 

• Inclusion of the WECA Spatial Development Strategy programme, 

• Addition of the programme for the preparation of the B&NES New Local Plan, 

• Amendments to the programmes for the preparation of Supplementary 
Planning Documents 

 
4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS 
4.1 The Planning Acts require that planning decisions must be determined in 

accordance with Development Plan Documents or Neighbourhood Plans unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
4.2 In light of the UK Plan-led system, Regulation 10A of The Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) requires that 
Local Planning Authorities must review local plans and the National Planning Policy 
Framework states that this must take place at least once every 5 years, and Plans 
should then be updated as necessary. This must in whole or in part be to ensure 
that policies remain relevant and effectively address the needs of the local 
community.   

 
4.3 The first stage in plan preparation is Regulation 18 which provides the opportunity 

to gather evidence and test options with local communities and stakeholders. The 
reduced scope of a partial review is most likely to progress more quickly than a full 
plan review. 

 
4.4 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires all local planning 

authorities to prepare a Local Development Scheme (LDS).  The LDS sets out the 
programme, resources and arrangements for the production and review of statutory 
planning documents required by the Council. The LDS must be kept up-to-date. 

 

Page 103



Printed on recycled paper 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 
5.1 The Council’s planning framework is critical to the delivery of the new Corporate 

Strategy. The formulation of planning policy will require extensive cross-service 
working to ensure a co-ordinated approach and an efficient use of resources. 

  
5.2 The preparation of Planning Policies and Supplementary Planning Documents for 

the District is primarily funded by the Local Development Framework Budget, 
Government grants and funding from WECA. The scope and progress of 
preparation of planning policy documents will depend on the available resources. 

  
5.3 Planning policies will also have a direct impact on the value of land and buildings, 

which in turn will affect income from the New Homes Bonus, Council Tax and 
Business Rates. However, impacts to Council Tax and Business Rates cannot be 
taken into consideration as part of the assessment and preparation of the Planning 
Policies. 

  
5.4 The planning framework in B&NES has been particularly successful in bringing 

substantial income into the Council such as CIL, S.106 agreements, New Homes 
Bonus, and HIF relative to its size. The New Homes Bonus achieved equates with 
larger cities like Birmingham and Bristol, and far exceeds other districts which 
contain a historic city like Oxford and York. 

 
 

6 RISK MANAGEMENT 
6.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been undertaken, 

in compliance with the Council's decision-making risk management guidance. 
Some of the main risks identified are; 
 

• The inspector may not fully endorse all the changes policy changes at the 
independent examination, 

• The work programme is ambitious and is dependent on the timetable for 
national planning reform which is unclear, 

• There is likely to be ongoing pressure to expand the scope of the Partial 
Update 

 
7 EQUALITIES 
7.1 The Equality Impact Assessment indicates that the Local Plan Partial Update is 

likely to increase affordable housing provision and facilitate a range of employment 
opportunities. Whist the ongoing Covid-19 restrictions limit the activities that can be 
undertake in community engagement on the options, measures will be taken to 
ensure all sections of the community have the opportunity to engage in the process.   

 

8 CLIMATE CHANGE 
8.1 Since the adoption of the Core Strategy and the Placemaking Plan, and the 

supporting SPDs, the Council has declared a Climate and Nature Emergency. The 
Council’s planning policies are critical to the realisation of these objectives, as 
evident in the Climate Emergency Update to Full Council on 10th October 2019, 
and therefore the Planning Policy framework needs revising as outlined in para 3.2 
above. 

 
Page 104



Printed on recycled paper 

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
9.1 Whilst Local Authorities are required to review their Local Plans at least every 5 

years and ensure that they are up-to-date, the update to the B&NES Local Plan 
could have been undertaken as part of a Full Review of Plan alongside the 
preparation of the WECA Spatial Development Strategy. However, this would have 
delayed updating key policies critical to the delivery of the Council’s policies and the 
Renewal Programme. 

  
9.2 There are also options for the scope of the Partial Update and the approach to take 

for different policies and these are set out in Attachment 1. In particular, the Partial 
Update is seeking to address housing supply issues which will require taking 
advantage of the national planning reform transitional arrangements. The 
alternative would be to delay addressing housing supply issues until the full Local 
Plan review, but this may leave the council vulnerable on housing supply contrary 
to national guidance and the Council’s own housing objectives and climate and 
ecological emergency. 
 

 
 

10 CONSULTATION 
 

10.1 Covid-19 has affected the way the economy functions and the way people 
communicate, with measures such as social distancing and the request to stay at 
home / work from home affecting the quantity and quality of public facing 
interactions. The closure of commercial organisations and community facilities 
where people usually congregate means that consultation exercises need to be 
undertaken differently. These measures have affected the way in which 
consultation and engagement are expected to take place. However one of the 
Council’s core policies continues to be giving people a bigger say. 

10.2 A consultation strategy has been prepared to ensure that the consultation meets 
statutory requirements set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012, and the Bath and North East Somerset 
Neighbourhood Planning Protocol (NPP). It also takes into consideration the 
measures imposed by the Government as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. Key 
consultation details to note are: 

- The consultation will run for a period of 6 weeks 
- All consultation documents to be made available at the Inspection locations 

(the One Stop Shops / libraries) if the libraries are permitted to be opened 
- All consultation documents to be made available for review/download with 

on-line response facility available through the B&NES website 
- Letters or emails explaining the consultation and providing details of how to 

respond will be sent to consultation bodies and individuals on (the Local Plan 
Mailing List) as appropriate 

- Press release and Social media communications on the Council's Twitter and 
Facebook. 

- Webinar as part of the Recovery and Renewal Series to be held on Planning 
Policy/the consultation on Partial Update. This is arranged for the 14th of 
December and will be available on the Council’s YouTube channel after the 
event. 

 
 

Page 105



Printed on recycled paper 

 

Contact 
person  

Lisa Bartlett (Director, Development & Public Protection) 01225 477550  

Simon de Beer (Head of Planning) 01225 477616 

Background 
papers 

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 

 National Planning Policy Framework 2019  

National Planning Practice Guidance  

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2019 to 2021  

B&NES Council Climate Emergency Progress Report 10 October 2019  

B&NES Core Strategy 2014  

B&NES Placemaking Plan 2017 

Changes to the current planning system Consultation paper August 
2020 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an alternative 
format 

Page 106



 

7 
 

ATTACHMENT 1: PROPOSED SCOPE OF LOCAL PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE INCLUDING EXISTING POLICIES TO BE 
UPDATED/REVISED AND NEW POLICIES TO BE INTRODUCED WITH OPTIONS WHERE APPLICABLE 

 
 

 District-wide Strategy and 
Policies 

 

Scope of proposed update/revision 

SPATIAL STRATEGY FOR BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET 

DW1 District-wide spatial 
Strategy 

No change to the overall spatial strategy but replenishing housing supply via new site allocations may necessitate 
minor changes to the policy and the associated key diagram. The strategic district-wide dwelling and jobs 
requirements will remain unchanged although the housing supply with moderately increase). 

DISTRICT-WIDE CORE POLICIES AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT POLICIES 

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE 

CP1 Retrofitting Existing Buildings Amendments relating to retrofitting energy efficiency measures in historic buildings (Will also require changes to 
the Supplementary Planning Document as set out in the Local Development Scheme (LDS)).  

CP2 Sustainable Construction Policy to be updated/revised to require zero carbon development – optional approaches to be set out related to 
the Future Homes Standard but this is partly dependent on the approach taken by national Government.  

CP3 Renewable Energy Amend the policy so that it seeks to ensure that energy from conventional (fossil fuel) sources e.g. relating to 
‘peaking plants’ is only permitted once renewable sources have been fully considered and the use of conventional 
sources is fully justified. 

New Policy  
Whole Life Cycle Carbon 
Assessment  

New policy is proposed to require a Whole Life Cycle Carbon Assessment. 
 

New Policy  

Electric Vehicle (EV) charging  

New policy is proposed to require EV charging points in new development. Options to be presented as to whether 
EV infrastructure should comprise a combination of passive and active or solely active charging points solely 
passive or a combination of passive and active charging points including bike storage/e-bike charging (plus 
Supplementary Planning Document). 
 

P
age 107

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/draft_pmp_vol_1_district_wide.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/draft_pmp_vol_1_district_wide.pdf


 

8 
 

New Policy  
Harnessing wind energy  
 

New criteria-based policy proposed to help facilitate delivery of wind energy by focussing on proposals, with 
options. 
 

SCR1 On-site renewable energy 
requirement 

Policy to be updated and subsumed within zero carbon development policy (see above) which will outline how zero 
carbon development should be achieved through reference to the carbon reduction hierarchy i.e. building 
fabric/materials, on site renewables and carbon off-setting.  
 

SCR3 Ground Mounted Solar 
Arrays 

Amendments for clarity and facilitate increased generation   

CP4 District Heating To be revised to give greater flexibility in delivering and connecting to potential district heating networks outside 
the priority & opportunity areas. Reference to the specific designation of Keynsham Town Centre to be removed as 
it is no longer feasible to deliver a network here. 

CP5 Flood Risk Management Minor amendment to cross refer to and ensure Green Infrastructure benefits delivered through flood risk 
management approach. 

SU1 Sustainable Drainage Amendment to require provision of multi-functional SUDS also acting as Green Infrastructure (multiple benefits) 
 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY  

CP6 Environmental Quality  Overarching policy on Environmental Quality (Policy CP6) and related policies on the natural environment (see 
below) need to be updated in order to fully reflect the Council’s priorities in the context of a climate and nature 
emergencies. Amendments to be made including reference to biodiversity net gain and nature recovery network 
(see relevant policies below).  

 

High Quality Design 

D8 Lighting Minor amendment to ensure light levels meet Habitats Regulation Assessment requirements, through reference to 
maximum light spill in the Waterspace Design Guidance.  
 

P
age 108



 

9 
 

Historic Environment  

H1 Historic Environment  Minor amendment to HE1 for clarity and to ensure it conforms with NPPF 

Landscape  

NE2 Conserving and Enhancing 
the Landscape  

Amendment to Policy NE2 to ensure conformity with NPPF 
 
 

Nature Conservation  

New Policy 
Biodiversity Net Gain 

Inclusion of new policy requiring biodiversity net gain. Two options to be presented, requiring at least 10% net gain 
or requiring 15% net gain (to be viability tested). The policy will also require a 30 year management plan to be in 
place detailing how post-development biodiversity values of the site and any supporting off-site mitigation will be 
achieved/managed. 

NE3 Sites, species and habitats Amend the policy to reflect the NPPF 2019, recent case law, legislation and the emerging Environment Bill, and to 
provide clarity to applicants/developers 

NE5 Ecological networks Policy to be amended to reflect recent work on nature recovery and nature recovery networks. Updated Nature 
Recovery Networks will also be shown on the Policies Map 

NE6 Trees and woodland 
conservation 

Updated to reflect the NPPF 2019 to include reference to veteran trees. 

Green Infrastructure     

NE1 Development and Green 
Infrastructure 

Amend Policy NE1 to provide clarity on policy implementation to support green infrastructure delivery. It is also 
proposed to include a policy designation within the partial update for the Bath River Line project to provide clarity 
on opportunities to connect to, enhance and benefit from the delivery of the project.  Options for safeguarding 
land will be considered that will also enable the delivery of the green infrastructure asset. 

Green Belt  

GB2 Development in Green Belt 
villages 

Amendments to the policy to ensure that it conforms with the NPPF and reflects latest legal judgements. Inclusion 
in the policy of a reference to redevelopment or replacement of dwellings in Green Belt villages and consideration 
of options relating to the definition/application of ‘limited infill’ and Housing Development Boundaries.   

P
age 109



 

10 
 

GB3 Extensions and alterations to 
buildings in the Green Belt 

Minor amendment to conform with the NPPF so that it also relates to proposals to alter a building. 
 

Pollution, contamination and safety  

PCS5 Contamination Introduce a requirement for applicants to produce a management plan for artificial pitch proposals to address 
pollution issues. 

BUILDING STRONG AND VIBRANT COMMUNITIES 

Meeting Housing Needs     

H2 Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMO) 

Amend the policy so that it also relates to new build HMOs and change of use from a non-residential use, as well as 
changes of use from C3 (dwelling house) to a HMO.  
 

New Policy 

Intensification of HMOs 

Include a new policy that would outline criteria for determining planning applications for the intensification of 
existing HMOs i.e. their change of use from a small HMO (C4 use class) to a large HMO (sui generis) 

New Policy  

Purpose Built Student 
Accommodation 

Introduce a new policy to restrict Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) to allocated sites, or elsewhere in 
the District where need is clearly demonstrated. The alternative option would be to extend Policy H2 (on HMOs) to 
also cover PBSA schemes including application of the HMO threshold test. 

H3 Residential Use in Existing 
Buildings 

Minor amendment for clarification purposes so that it clearly also relates to outbuildings.  
 

H7 Housing accessibility Policy to be amended to require enhanced accessibility standards are delivered for all housing (both market and 
affordable) in line with the current evidence base.  
 

A PROSPEROUS ECONOMY  

Economic Development    

ED.1B Change of use & 
redevelopment of B1 (A) office to 
residential use 

Minor amendments to ensure it reflects the new Use Classes Order (September 2020) and current permitted 
development rights. 

P
age 110



 

11 
 

ED.1C Change of use and 
redevelopment of B1 (A) office 
use to other town centre uses 

Minor amendments to ensure it reflects the new Use Classes Order (September 2020) and would relate to a change 
of use from an office to a non E-use class town centre use and the Council’s Town Centre Renewal agenda. 

ED.2A Strategic and other 
primary industrial estates 

Options to amend the policies in order to strengthen protection of industrial land and premises across B&NES and 
especially in Bath given evidence on the level of losses that have occurred and resultant shortage of supply.  
Additional primary industrial estates to be identified for protection under Policy ED2A and Policy ED2B to be 
strengthened with a presumption in favour of retaining for industrial use unless specified criteria are met. 
  

ED2B Non-Strategic Industrial 
Sites 

Sustaining a buoyant rural economy  

RE1 Employment uses in the 
countryside 

Minor amendment for clarification and to ensure it is consistent with the NPPF in relation to enabling employment 
development on previously developed land. 

Centres and Retailing 

General Review of approach to City/town centres to assist realisation of the Town Centre renewal programme  

CR1 Sequential Test Minor amendment to reflect changes in the NPPF 2019 to make it clear that ‘availability’ in terms of the sequential 
test now encompasses a site becoming available in a ‘reasonable period’ of time.   

CR2 Impact Assessments Minor amendments to ensure it reflects the new Use Classes Order (September 2020) 

CR3 Primary Shopping Areas and 
Primary Shopping Frontages  

Minor amendments to ensure it reflects the new Use Classes Order (September 2020) 

PROMOTING SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 

ST1 Promoting sustainable travel  Amend the policy so that it focusses even more strongly on ensuring that development facilitates travel by 
sustainable modes and minimises travel by private car. Proposed changes/additions to include: 

▪ Requirement for development to be located where there are opportunities to travel by alternatives to 
private car usage and to reduce travel distance  

▪ Require development design to support sustainable travel.  
▪ Sustainable transport opportunities to be available early (for first occupiers) 
▪ Impact mitigation must maximise opportunities for mode shift 

P
age 111



 

12 
 

ST2 Sustainable Transport Routes Amend by broadening the scope to enable land (other than former railway land) to be safeguarded for sustainable 
transport purposes (e.g. links to North Keynsham options below & provision of multi-modal corridor) 

ST2A Recreational Routes Amend policy so that developments are required to enhance recreational routes. 

ST3 Transport infrastructure Amend policy to ensure transport infrastructure is planned and designed to promote shift to sustainable transport 
modes as a priority over traffic capacity, including by demonstrating schemes which increase capacity have 
assessed/exhausted opportunities to achieve modal shift. Include reference to complying with LTN1/20. 
 

ST5 Traffic Management 
Proposals 

Amend this policy so that it reflects and helps to deliver Liveable Neighbourhoods Strategy e.g. through re-
balancing space towards people & way from cars; discouraging short car journeys; supporting people with 
restricted mobility; reducing on-street non-residential parking & providing opportunities for EV charging, car clubs 
etc.  
 

ST6 Park and Ride Update the policy so that it reflects JLTP4 and is refocussed from providing ‘traditional’ park and ride sites to multi 
modal interchanges delivering a range of benefits e.g. e-car and e-bike hire, access to the countryside, solar energy 
canopies. Ensure that the most suitable/sustainable and available site have been selected and to require wider 
transport benefits are assessed (not solely traffic impact). 
 

ST7 Transport requirements for 
managing development 

Refocus and strengthen the policy in requiring development to offer genuine travel choice through sustainable 
travel opportunities. Transport improvements and/or mitigation measures must also maximise sustainable travel 
opportunities. Parking standards to be removed from the policy and to be included in a new Parking Standards 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).  
(The Parking Standards SPD will review parking standards in light of the climate emergency and will also include 
cycle storage requirements, EV charging standards & HMO parking. The SPD will be the subject of separate 
consultation exercise). 
 

Volume 2 - Bath 

B1 Bath Spatial Strategy The number of dwellings to be accommodated in Bath (Policy B1 in clause 3) will be revised. 
Reference to enabling provision of a sporting, cultural and leisure stadium on the Recreation Ground site to be 
deleted (clause 8b).  

P
age 112

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/draft_pmp_vol_2_bath.pdf


 

13 
 

SB2 Development Requirements 
and Design Principles Central 
Riverside & Recreation Ground 

Recommend deletion of policies that relate to the Rec and review in the Full Local Plan in due course 

SB8 Western Riverside Dwelling number in the policy may need to be amended to reflect deliverable supply. Elements of the policy 
relating to housing type and pedestrian/cycle access also to be amended. 

SB10 Roseberry Place 
Development Requirements and 
Design Principles 

Option to amend policy to reflect that western part should be allocated for mixed use development, incorporating 
additional residential and employment uses. This would also increase the overall housing figure for the site 
identified in the policy. 

SB14 Twerton Park Policy to be amended to set out the mix of uses to be delivered, incorporating residential with a specified number 
of dwellings. 

SB17 Englishcombe Lane The dwelling figure in the policy needs to be amended to reflect recent planning permission. 

SB18 Royal United Hospital The dwelling capacity specified in the policy is to be amended to reflect deliverable capacity and facilitating the 
provision of a greater amount of key worker accommodation. Review in light of the emerging RUH Estates Strategy. 

B5 Strategic policy for 
universities, private colleges and 
their impacts 

Policy to amended to reflect updated development capacity at the Bath University Claverton Campus. 

SB19 University of Bath at 
Claverton Down 

Policy to amended to reflect updated capacity (taking account of Biodiversity Net Gain requirement) and 
development areas identified in the University of Bath Masterplan. A simplified version of the masterplan to be 
embedded within the policy, to also incorporate number of Purpose-Built Student Accommodation units.  

 

New Policy 

Bath Spa University 

Options for allocating land in Locksbrook area for Bath Spa University teaching/studio/community space and 
releasing Sion Hill campus for residential led development. 

New Policy 

Bath Community Academy 

Options for allocating Bath Community Academy (BCA) focussing on protecting for educational uses, also 
considering whether an element of residential development should potentially be included in order to help 
facilitate delivery.  

P
age 113



 

14 
 

New Policy/Allocation 

Weston Island 

Allocation of Weston Island site for industrial & warehousing uses/builders merchants in order to help facilitate 
delivery of Manvers Street and South Bank sites. Policy should ensure lighting does not harm ecological interest 
and protect ecology along the river corridor. 

New Policy/Site Allocation 

Scala, Oldfield Park 

Option for allocating Scala site, Oldfield Park for mixed-use development, including retail and residential uses. 

 

New Policy/Site Allocation 

Depot, Station Road, Newbridge 

Option for allocating Station Road site, Newbridge for residential development (capacity to reflect trees on site).  

New Policy  

Park and Ride Sites 

Options for removing Bath Park & Ride sites from the Green Belt (subject to the demonstration of exceptional 
circumstances) and allocating them for accommodating solar energy infrastructure and household waste recycling 
facilities alongside their current Park & Ride function. 

Volume 3 - Keynsham 

KE1: Keynsham Spatial Strategy Amend the number of homes directed to Keynsham and identified in the policy. 

KE2b Riverside and Fire Station 
Site 

Option to amend the policy to specify a dwelling capacity for the redevelopment of the Fire Station element of the 
site for residential uses (allied to amended parking standards relating to this town centre location). 

KE3b: Safeguarded Land at East 
Keynsham 

It is proposed that this safeguarded land is released/allocated for development. 

New Policy/Allocation  

North Keynsham 

Three options to allocate land at north east Keynsham site for development: 

1. Allocate only the safeguarded land for development (Policy KE3b) 

2. Allocate wider North Keynsham site for development (incorporating the Policy KE3b safeguarded land) 

3. Allocate currently safeguarded land (Policy KE3b) and safeguard the wider North Keynsham site for future 
development, with the exception of land at western and eastern end of wider site which would be allocated in 
order to facilitate employment development and delivery of transport infrastructure (including protecting multi-
modal corridor route)  

New Policy/Allocation 

St Clements Road 

Option to allocate former Treetops nursing home site on St Clements Road (adjoining Medical Centre) for 
residential development. 

P
age 114

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/draft_pmp_vol_3_keynsham.pdf


 

15 
 

Volume 4 - Somer Valley & Volume 5 Rural Areas 

SV2 Midsomer Norton Town 
Centre Strategic Policy 

Amend Policy in light of the review of the South Road Car Park (SSV2) allocation. 

SSV2 South Road Car Park Options to amend South Road Car Park allocation - either 1) retain it as an allocation for retail led development and 
provision of public car parking or 2) allocate/safeguard it primarily for public car parking with the potential for 
complementary renewable energy generation and/or housing development. Under option 2 reference would need 
to made to alternative opportunities to enhance the retail offer of the town centre (as referenced in Policies SV1 & 
SV2) being considered on a sequential basis. 

SSV9 Old Mills Industrial Estate Amend Policy to help facilitate delivery and to reflect the emerging Local Development Order– primarily by 
amending the site boundary and allowing a different mix of uses on part of the site (higher value commercial uses 

  

General Reference to the potential need to consider housing sites identified and assessed in the HELAA in the Somer Valley 
and villages meeting Policy RA1 criteria  (if the preferred sites in Bath and Keynsham will not deliver the necessary 
housing to meet the supply shortfall).  

 

 

 

 

P
age 115

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/draft_pmp_vol_4_somer_valley.pdf


 

Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 

 

ATTACHMENT 2: 

 

Bath & North East Somerset – Improving People’s Lives 
 

Page 116



 

Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 1 

2. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK PRODUCTION 2020-
2023 

7 

3. THE EVIDENCE BASE 13 

4. PRODUCTION ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE LOCAL 
DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 

14 

LDS SUMMARY TIMETABLE 18 

5. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES 19 

APPENDIX A -  Natural Environment and Urban Design Evidence 
and Strategies  

23 

APPENDIX B -  Status of Current SPGs and SPDs  25 

APPENDIX C -  Glossary of Terms 28 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
1 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

 The Local Development Scheme 
 
1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as amended by the Localism Act 

2011, requires all local planning authorities to prepare and maintain a Local 
Development Scheme (LDS).  The LDS is a timetable for the production of the Local 
Plan, Development Plan Documents and Supplementary Planning Documents that the 
Council is preparing, or intends to prepare.  These documents are known collectively 
as Local Development Documents (LDDs).  It is the starting point for residents and 
stakeholders to find out what planning policies relate to their area and how these will 
be reviewed.  

 
1.2 A review of the LDS is warranted by the need to update the Local Plan.  This Local 

Development Scheme will come into effect on 17th December. 
 

A Glossary of terms used in this document is set out at Appendix C 

 
 
 Local Development Framework 
 
1.4 The Local Development Framework comprises a portfolio of locally prepared planning 

documents (Local Development Documents).  It also includes related documents such 
as the Authority’s Monitoring Report (AMR) and the Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI).   

 
1.5 Local Development Documents (LDD) include:  
 

Development Plan Documents (DPD). These set out the Council’s adopted policies 
and proposals and have development plan status and therefore have full weight in 
the determination of planning applications. They will be subject to community 
involvement and Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment 
throughout their preparation and will be subject to independent examination.  They 
include Local Plans and Neighbourhood Plans.  The Policies Map illustrates 
geographically the Local Plan policies.  

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): Supplementary Planning Documents do 
not have statutory Development Plan status but are useful in providing more detailed 
guidance and support for policies and proposals in Development Plan Documents.  
They are quicker to prepare as they are not subject to independent examination.  
Whilst they supplement adopted policy and constitute a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications they cannot be used to formulate planning 
policy or designate sites.  They will however be subject to community involvement 
and where appropriate Sustainability Appraisal during preparation. 

 

Page 118



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
2 

Local Development Framework at a glance 
 

Local Development Documents (LDD):  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Development Plan for Bath & North East Somerset 

 
1.6 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compensation Act stipulates that planning 

applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  This gives considerable weight to 
Development Plan Documents.   

 
1.7 With the adoption of the Core Strategy in July 2014 and adoption of the Placemaking 

Plan in July 2017 the Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises:  

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) 
Authority’s 
Monitoring Report 
(AMR) 

Statement of 
Community 
Involvement (SCI)  

Neighbourhood Plans (NP) 

Development Plan Documents (DPD) 

Page 119



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
3 

The B&NES Development Plan March 2020 

Bath & North East Somerset Core 
Strategy adopted July 2014 

The Core Strategy sets out the policy framework for the location and level of new 
housing and other development and includes four Strategic Site Allocations.  It 
forms Part 1 of the Local Plan 2011 - 2029. 

Bath & North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan adopted July 
2017: 

- Volume 1 - District-wide 
Strategy and Policies 

- Volume 2 - Bath 

- Volume 3 - Keynsham 

- Volume 4 - Somer Valley 

- Volume 5 - Rural Areas 

- Volume 6 - Appendices 

The Placemaking Plan complements the Council’s Core Strategy and forms Part 2 
of the Local Plan 2011 - 2029.  It is a six volume document focussed on creating 
the conditions for better places, and on providing greater clarity to enable the 
right developments to be delivered.  It allocates a range of sites for development 
for a variety of uses; facilitates the delivery of key sites with planning 
requirements; sets out development management policies which will be used to 
determine planning applications; and safeguards and enhances the quality and 
diversity of places in Bath and North East Somerset.  Some policies in the 
Placemaking Plan under the Town & Country Planning Regulations 2012 8(5). 

Bath & North East Somerset 
saved Local Plan (2007) Policies: 

- Policy GDS.1 Site allocations 
and development 
requirements (policy 
framework) 

- Policy GDS.1/K2: South West 

Four part implemented sites allocations and their respective development 
requirements have not been replaced by the Core Strategy or the Placemaking 
Plan and therefore remain ‘saved’.  This is to ensure the remaining development 
of each site takes place in accordance with the site requirements.  These policies 
are reproduced in full in Volume 6 of the Placemaking Plan (Appendix 1, Table 2) 

P
age 120

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_1_dw_strategy_and_policies_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_1_dw_strategy_and_policies_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_2_bath_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_3_keynsham_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_4_somer_valley_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_5_rural_areas_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_6_appendices_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_6_appendices_composite.pdf#page=7
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_6_appendices_composite.pdf#page=7


 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
4 

Keynsham (site) 

- Policy GDS.1/NR2: Radstock 
Railway Land (site) 

- Policy GDS.1/V3: Paulton 
Printing Factory (site) 

- Policy GDS.1/V8: Former 
Radford Retail System's Site, 
Chew Stoke (site) 

Joint Waste Core Strategy DPD 
(JWCS) adopted March 2011 

The JWCS sets out the waste planning strategy for the West of England, 
addressing the planning aspects of the waste hierarchy promoting waste 
minimisation, recycling/ composting, recovery and disposal.  

The Policies Map (previously 
known as the Proposals Map) 

This illustrates all the allocations and designations set out in the DPDs.  It will be 
revised as each new DPD is adopted where there are allocations or designations.  
The existing Local Plan Policies Map will be amended to give geographical 
expression to the Core Strategy and the Placemaking Plan.  Proposed 
amendments to the Policies Map will be publicised alongside the appropriate 
DPD. 

Neighbourhood Plans Nine Neighbourhood Plans have been made and form part of the Development 
Plan; Chew Valley, Claverton, Clutton, Englishcombe, Freshford & Limpley Stoke, 
Publow & Pensford, Stowey Sutton, Westfield and Whitchurch 

P
age 121



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
5 

1.8 In addition to the nine made (adopted) Neighbourhood Plans in B&NES there 
are a number of neighbourhood plans currently under preparation (see para 
2.10).  To date there are no Neighbourhood Development Orders, but there 
are a number of proposals in the process (see para 2.11).   

 
1.9 Emerging DPDs will carry weight as set out in the NPPF. 

 
Other related planning documents 
 
1.10 Other key planning related documents the Council is required to produce are a 

Statement of Community Involvement, a Monitoring Report and a Policies 
Map as explained below. 

 
1.11 Local planning authorities must set out in their Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI) how they will engage communities on the preliminary 
stages of plan-making. The SCI helps to ensure that the Council is in a position 
to respond to the Localism agenda efficiently and coherently. This will enable 
communities to understand the range of opportunities to interact with and 
take an active role in planning in their locality.  

1.12     Following the review of the Neighbourhood Planning Protocol (NPP) 
incorporating the requirements of the Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI) adopted in September 2012 and revised in 2014, the Council has 
published the draft revised SCI updating the NPP in April 2020. It is anticipated 
the revised SCI will be finalised and approved in June 2020. 

1.13     The SCI outlines the ways communities can get involved in planning issues. 
This includes: 

• Community involvement in Planning Applications 

• Heritage Assets 

• Community involvement in Planning Policy  

• Neighbourhood Planning  

• Protection of Trees 
 
1.14 The Authority’s Monitoring Report (AMR) assesses whether plan production 

is on target and the extent to which policies in local development documents 
are being implemented.  It monitors key data such as housing completions, 
growth in office space and losses in industrial space.  The AMR is published 
annually and is based upon the period 1st April to 31st March each year. The 
Council is also required to publish for each financial year an Infrastructure 
Funding Statement (IFS). The IFS will set out the types of infrastructure the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will be allocated to fund, the amount of 
funds collected from CIL and Planning Obligations and how these funds have 
been spent to support infrastructure provision.  

 

Page 122



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
6 

Bath & North East Somerset’s  
Local Development Framework  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Development Plan Documents 

▪ Local Plan (Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan) Update 

▪ Travellers’ Sites Plan 

▪ Neighbourhood Plans 

▪ New Local Pan 

Local Development Documents 
Under preparation/Review 

Supplementary Planning 
Documents  

▪ Design Guide SPD (Part 1) 

▪ Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD 

▪ Planning Obligations SPD  

▪ Sustainable Construction & Retrofit 
SPD 

▪ Locally Listed Heritage Assets SPD 

▪ Biodiversity Net Gain SPD 

▪ Parking Standards and Electric Vehicle 
Charging SPD 

▪ Travel Guidance SPD 

 
 

Local Development Documents 
Current 

Development Plan Documents 

▪ Core Strategy (2014) 

▪ Placemaking Plan (2017) 

▪ Saved policies from the  Local Plan 
(2007)  

▪ Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011) 

▪ B&NES Policies Map 

Supplementary Planning 
Documents 
See Annex A for full list 

Other documents 
▪ Authority’s Monitoring Report 

▪ Statement of Community Involvement 

▪ Community Infrastructure Levy 

▪ Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

 Sub-Regional Plan 

▪ Spatial Development Strategy 

 

Page 123



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
7 

2. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK PRODUCTION 
2019 - 2023 

 

Progress  

Development Plan Documents 
 

2.1 The Core Strategy (adopted July 2014) sets out the long term strategic 
planning framework for Bath & North East Somerset and includes a spatial 
vision and spatial objectives looking ahead to 2029.  The Core Strategy forms 
Part 1 of the Local Plan 2011 - 2029 to comply with the NPPF requirement to 
produce a Local Plan (see below regarding the review of the Core Strategy).   

 
2.2 The Placemaking Plan complements the Core Strategy and forms Part 2 of the 

Local Plan 2011 - 2029.  The Placemaking Plan identifies development site 
allocations, reviews designations and makes changes to and introduces new 
Development Management policies.  It sets out the development parameters for 
site allocations in the context of their surroundings.  The Placemaking Plan was 
formally adopted on 13 July 2017. 

 
2.3 The Council was preparing a new Local Plan (2016-2036) within the context of 

and to deliver the West of England Joint Spatial Plan (JSP).  However, 
following the withdrawal of the JSP preparation of the new Local Plan (2016-
2036) has been paused. Instead, the West of England Combined Authority 
(WECA) is preparing a Spatial Development Strategy with B&NES, Bristol and 
South Gloucestershire.  B&NES will undertake a full review of its Local Plan 
alongside the SDS and in general conformity with it.  

 
2.4       In the shorter term, following a review in 2019, a programme is needed for 

changes to planning policies to respond to the Climate and Nature Emergency 
Declaration, regulatory changes such as the Environment Bill and a select 
number of other issues. The Local Plan Partial Update may consider: 
i) Policies to deliver on the Council’s declaration of climate and ecological 

emergencies, including those on renewable energy generation, 
retrofitting, sustainable construction and biodiversity net gain,  

j) Transport polices including reviewing the parking standards 
k) The approach to Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs), student 

accommodation, development on the University campuses  
l) The district’s housing land supply and type available to meet the Housing 

Requirement to 2029, 
m) The supply of employment land in light of green recovery objectives 
n) The role of City & Town centres 
o) Review of some existing allocated development sites  

Page 124



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
8 

p) Review the role of the Bath Park & Ride sites 
2.6 The LDF documents are supported by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan to ensure 

the strategic proposals are deliverable and aligned with infrastructure needs.  
Linked to this is the revised Planning Obligations SPD.  Delivery of the Core 
Strategy and the Placemaking Plan are underpinned by the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to address infrastructure funding issues and ensure 
growth happens in a planned way.  The CIL will be updated alongside 
preparation of the new Local Plan. 

 
2.7 The Joint Waste Core Strategy was adopted by the West of England Unitary 

Authorities in 2011 and, in conjunction with adjoining UAs, it will be reviewed in 
2020 to ascertain whether any changes are necessary.   

 
2.8 The Travellers’ Sites Plan (formerly Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 

Showpeople Site Allocations DPD) reached Preferred Options consultation stage 
in July 2012.  Further progress has been affected by a number of factors 
including further site assessment work needed; the requirement to work jointly 
with adjoining authorities (Duty to Cooperate) to ensure that all non-Green Belt 
options are fully explored; and changes to national policy. In addition, the 2012 
accommodation needs assessment for B&NES is out of date and needs reviewing 
in light of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 (s124); the changes in the 
definition of 'traveller’ in the revised ‘Planning Policy for Traveller Sites’ (August 
2015); and the fact that a number of sites have recently been granted planning 
permission for traveller use.  An updated evidence base will give a more 
accurate assessment of the need in B&NES.  Dependent upon the conclusions of 
this updated evidence the Travellers’ Site Plan will be reviewed.   

 
2.9 Neighbourhood Plans are being prepared by Neighbourhood Forums under 

the auspices of the Local Authority and once ‘made’ i.e. approved they will 
form part of the Development Plan.  To facilitate this process, the Council 
prepared and adopted a Neighbourhood Planning Protocol ‘My 
Neighbourhood’ (NPP) which incorporates the Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) in September 2012 and updated in September 2014.  The 
NPP is being reviewed and updated through preparation of a new SCI in order 
to ensure that it accords with national policy and legislation and reflects 
Council’s current procedures.  

 
2.10 The current position on Neighbourhood Plans (NPs) within Bath and North 

East Somerset Council is summarised below: 

▪ Chew Valley, Claverton, Clutton, Englishcombe, Freshford & Limpley 
Stoke, Publow & Pensford, Stowey Sutton, Westfield and Whitchurch 
NPs have been ‘made’ (or adopted). 

▪ Batheaston, Stanton Drew Parish Councils, Keynsham and Midsomer 
Norton Town Councils are currently working on their Neighbourhood 

Page 125



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
9 

Plans and it is anticipated they will formally submit their Neighbourhood 
Plans to B&NES with examinations and referendums likely to be held 
during 2019/2020 or 2020/21.  

• Bathampton, High Littleton & Hallatrow, Paulton and Timsbury Parish 
Councils are designated Neighbourhood Planning Areas and are at early 
stages of the process i.e. collating the evidence base for their plans / 
developing planning policies; or are not progressing their plans at this 
stage.  

2.11      The following proposals have come forward within Bath and North East 
Somerset: 

▪ Draft Community Right to Build Order for the redevelopment of Freshford 
Village Memorial Hall 

The Draft Community Right to Build Order for the redevelopment of Freshford 
Village Memorial Hall has been submitted to Bath & North East Somerset 
Council by the Trustees of Freshford Memorial Hall and is currently at 
Examination. 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents 

 
2.11 The Planning Obligations SPD is a key document in setting out a coordinated 

approach to securing contributions from development.  It is a ‘living 
document’ and will be reviewed from time to time to take account of new 
information.  In order to ensure that it is aligned with up-to-date policy, 
especially the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan, it has been revised 
together with the new Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  The CIL and 
revised Planning Obligations SPD came into effect on 6th April 2015.  This SPD 
was amended in relation to the provision of green space required to mitigate 
the impact of individual development proposals in August 2019. A further 
limited review will take place alongside the Local Plan partial update. A 
comprehensive review of the Planning Obligations SPD will take place 
alongside and informed by the review of CIL and preparation of the new 
B&NES Local Plan.  

 
2.12 Sustainable Construction and Retrofitting SPD adopted in February 2013 aims 

to provide simple, practical guidance for our community on retrofit and 
sustainable construction. Further guidance, the Energy Efficiency and 
Renewable Energy Guidance for Listed Buildings and Undesignated 
Historic Buildings was adopted in September 2013 as an Appendix to the 
Sustainable Construction and Retrofitting SPD for use in determining 
applications for Listed Building Consent and Planning Applications.  This SPD 

Page 126

https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning-bnes/FreshfordCRTB
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning-bnes/FreshfordCRTB


 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
10 

will be reviewed to reflect the current guidance from Historic England and also 
in the context of the Climate Emergency declared by the Council.  

2.13 Work is progressing on the Locally Listed Heritage Assets SPD following public 
consultation on the draft in 2018.  It is anticipated that it will be adopted in 
2021.   

 
2.14 The Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD was reviewed in 2017. Following 

analysis of information collated from the extension of the HMO licencing 
scheme to cover the whole of Bath the SPD will be reviewed again in 2020/21. 
The timetable for this review is set out in the summary timetable below.   

 
2.15  A Design Guide SPD will be prepared in parts, as resources allow, to guide 

new development in Bath & North East Somerset and it is intended that this 
will incorporate guidance on walking and cycling and the existing Building 
Heights Study.  It will supplement the design policies in the Placemaking Plan.  

 
2.16 The National Planning Policy Framework requires planning policies and 

decisions to contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 
minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity. The 
Environment Bill once enacted will establish a comprehensive legal framework 
for environmental improvement and will introduce a mandatory approach to a 
10% biodiversity net gain requiring developers to ensure habitats for wildlife 
are enhanced. Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) SPD will be prepared to set out the 
process required to deliver BNG and the method for calculating the change in 
biodiversity.    

 
2.17     Parking Standards for different forms of development are currently defined by 

and included in the Placemaking Plan. The parking standards need to be 
reviewed informed by the monitoring of their implementation and in the 
context of the Council’s climate emergency declaration. In order to enable 
greater flexibility in reviewing & updating parking standards in the future it is 
proposed that they be removed from the Local Plan and defined in a SPD. 
Therefore, allied to the preparation of the Local Plan partial update a parking 
standards SPD will be prepared. 

 

2.18 Other SPDs will be prepared depending on their urgency and as resources 
permit - see Section 5 of this document. 

 

Other related planning documents 
 
2.19 In order to progress delivery of the Somer Valley Enterprise Zone the Council 

will be a preparing a Local Development Order (LDO) which will need to be 
approved by the LPA and  will outline the uses that will be permitted on the 
site. The LDO will also set out the principles to which development must 

Page 127



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
11 

adhere and these will reflect the requirements of the site allocation policy in 
the Adopted Placemaking Plan.   

2.20 The Council has prepared a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  The CIL 
came into effect on 6th April 2015.  It enabled the Council to raise funds from 
new development in order to fund the timely delivery of infrastructure.  The 
CIL includes a charging schedule and a spending regime based on development 
proposals in the LDF.  Its preparation entailed viability assessments so as not 
to inhibit development and input from stakeholders.  The CIL will need to be 
updated alongside the preparation of a new Local Plan and to reflect changes 
to national policy.  

2.21 The Infrastructure Delivery Plan, which will need to be kept up-to-date, 
identifies infrastructure provision that is required to support growth and 
which CIL can help fund.  The Localism Act requires the allocation of a 
proportion of CIL revenues raised back to neighbourhoods where 
development takes place.  In accordance with the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations any authority that receives a contribution from development 
through the levy or section 106 planning obligations must prepare an 
infrastructure funding statement. The Infrastructure Funding Statement will 
be published annually in December.  

  
2.22 There are 35 conservation areas in the District and 15 of these have 

conservation area character appraisals.  Keynsham Conservation Area also has 
a management plan and a number of other more recent appraisals address 
management opportunities.  

 
2.23 The risks of not having a character appraisal for Bath Conservation Area was 

highlighted by the Inspector at the Core Strategy examination.  This has begun 
to be addressed by preparing a framework for a character appraisal for Bath 
and dividing the conservation area into 16 character areas.  Characterisation 
of 8 character areas has been completed in draft, 4 further areas are in 
progress, with significant involvement of local communities, and the project to 
complete the remaining character areas and the character appraisal as a 
whole is being planned, together with a programme of public consultation.   

 
2.24 Work continues on character appraisals for the rural areas, for Englishcombe 

and Newton St Loe some initial work has been done by students.  This work 
will continue to be developed in-house when resources allow.   Corston Parish 
Council has also been working on a community led appraisal for Corston 
Conservation Area and it is hoped further work will also continue here when 
their resources allow.  Character appraisals for other rural areas will be 
undertaken based on development pressure, local demand and available 
resources both in-house and through the community. 

 

Page 128



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
12 

2.25 Generally, skills exist in-house for undertaking conservation area character 
appraisals, however internal resources are limited.  As with Englishcombe and 
Newton St Loe mentioned above, there is the potential to engage students 
from educational establishments in the development of appraisals and to 
continue to support community involvement, but both also have resource 
implications for the Council.  

 
2.26 Progress on the delivery of conservation area appraisals is therefore 

dependent on resource availability and some funding.  Funding could allow 
consultant engagement to draft appraisals and is also needed for the graphic 
design of the documents which are not printed but are available on line and 
can be printed individually in certain circumstances on request.  

 
Green Infrastructure Strategy  
 
2.27 The Council’s Green Infrastructure (GI Strategy was approved in 2015. The GI 

Strategy is being reviewed and updated in order to provide a framework 
focussing on the key objectives and principles of GI and for its delivery to be 
supported by a number of related, but separate Action Plans. 

 
Tree and Woodland Plan  
 
2.28 A Tree and Woodland Plan will be prepared and it will be one of the key action 

plans flowing from the GI Strategy. The Council has announced an ambitious 
target of planting 100,000 trees by 2023 and the Tree and Woodland Plan will 
play a key role in helping to facilitate the planting of the right species of trees 
in the right places. 

 
LDD Content and Key Milestones 
 
2.29 The LDS Summary timetable sets out an overview of the programme and key 

milestones for the production of Bath & North East Somerset Local 
Development Framework and provides a schedule of the LDDs to be prepared 
during the next 3 years.  It is located after the risk assessment table following 
para 4.9 and is followed by an individual profiles for each LDD. 

Page 129



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
13 

3. THE EVIDENCE BASE 
 
3.1 Section 13 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

the  local planning authority must keep under review the matters which may 
be expected to affect the development of their area or the planning of its 
development. The strategies, policies and proposals in the Local Development 
Documents must be founded on a robust evidence base.  A considerable 
amount of data is available at national and sub-regional level.  A number of 
bespoke studies have been prepared to inform the preparation of the Local 
Development Framework and other Council strategies.  There are also 
opportunities for the Council to improve its data collection and management 
strategies.   B&NES is working with other West of England UAs to ensure an 
up-to-date evidence base to inform planning policies.  The evidence base 
covers a range of subjects including those listed below: 

• Economic (including Economic Development Needs Assessment) 

• Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) and Local Housing Needs 
Assessments (LHNA) 

• Flood Risk 

• Housing (including the Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment 
or HELAA) 

• Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

• Recreation, Cultural and Services 

• Retail 

• Sustainability 

• Transport 

• Urban Design 

• Landscape 

• Heritage 

• Nature conservation 

• Waste 

• Green Infrastructure Strategy/Green Spaces Strategy 

• Building Heights Study 
All studies supported the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan can be found 
from the Council’s website below.  
Placemaking Plan evidence base: 
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
02/pmp_core_docs_list.pdf 
Core Strategy evidence base: 
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
02/core_strategy_history_and_timeline.pdf 

Page 130

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/economic
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/flood-risk
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/housing
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/strategic-housing-land-availabi
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/strategic-housing-land-availabi
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/infrastructure
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/recreation-cultural-and-service
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/retail
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/sustainability
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/transport
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/urban-design-landscape-and-heri
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/urban-design-landscape-and-heri
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/urban-design-landscape-and-heri
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/waste
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gi_strategy_final_web_interactive_version_0.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/other
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-02/pmp_core_docs_list.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-02/pmp_core_docs_list.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-02/core_strategy_history_and_timeline.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-02/core_strategy_history_and_timeline.pdf


 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
14 

4. PRODUCTION ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE LOCAL 
DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK 
 

Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment  
 
4.1 The development of DPDs and SPDs in the Bath & North East Somerset Local 

Development Framework will be informed by Sustainability Appraisal.  
Sustainability Appraisal is an iterative process through which the economic, 
social and environmental effects of a plan under preparation are assessed.  It 
incorporates the requirements of Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) as 
required by EU SEA Directive 2001/42 on the Assessment of certain Plans and 
Programmes on the Environment. The appraisal process will draw heavily on 
the evidence base.  

 
4.2 In order to protect the integrity of European sites, Local Authorities are 

obliged to carry out Appropriate Assessment (AA) as a part of the planning 
process under the Habitats Directive.  AA has been and will continue to be 
carried out in conjunction with the SA as recommended by the Guidance. 
 

Review and Monitoring  
 
4.3 Review and monitoring are crucial to the successful delivery of the spatial 

vision and objectives of the LDF and will be undertaken on a continuous pro-
active basis. The Authority’s Monitoring Report is prepared for each financial 
year (see also paragraph 1.15). It has a dual purpose which is to: 

▪ monitor progress of preparation of planning documents against agreed 
milestones in the LDS 

▪ assess the implementation of DPD policies against targets which will 
influence policy review and other decisions 

 

Resources and Arrangements for Production 
 
4.4 The Planning Service co-ordinates the preparation of Local Development 

Documents in liaison with other relevant Services across the Council.  The 
document profiles (page 19 onwards) outline the responsibilities for document 
preparation. 

Page 131



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
15 

Joint Working 
 
4.5 Bath & North East Somerset Council works jointly with Bristol, North Somerset 

and South Gloucestershire Unitary Authorities (UAs) and the West of England 
Combined Authority (WECA) on sub-regional (West of England) planning and 
cross boundary issues.  Section 110 of the Localism Act sets out a ‘duty to co-
operate’.  In addition to the other West of England UAs referred to above the 
Council engages actively with the neighbouring authorities of Mendip District 
Council, Somerset County Council and Wiltshire Council on strategic issues.  
The ‘duty to co-operate’ applies to all local planning authorities and a number 
of other public bodies including: 

▪ Environment Agency 
▪ Historic England 
▪ Natural England 
▪ Civil Aviation Authority 
▪ Homes and Communities Agency 
▪ Primary Care Trusts 
▪ Office of the Rail Regulator 
▪ Highways Agency 
▪ Integrated Transport Authorities 
▪ Highways Authorities 

 
4.6 These bodies are required to cooperate with Councils on issues of common 

concern to develop sound Development Plans.  The West of England UAs 
maintain a Duty to Co-operate schedule to record key co-operation activities. 
The NPPF also requires that in preparing DPDs strategic policymaking authorities 
should prepare and maintain one or more statements of common ground, 
documenting the cross-boundary matters being addressed and progress in 
cooperating to address them. 

 
4.7 The authorities are also working with business leaders as part of the Local 

Enterprise Partnership (LEP) for the West of England.  The LEP does not have a 
direct role in spatial planning but there is a need for co-ordination in activities.  
Similarly the Council is committed to working collaboratively with the West of 
England Nature Partnership (WENP) which accords with advice in the NPPF. 

 
Member Arrangements and the LDF 
 
4.8 A bespoke Local Development Framework Steering Group guides the 

production of the Council planning policies and advises the Cabinet Member 
for Development.  Decisions on the adoption of DPDs are made by Full Council 
in accordance with the Council constitution and other LDDs are agreed as 
appropriate. Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and 
Scrutiny Panel also monitors and review the activity of the Cabinet and also 
assist them in developing policy.  

 

Page 132



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
16 

Risk Assessment 
 
4.9 It is often difficult to anticipate all potential risks which could affect the Local 

Development Framework programme.  There are a number of factors that 
could affect the Council’s ability to deliver the Local Development Framework 
in accordance with the programme outlined for each of the LDD Profiles.  
Actions to manage these risks have been identified. 

Area of Risk  Likelihood/Impact Mitigation Measures 

Programme 
slippage 

Medium/High 

Failure to meet the key milestones 
for LDDs in the LDS is detrimental to 
the reputation of the local planning 
authority.  Absence of up to date 
Development Plan likely to lead to 
unplanned developments across the 
district.  The deadlines for preparing 
the Local Development Framework 
are very challenging given the 
greater emphasis on community 
consultation. 

High  

Political process lead to delays 

Ensure that progress is 
carefully monitored and that 
priority is given to achieving 
the key milestones set out in 
the LDS. 

Allow for contingency in the 
programmes. 

Use efficient project 
management. 

Ensure elected members are 
properly briefed throughout 
the plan preparation process 
including through the LDF 
Steering Group. 

Adequate staff 
resources 

Medium/Medium 

Should cuts to local government 
funding together with the current 
restructuring of Council Services 
impact on the Planning Services, the 
potential loss of experienced staff 
would impact on the preparation of 
LDDs and heightens the risk of 
programme slippage. 

Ensure that sufficient staff 
resources with the necessary 
experience and expertise are 
available for the production 
of LDDs. 

Consider seconding staff from 
other Services in the Council 
and/or joint working with 
neighbouring authorities.   

Subject to the availability of 
financial resources, employ 
temporary staff or 
consultants. 

Financial resources Medium/High 

It is important that there are 
sufficient financial resources 
available to prepare LDDs, including 
for consultants (where necessary), 
to secure and maintain robust 
evidence base, community 

Ensure the LDS influences 
budgetary decisions to 
ensure sufficient resources 
are in place including a 
suitable level of contingency.  
However cuts to local 
government funding are 

Page 133



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
17 

consultation and engagement, and 
for the Examination process in the 
case of DPDs.   

outside the Council’s direct 
control. 

Competing work 
priorities 

Medium/High 

The Policy Team is involved in a 
wide range of spatial policy work.  
Planning applications for major 
unplanned developments are 
resource-heavy.  There is a risk that 
the Team’s work is diverted from 
plan making by other unforeseen 
work pressures such as involvement 
in planning appeal inquiries, 
regeneration projects and 
responding to consultation on 
emerging Government policies. 

Ensure that progress on the 
Local Development 
Framework remains a high 
priority and at certain times 
other work will have to take a 
much lower priority.  
Consideration may then need 
to be given to outsourcing 
work to prevent delays in 
progress.  

Evidence base Low/Medium 

Lack of an up to date evidence base 
will affect the soundness of a DPD 

Maintain a proportionate and 
up to date evidence base.  
Ensure all policies and 
proposals can be fully 
justified with evidence. 

Level of public 
interest in plan 
making 

Medium/High 

Historically the level of public 
interest in LDDs has been high 
during previous consultations and 
engagement exercises.  An 
unanticipated high level of 
responses could result in a delay in 
the programme. 

Ensure that resources are in 
place at appropriate times to 
ensure representations are 
dealt with promptly and 
efficiently. 

Neighbourhood 
Planning  

Medium/High 

An additional stress on staff 
resources is the requirements to 
provide professional and technical 
advice to support Parish and Town 
Councils in progressing 
Neighbourhood Plans. 

Maintain close liaison with 
Parish and Town Councils to 
monitor the scale of work 
required. 

Consider to what extent 
neighbourhood planning 
aspirations can be delivered 
through LDDs to reduce costs 

Page 134



LDS SUMMARY TIMETABLE 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
18 

BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 2020 - 2023

Jan

Fe
b

M
ar

A
p

r

M
ay

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

Se
p

O
ct

N
o

v

D
e

c

Jan

Fe
b

M
ar

A
p

r

M
ay

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

Se
p

O
ct

N
o

v

D
e

c

Jan

Fe
b

M
ar

A
p

r

M
ay

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

Se
p

O
ct

N
o

v

D
e

c

Jan

Fe
b

M
ar

A
p

r

M
ay

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

Se
p

O
ct

N
o

v

D
e

c

The Development Plans

B&NES Local Plan Partial Update C S H R A

Policies Map R A R A

Joint Waste Core Strategy DPD

Travellers' Sites Plan DPD

B&NES New Local Plan 

Sub-Regional work
Spatial Development Strategy Con H P

Supplementary Planning Documents

Design Guide SPD Part 1 (walking and cycling) C D A

Travel Guidance SPD D A

Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD Review C D A

Planning Obligations SPD Limited Review C D A

Sustainable construction & retrofitting SPD Review C D A

Locally Listed Heritage Assets SPD A

Biodiversity Net Gain SPD C D A

Parking Standards and Electric Vehicle Charging SPD   C D A

Planning Obligations SPD Comprehensive Review 

West Of England & Other SPDs

Other Policy Documents

Statement of Community Involvement D A

Neighbourhood Development Plans                        

Authority Monitoring Report P P P P

Infrastructure Delivery Programme review P P P

Somer Valley EZ LDO A

Infrastructure Funding Statement P P P P

Green Infrastructure Strategy Update A

Tree and Woodland Plan C

CIL Charging Schedule Review R

Sub-Regional Work 

C Commencement S Submit Plan (Reg 22) R Review Survey Informal engagement

O Options consultation  (Reg 18 for DPDs)H Hearings Ongoing Con Formal consultation H Hearings

D Consultation (Reg 19 for DPDs) A Adoption/Approval S Submission P Publication

Ongoing statutory support

Survey

C

To be confirmed

To be confirmed

S

DOCUMENT
2020 2021 2023

P

2022

O

DO

R

R

P
age 135



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
19 

5. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES 
 
PART 1: DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS 
 

LOCAL PLAN Partial Update  

(2011-2029) 

Role and Content  

The scope of the partial update is confined to those areas that 
can be addressed without changing the spatial priorities or 
strategy of the Core Strategy & Placemaking Plan. Scope is 
defined by the shorter-term issues that need to be addressed 
including replenishing the housing land supply and updating 
particular policies to address changes in circumstances since the 
Plan was adopted in 2014. 

Status Development Plan Document 

Geographic Coverage District wide 

TIMETABLE & MILESTONES 

Commencement  April 2020 

Draft Plan consultation (Reg 18) Jan – Feb 2021 

Publication Draft (Reg 19) and draft SA report for consultation May- June 2021 

Submission to Secretary of State (Reg 22) with final SA Report August 2021 

Examination Hearings Period  November 2021 

Inspector’s Report  Feburary 2022 

Adoption March 2022 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PRODUCTION 

Resources required and 
management 
arrangements 

Planning Policy Team,  LDF Budget & LDF Governance 
arrangements 

Key Evidence: SHMA, HELAA, student accommodation requirements, 
infrastructure & viability studies, Flood Risk Assessments, 
Environmental Assessments, Sustainability Appraisals. 

Community/ 
stakeholder 
involvement 

In accordance with Regulations 18 and 19 of the Town and 
County Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and 
the Statement of Community Involvement  

POST-PRODUCTION 

Monitoring & Review 
The implementation of the objectives and policies of the Local 
Plan will be monitored as part of the AMR as set out in the 
submission Local Plan.   

 

Page 136



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
20 

PART 2: SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS (SPD) 
 
 
Currently work is programmed for seven SPDs during the LDS period.  These are listed below 
and the broad programme for preparation is shown on the summary diagram on page 18. 

 
• Design Guide SPD for new development in Bath & North East Somerset.  This will 

incorporate walking and cycling infrastructure guidance and the existing Building Heights 
Study. 
 

• Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD Review  
 

• Planning Obligations SPD limited review  
 

• Sustainable Construction and Retrofitting SPD review  
 

• Locally Listed Heritage Assets SPD. 
 

• Biodiversity Net Gain SPD 
 

• Parking Standards SPD  
 

 
 
 

 
  

 

Page 137



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
21 

PART 3: OTHER LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENTS 
 

POLICIES MAP  

Role and Content 

The Policies Map identifies site-specific proposals, designations, and 
locations and areas to which specific policies in other DPDs apply on 
an Ordnance Survey base map and will include inset maps.  This map 
evolves with each Development Plan Document. 

Status Development Plan Document  

Conformity Conformity with other Development Plan Documents (DPDs). 

Geographic 
Coverage 

District-wide 

TIMETABLE & MILESTONES 

The production of the Policies Map is dependent on the timetable of DPDs which require 
the geographical expression of location of site-specific proposals and area based policies 
and will be updated as DPDs are adopted. 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PRODUCTION 

Resources required  

and management 
arrangements 

Prepared by Planning Services with Corporate GIS and technical 
support.  Preparation of printed versions and interactive 
electronic versions will be outsourced as required.  Key stages to 
be agreed at Cabinet and Council. 

Community and 
stakeholder 
involvement 

In accordance with Regulations 18 and 19 of the Town and County 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and the 
Neighbourhood Planning Protocol. 

POST-PRODUCTION 

Monitoring & Review 
An amendment to the Policies Map is contingent on the outcome 
of the monitoring and review of DPDs. 

 
 

Page 138



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
22 

Statement of Community Involvement 

 

Role and Content 

The SCI sets out how the community, stakeholders and interested 
parties are involved in the production of plans and proposals for the 
District and the determination of planning applications. The SCI  
reflects the localism agenda and sets out the engagement processes, 
guidance for the establishment of Neighbourhood Fora, preparation 
of Neighbourhood Plans and Neighbourhood Development Orders.   

Status LDD  

Chain of 
conformity 

Must at least meet the minimum requirements set out in the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008. The SCI has regard to the Council’s corporate 
communication strategy. 

Geographic 
Coverage 

Whole District  

TIMETABLE & MILESTONES 

Review the SCI September – October 2019 

Draft publication  April 2020 

Finalise revised SCI and agreed by Council January 2021 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PRODUCTION 

Resources required  

and management 
arrangements 

Prepared by Planning service in conjunction with Policy & 
Partnerships Team and in consultation with Member portfolio 
holder. Agreed by the Council/Cabinet. 

Community and 
stakeholder 
involvement 

Fundamental revisions to the SCI will entail community 
engagement. 

 

POST-PRODUCTION 

Monitoring & Review 

To be reviewed on an ongoing basis in response to problems or 
successes consulting on LDDs or planning applications and as part 
of the AMR and changes in government legislation  

 

Page 139



APPENDIX A 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
23 

Natural Environment Evidence and Strategies  

 

1. The Environment Bill has been introduced to support the delivery of the 25 Year 
Environment Plan published in January 2018. It also sets out the Government’s approach 
to some of the key issues being raised by the public around climate change, loss of 
biodiversity and environmental risks to public health. There will be new opportunities and 
obligations to the Council.   

2. The West of England Nature Partnership (WENP) launched in June 2013 is one of 47 Local 
Nature Partnerships given statutory status by Defra.  The WENP will develop and 
advocate an investment strategy for the natural environment of the West of England that 
provides a range of essential services to support economic development and public 
health.  The WENP aims to provide coherent and cohesive representation of a range of 
stakeholders concerned for the natural environment and work in partnership with 
economic development agencies, health authorities and other statutory bodies to create 
a truly joined up approach in the West of England.  The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) states that local planning authorities should work collaboratively with 
Local Nature Partnerships. 

 

Landscape  

2. One of the core principles of the NPPF is that planning should recognise the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside.  Landscape Character Assessment is the tool 
that informs judgements on the value of landscapes and should be undertaken at a scale 
appropriate to local and neighbourhood plan-making.  The rural character assessment of 
the District was carried out in 2003 and an assessment of Bath was carried out in 2005 as 
a precursor to more detailed Conservation Appraisals across Bath which are being 
undertaken as resources allow. The landscape character of the setting of the Bath World 
Heritage Site was assessed in 2017 through the Bathscape Landscape Character 
Assessment. 

 

3. The District is vulnerable to impacts on landscape and visual character and the existing 
rural landscape character assessment needs to be updated to reflect current 
methodologies and to accord with national policy.  A District landscape character 
assessment carried out in partnership between the Council, and parishes and local 
communities is needed.  It would inform planning decisions by providing clearer guidance 
in assessing the landscape and visual impacts of development proposals and help to 
provide the context for other related assessments including local planning initiatives such 
as Neighbourhood Plans where these are undertaken. 
 

Green Infrastructure:  
 

4. The NPPF recognises the importance of conserving and enhancing our natural, built and 
historic environment including green infrastructure. NPPG defines GI as ‘a network of 
multifunctional green space, urban and rural, which is capable of delivering a wide range 
of environmental and quality of life benefits for local communities.’ The Government’s 25 
Year Environment Plan published in 2018 references the need to create more and 
effective green infrastructure and policy choices to be informed by natural capital 
approach. The West of England GI Plan will provide evidence for identifying the approach 

Page 140



APPENDIX A 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
24 

to be taken by the Council, primarily delivered through and reflected in the policy 
framework established in the Local Plan, but also a reviewed Green Infrastructure 
Strategy, Green Space Strategy and other relevant strategies. 

 

Ecology 

5. In 2011 Government published a Natural Environment White Paper setting out its goals 
and vision for the natural environment followed later that year by ‘Biodiversity 2020 
Government’s biodiversity strategy’.  The Government’s25 Year Environment Plan (2018) 
commits to development of a Nature Recovery Network to protect and restore wildlife 
Allied to this the NPPF sets out the requirement to minimise impacts on and provide net 
gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks. . The WENP 
West of England Ecological Network will be the WoE Nature Recovery Network with 
targets identified. The council will need to consider the evidence and requirements and to 
set out its approach, primarily through the preparation of the Local Plan and other policy 
guidance as necessary. 

Page 141



APPENDIX B 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
25 

Current Supplementary Planning Documents and 
Guidance  

 

Accessibility standards for affordable housing (guidance note) 

Agricultural Building Design Guidelines for the Mendip Hills AONB (published 2001, 

revised 2013). 

Archaeology in Bath & North East Somerset SPG (May 2004) and Archaeology in 

Bath SPG (May 2004)  

Bath City-wide Character Appraisal (August 2005) 

Bath Conservation Area Design and Conservation - Commercial signage and tables 

and chairs on the highway (July 2016) 

Bath Shopfronts: Guidelines for Design and Conservation (1993) 

 

Bath Western Riverside SPD (March 2008)  

Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy Guidance For Listed Buildings and 

Undesignated Historic Buildings (2013) 

Energy Efficiency Retrofitting & Renewables Permitted Development Check List & 

Guidance Note 

Existing Dwellings in the Green Belt SPD (October 2008)  

Guidelines for Horse-related Development for the Mendip Hills AONB (published 

2004, revised 2012)  

Houses in Multiple Occupation in Bath SPD with Article 4 Direction for HMO in 

Bath (June 2013)  

Planning Obligations SPD (April 2015) 

Priston Village Design Statement Supplementary Planning Document (2018) 

Retrofitting & Sustainable Construction SPD (February 2013)  

Rural Landscapes of Bath & North East Somerset: A Landscape Character 

Assessment (February 2003)  

Streetscape Manual SPD (April 2005)  

Page 142

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spds
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spds
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_policy_h7_guidance_note.pdf
http://www.mendiphillsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/zAgriculturalBuildingDesignGuidelinesFinal.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/arch-in-banes-brochure.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/arch-in-city-of-bath.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/arch-in-city-of-bath.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Environment/Landscape/WHS/whs_spd_low_res.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Evidence-Base/Urban-Design-Landscape-and-Heritage/bath_conservation_area_and_design_guide.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Evidence-Base/Urban-Design-Landscape-and-Heritage/bath_conservation_area_and_design_guide.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spds
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/defa/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/listed_building_guidance_-_energy.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/defa/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/listed_building_guidance_-_energy.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/permitted_development_checklist.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/permitted_development_checklist.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/ExistingDwellingsintheGreenBeltSPD.pdf
http://www.mendiphillsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/MHAONB-Horse-related-development-Guidelines.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/HMOs/ba175_hmo_print_july_2013_aw_lr.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/HMOs/ba175_hmo_print_july_2013_aw_lr.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/planning_obligations_spd.pd
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spds-and-0
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spds/sustain
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Evidence-Base/Urban-Design-Landscape-and-Heritage/RuralLanscapesComplete.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Evidence-Base/Urban-Design-Landscape-and-Heritage/RuralLanscapesComplete.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/streetscape_manual_adopted.pdf


APPENDIX B 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
26 

Sustainable Construction & Retrofitting Supplementary Planning Document (2013) 

Sustainable Construction Checklist Supplementary Planning Document (2018) 

Sustainable Construction Checklist SPD: Heat networks guidance note (2018) 

Walcot Street Works (1997), Cherishing Outdoor Places (1994), and External 

Building Materials Local Design Guide  

West of England Sustainable Drainage Developer Guide (March 2015) 

City of Bath World Heritage Site Setting SPD (August 2013)  

Conservation Area Appraisals 

The Council has a number of conservation areas, the following of which are SPD or a 

material consideration 

- Chew Magna Conservation Area Statement (2003) 

- Claverton Conservation Area Appraisal (2007) 

- Combe Hay Conservation Area Appraisal (July 2014) 

- Hinton Blewett Conservation Area Appraisal (July 2014) 

- Freshford and Sharpstone Conservation Area Appraisal (2007) 

- Hinton Blewett Character Appraisal (2014) 

- Keynsham Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan (December 

2016) 

- Midsomer Norton and Welton Character Appraisal 2018 

- Paulton Conservation Area Statement (2003) 

- Pensford Conservation Area Appraisal (2008) 

- Queen Charlto Character Appraisal 2018 

- Radstock Conservation Area Appraisal (1999) 

- Saltford Character Appraisal 2018 

- South Stoke Conservation Area Appraisal (March 2014)  

Page 143

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/scrf_adoption_draft_spd.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/sustainable_construction_checklist_spd_adoption_version.docx
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/sustainable_construction_checklist_spd_adoption_version.docx
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/walcot_street_works.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/cherishing_outdoor_places.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/external_building_materials_-_local_design_guide.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/external_building_materials_-_local_design_guide.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/LDFGeneral/bd6457_woe_developer_guide_complete_72dpi.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/environment/landscape/city-bath-world-heritage-site-setting
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/ChewMagnaConservationAreaStatement.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/conservation-areas/claverton-conservation-area-appraisal
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/combe_hay_appraisal_st3_v6.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/hinton_blewett_stage2_v5.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/conservation-areas/freshford-and-sharpstone-conservation-area
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/MidsomerNortonWeltonCAA.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/PaultonCAA.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/conservation-areas/pensford-conservation-area-appraisal
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/conservation-areas/radstock-conservation-area-appraisal
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Core-Strategy/CoreDocumentsnotsavedelsewhere/cd12-29_south_stoke_appraisal.pdf


APPENDIX B 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
27 

- Wellow Conservation Area Appraisal (2007) 

- Woollard Conservation Area Appraisal (2008) 

Village Design Statements 

- Bathford Village Design Statement (2005) 

- Chew Magna Village Design Statement (2006)  

- Hallatrow & High Littleton Design Statement (2003) 

- Larkhall Character Statement and Development Principles (1998) 

- Paulton Village Design Statement (2003) 

- Peasedown St. John Village Statement (2001) 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 144

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/conservation-areas/wellow-conservation-area-appraisal
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/conservation-areas/woollard-conservation-area-appraisal
http://www.bathford.net/council-activities/village-design-statement/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/chew_magna_village_design_statement.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/HallatrowandHighLittletonDesignStatement.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/LarkhallCharacterStatement.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/PaultonCAA.pdf
http://www.peasedownstjohnparishcouncil.gov.uk/Core/Peasedown-St-John-PC/Pages/Parish_Design_Statement_2.aspx


 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020-2022  
 

▪  

 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
AMR The Authority’s Monitoring Report will assess the implementation of the Local 

Development Scheme and the extent to which policies in Local Development Documents 
are being successfully implemented.  Previously known as an Annual Monitoring Report. 

 
CS Core Strategy: sets out the long-term spatial vision for the local planning authority area, 

the spatial objectives and a strategic policy framework to deliver that vision. The Core 
Strategy will have the status of a Development Plan Document and will form Part 1 of the 
new style Local Plan. 

 
DP Development Plan: as set out in Section 38(6) of the Act, an authority’s development plan 

consists of the relevant Development Plan Documents contained within its Local 
Development Framework. 

 
DPD Development Plan Document: spatial planning documents that are subject to independent 

examination will form the Development Plan. They can include a Core Strategy, Site Specific 
Allocations of land, and Area Action Plans (where needed). Other Development Plan 
Documents, including generic Development Control Policies, can be produced. They will all 
be shown geographically on an adopted Policies Map.  

 
FRA Flood Risk Assessment: an assessment of the risk of flooding from all flooding sources, 

identifying flood mitigation measures to reduce the impact of flooding to the site and 
surrounding area and recommendations on actions to be taken before and during a flood. 

 
LDF Local Development Framework: the name for the portfolio of Local Development 

Documents. It consists of Development Plan Documents, Supplementary Planning 
Documents, a Statement of Community Involvement, the Local Development Scheme and 
Annual Monitoring Reports. Together these documents will provide the framework for 
delivering the spatial planning strategy for a local authority area.  

 
LDD  Local Development Document: the collective term for Development Plan Documents, 

Supplementary Planning Documents and the Neighbourhood Planning Protocol. 

LDS Local Development Scheme: sets out the programme for preparing Local Development 
Documents. 

LEP  Local Enterprise Partnerships: locally-owned partnerships between local authorities and 
businesses and play a central role in determining local economic priorities and undertaking 
activities to drive economic growth and the creation of local jobs. 

 
NPP Neighbourhood Planning Protocol: sets out mechanisms for:  

• Neighbourhood Fora 
• Neighbourhood Referenda  
• Neighbourhood Development Orders  
• Community Right to Build  

 

Page 145

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Risk_assessment
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Flood


 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020-2022  
 

This includes a review of the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 
 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework sets out the Government’s planning policies for 

England and how these are expected to be implemented.  It replaces all previous planning 
policy guidance notes and planning policy statements. 

 
PMP Placemaking Plan: a Development Plan Document being prepared to complement the 

strategic framework in the Core Strategy by setting out detailed development principles for 
identified sites and other policies for managing development across Bath & North East 
Somerset.  It will form Part 2 of the new style Local Plan. 

 
Policies Map: previously referred to as the Proposals Map and illustrates geographically 
the policies and proposals in the Development Plan Documents (DPD) on an Ordnance 
Survey map. Inset Maps show policies and proposals for specific parts of the district. It will 
need to be revised each time a new DPD is adopted. 

 
Saved policies or plans: existing adopted development plans are saved for three years 
from the date of commencement of the Act. Any policies in old style development plans 
adopted after commencement of the Act will become saved policies for three years from 
their adoption or approval.  

 
SA Sustainability Appraisal: tool for appraising policies to ensure they reflect sustainable 

development objectives. Sustainability Appraisals are required in the Act to be undertaken 
for all local development documents. 

 
SEA Strategic environmental assessment: a generic term used to describe environmental 

assessment as applied to policies, plans and programmes.  The European ‘SEA Directive’ 
(2001/42/EC) requires a formal ‘environmental assessment of certain plans and 
programmes, including those in the field of planning and land use’. 

 
SPD  Supplementary Planning Document: provide supplementary information in respect of the 

policies in Development Plan Documents.  They do not form part of the Development Plan 
and are not subject to independent Examination. 

 
 
 

Page 146



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020-2022  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This document can be made available in a range of community 
languages, large print, Braille, on tape, electronic and accessible 
formats from the Planning Policy Team Tel (01225 477548) Fax 
(01225 477617), Minicom (01225 477535). 
 
 

Page 147



 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2020-2022  
 

 
Printed on recycled paper 

 

Page 148



Proposed amendment to the wording of the Cabinet Report on the Local Plan Partial Update Options Consultation 

(Ref E3239). 

 

Amendment to the wording on page 112 &113 of Attachment 1 for clarification as follows; (bold text to replace deleted text) 

B1 Bath Spatial 

Strategy 

The number of dwellings to be accommodated in Bath (Policy B1 in clause 3) will be revised. 

 

Reference to enabling provision of a sporting, cultural and leisure stadium on the Recreation Ground 

site to be deleted (clause 8b).  

Options for Policy B1 as it relates to the Recreation Ground; 

1. No change to the existing policy wording but review it in the Full Local Plan 

2. Review the policy wording through the Local Plan Partial Update  

3. Delete the policy through the Local Plan Partial Update and revisit it in the Full Local Plan 

SB2 

Development 

Requirements 

and Design 

Principles 

Central 

Riverside & 

Recreation 

Ground 

Recommend deletion of policies that relate to the Rec and review in the Full Local Plan in due course 

Options for Policy SB2 as it relates to the Recreation Ground; 

1. No change to the existing policy wording but review it in the Full Local Plan 

2. Review the policy wording through the Local Plan Partial Update  

3. Delete the policy through the Local Plan Partial Update and revisit it in the Full Local Plan 

 

P
age 149



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 150



Printed on recycled paper 

 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER:  

Cabinet 

 

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE:  

10 December 2020 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 
PLAN REFERENCE: 

E 3244 

TITLE: Property Services – Service Review 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

List of attachments to this report: 

 

 
1    THE ISSUE 

1.1 Covid has had a significant impact upon and how the council manages its’ commercial 
estate 

1.2 The pandemic has resulted in immediate and permanent changes to our ways of 
working and our operational estate requirements 

1.3 Covid related socio-economic impacts, some of which may become permanent, 
require the organisation to re-position its’ estate to respond to this change  

2    RECOMMENDATION 

The Cabinet is asked to; 

2.1 Note the content of this report and endorse the focus for our proposed actions (2021): 

• A review of the council’s Commercial Estate and note the principles for the 
review outlined in section 3.2.4 

• Endorse the principles of the ‘Preparing for the Future Programme’, to 
reconfigure our Operational (office) Estate (3.3.2) 

• The production of a new Corporate Estate Strategy and 

• A redesign of our estates, maintenance and construction etc functions to 
enable us to be in the best position to respond to our place shaping and 
renewal agenda, in support of our communities as we move into Covid recovery 
in 2021 

Page 151

Agenda Item 13



Printed on recycled paper 

2.2 Delegate decisions relating to the estate to the Cabinet Member for Resources, in 
consultation with the council’s Chief Operating Officer, Section 151 Officer and 
Senior Officers in Estates 

2.3 To engage the Corporate Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel in the emerging 
Corporate Estates Strategy 

3  THE REPORT  

3.1 Service dimensions 

3.1.1 The council is custodian of 1,200 properties with an asset value of 
approximately £500 million split across the operational and commercial 
estates. 

3.1.2 The Operational Estate comprises property assets used by the council in 
the delivery of its services. This estate has been valued at £200 million  
(1 April 2018). 

3.1.3 The Commercial Estate.  The Council owns a large and influential 
portfolio of investment property and land assets.  A significant proportion 
of these assets are retail premises in the centre of Bath. In addition, the 
council portfolio comprises key sites for regeneration and strategic 
development. As of 1 April 2018, the capital value of this estate was 
estimated at £295 million. 

3.2 Commercial Estate Review 

3.2.1 Covid has had a significant impact on the Council’s commercial estate 
income and on the levels of commercial voids.  The latest data is 
provided below (April – October 2020): 

Activity Area Baseline Current Variance 

Commercial 
Estate Void 
Levels 

3.6% 7.6% 4.0% 

Commercial 
Estate income (£) 

(18,805,727) (12,205,727) 6,600,000 

 

3.2.2 Pre-Covid, the commercial estate provided a reliable source of income, 
whilst asset values continued to appreciate.  The onset of the pandemic 
has resulted in the sector becoming more unpredictable, rental arrears 
have increased and the estate requires greater scrutiny and 
management.  The pandemic has accelerated change in areas such as e 
commerce and home working.  The risk profile of certain sectors of our 
estate is changing and it is important for the council to assess this shift in 
how commercial buildings are likely to be used in the long-term. 

3.2.3 The council has appointed Montagu Evans to undertake an independent 
evaluation of our commercial estate, to assess strengths and 
weaknesses of the portfolio and create an outline strategy for the future. 

3.2.4 The principles for the review are as follows: 

Page 152



Printed on recycled paper 

• To maintain ownership of a commercial estate with the principal aim 

being to deliver a secure (maximised) income stream 

• Within the context of our place shaping and regeneration role as a major 

landlord  

• We acknowledge the need to rebalance the estate  

• Our starting assumption is of a need to change redundant retail space 

into residential property to promote city centre living  

• We have declared a climate and nature emergency which will need to 

be considered in the decisions we make 

3.2.5  Montagu Evans have been tasked with: 

• A review of the estate and to evaluate potential yield in the context of 

current market conditions. 

• Review the balance of asset type 

• Test out the assumption to move to a more residential based portfolio  

• Set out any alternative ideas about how to diversify the estate 

3.2.6 The outcomes of the review will be an evaluation of the current position 
of our portfolio, the identification of economic opportunities and threats 
and a recommended strategic approach.  A detailed action plan will 
include an outline of resources required to reposition the commercial 
estate.  The draft report from Montagu Evans will be made available to 
the council before the end of 2020, the final document being received in 
January/February 2021. 

3.3 Operational Estate Review & Redesign (Office Accommodation) 

 

3.3.1 In line with many other organisations, the onset of the pandemic resulted 
in a radical and immediate shift in the way many council teams delivered 
their services.  Over 1,200 staff moved to homeworking arrangements in 
March 2020.  There are excellent examples, across the council, of how 
teams have adapted and innovated to ensure the continued delivery of 
front-line services and to retain effective internal and external 
communications. 

3.3.2 The council has used the last six months to start restructuring its’ use of 
the office estate.  Our ‘Preparing for the Future Programme’ will deliver 
changes to how we work.  The overarching principle is that work is what 
you do not a place you go.  The objectives of this change programme 
are: 

• To reduce the number of office buildings we use in Bath 

• Reduce the number of leasehold arrangements 

• Increase income through the letting of office space we no longer require 
in Bath 

• Temporarily re-design the office space in Keynsham and the Guildhall to 
meet the necessary social distancing rules  

Page 153



Printed on recycled paper 

• Medium Term, permanent redesign of the Keynsham Civic Centre 
(KCC) to increase occupancy rates and to provide modern, 
collaborative, and flexible office space for a greater number of staff.  
Providing more effective and efficient use of our office 

• Review our digital strategy to support remote and flexible working 
arrangements 

3.3.3 Good progress has been made, office leasehold arrangements have 
been reduced, two floors of Lewis House have been let and a small 
number of key staff are working in Covid secure arrangements (Guildhall 
and KCC).    

3.3.4 Most staff continue to work from home, in accordance with government 
guidance.  Plans are being developed to amend the layout of KCC to 
modernise facilities to support new ways of working.  It is envisaged that 
the council will adopt a ‘blended’ approach to work patterns.  Teams 
working from home part of the week and attending KCC several days 
each week.  Detailed plans for the accommodation changes at 
Keynsham will be available during the latter part of December and will be 
shared with Cabinet and staff to gain feedback.  It is envisaged that 
works (subject to appropriate Cabinet, Council approvals) will take place 
during the first half of 2021.   

3.4 Estates Strategy (Asset Management Plan) 

3.4.1 The current council property strategy was published in 2012 and requires 
review.  It is intended to develop a new council strategy in the first part of 
2021.   

3.4.2 The context for this forthcoming Estates Strategy will be provided by the 
Council Corporate Strategy (2020-24), Community Asset Transfer Policy, 
the pending Montague Evans Report, the impacts of the pandemic and 
our recovery, renewal and place shaping vision (developed with 
engagement of partners). 

3.4.3 The new Estates Strategy will be developed in accordance with the 
following principles: 

• The value of our investment portfolio is grown and optimised, 
contributing to capital programming and medium-term financial planning 

• Our operational estate is fit for purpose, well maintained, flexible and 
capable of adapting as we change our delivery models and ways of 
working 

• Effective Corporate Landlord arrangements to be put in place 

• Our estate contributes towards making B&NES carbon neutral by 2030 

• The expectations that all Council sponsored or supported development 
meets carbon reduction objectives, including schools (whether 
maintained or academies) 

Page 154



Printed on recycled paper 

• Our estate contributes to our renewal (as we emerge from the 
pandemic) and broader place shaping objectives  

3.5   Service Redesign 

3.5.1  The council has commenced a review of its’ Estates, Construction, 
Maintenance, Facilities Management and Business Intelligence Functions 

3.5.2  The intention of this review is to reposition the service to deliver on both the 
changing commercial and operational estate requirements and to support 
the broader council priorities.   

3.5.3   Areas to be covered include a review of key processes and procedures, 
digital solutions and staffing structures.  This will ensure that we have the 
most efficient processes in place, robust policies and procedures and 
adequate staffing resource.  Previous review work has highlighted a skills 
gap and resource in some areas, such as energy.   

3.5.4  The review work has commenced, and the initial focus has been on the 
Construction, Maintenance and Facilities Management functions.  Activities 
to date include a focus on developing our supply chain. 

3.5.5  Traditionally, the performance dashboard for estates has comprised two key 
indicators; the commercial estate void level and income generated.  The 
service wide revenue cash limits and capital programme are agreed as part 
of the annual budget setting processes each February.  Financial data is 
reported upon as part of broader council arrangements.  The aim of this 
programme is to develop the performance monitoring dashboard/indicators 
to provide greater detail and transparency on activity across estate 
functions.  GIS mapping of assets is already underway and will be available 
to view.   

3.5.6  A revised system of governance will be put in place.  Responsibilities and 
decision-making processes will be reviewed and defined. 

3.5.7   In order to progress this project at pace it is intending to engage some 
temporary staffing resource, within approved council revenue budget 
provision. 

3.5.8 Timetable for activity: 

Date Activities 

December 
2020 

• Draft Montagu Evans Report produced 
(Commercial Estate Review) 

• Emerging capital requirements, 2021/22 
budget 

• Procurement activity completed 

• Appointment of resource to head service 
redesign work 

Page 155



Printed on recycled paper 

• Interim performance dashboard produced 

• Design option agreed for KCC 

Q1 2021 

  (January-March) 

• Final Report – Montagu Evans 

• Capital Programme and Cash Limits for 
21/22 agreed 

• Commence work on new Corporate 
Estates Strategy (agree scope, internal 
engagement) 

• Commence review of service structures, 
internal governance and decision-making 
arrangements, key policies and 
procedures (context of revised senior 
management arrangements) 

• Early engagement of Cabinet Member/s 
and Scrutiny Panel 

• KCC space redesign 

Q2 2021 

(April – June) 

• New service structures/arrangements 
implemented 

• Draft Strategy produced – internal and 
external engagement 

• Commence delivery of revised Commercial 
Estate Strategy 

• New performance management 
arrangements and dashboard in place 

• KCC – new blended working arrangements 
introduced 

Q3 2021 

(July – September) 

• Corporate Estates Strategy to Cabinet for 
consideration 

 

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1 The report itself raises no immediate legal issues but as the review progresses it 
is essential the legal input is provided to ensure the review addresses both the 
organisational changes to be introduced and the wide range of property and 
safety legislation applicable to the Council’s operational and commercial estate 
functions.  

 

Page 156



Printed on recycled paper 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

5.1 There are no specific resource implications associated with this report.  Further 
reports will be shared with the Cabinet Member for Resources, Cabinet and 
Council as business cases are developed and in accordance with the council 
budget setting and governance frameworks. 

6 RISK MANAGEMENT 

6.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision-making risk management 
guidance. 

7 EQUALITIES 

7.1 Equality Act 2010.  The Council has a public sector equality duty to have due 
regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and 
foster good relations between different people carrying out their activities.  

7.2 All Capital investment will be fully compliant with equalities legislation.   

7.3 As part of the redesign and refurbishment of KCC we will secure improvements to 
access arrangements, lighting and signage.  This work will be undertaken in 
consultation with the council’s equality leads and with full engagement of 
equalities groups.   

8 CLIMATE CHANGE & ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCY 

• All decisions will take account of the Council’s declaration on climate and 
ecological emergencies 

• All Capital investment will seek to deliver the Council’s policy of reducing 
energy consumption.  The emerging capital programme includes dedicated 
capital for retrofit activities, for Member consideration as part of the 
2021/22 budget setting process 

• All new development or major refurbishment of buildings to be net zero 
carbon in operation, or carbon positive generating more renewable energy 
than it uses  

• All works will consider how they minimise embodied carbon e.g. using 
local, natural materials, timber frame, limiting use of concrete and steel 

• Buildings to be designed for the future climate e.g. storms, flooding, heavy 
rain, overheating 

• Reducing car dependency - works will seek to retain parking provision for 
disabled users, but work towards reducing car dependency by considering 
options such as providing covered secure cycle storage and considering 
links to public transport 

• The streamlining of our office buildings and blended working approach will 
reduce the need to travel to and from work, contributing to the core policy 
of addressing the climate emergency 

Page 157



Printed on recycled paper 

• Service redesign – there is recognition additional resource is required in the 
energy team.  This will be addressed as part of the review of structures 

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

9.1 For the reasons outlined, Covid has necessitated a requirement to move forward 
at some pace on developing a new Corporate Estate Strategy.   A review of 
policies, procedures and resource planning are essential to support delivery of the 
council’s Corporate Strategy.  The repositioning of our estate function is 
necessary to aid effective community recovery and renewal.   

9.2 Options will be developed through the workstreams identified in this report and will 
be considered through the agreed governance and decision-making processes. 

10 CONSULTATION 

10.1 Cabinet Members, Monitoring and Section 151 Officers. 

Contact person  Mandy Bishop mandy_bishop@bathnes.gov.uk  

Marc Higgins marc_higgins@bathnes.gov.uk  

Background 
papers 

Asset Management Plan 2012 

Budget and Council Tax Meeting, Council 25 February 2020 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 158

mailto:mandy_bishop@bathnes.gov.uk
mailto:marc_higgins@bathnes.gov.uk


Printed on recycled paper 

 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING  

 

Cabinet 

 

MEETING 

 

10 December 2020 

 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 
PLAN REFERENCE: 

 

E 3245 

TITLE: Future of Destination Management arrangements 

WARD: All  

 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM WITH EXEMPT APPENDICES 

 

List of attachments to this report: 

Exemption Certificate - Information Compliance Ref: 1431/20 

 

EXEMPT APPENDIX  1- Asset & Employee Transfer Agreement (Exempt by virtue of 

Para 3 SCHEDULE 12A Local Government Act 1972 - information relating to the 

financial or business affairs of any particular person) 

EXEMPT APPENDIX  2- Asset & Employee Transfer Agreement (Exempt by virtue of 

Para 3 SCHEDULE 12A Local Government Act 1972 - information relating to the 

financial or business affairs of any particular person) 

EXEMPT APPENDIX  3 – Asset &Employee Transfer Agreement (Exempt by virtue of 

Para 3 SCHEDULE 12A Local Government Act 1972 - information relating to the 

financial or business affairs of any particular person) 

 

 

 

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 Covid 19 has significantly impacted on the long-term viability of Destination 
Management Organisations across the UK.  In conjunction with neighbouring 
Councils, B&NES considers it necessary to combine the back-office functions 
of the existing Destination Management Organisation, Visit Bath, with 
Destination Bristol, to create Visit West. 

Page 159

Agenda Item 14



Printed on recycled paper 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

The Cabinet is asked to; 

2.1 Authorise the Council to become a member of Visit West a company limited by 
Guarantee in accordance with the terms of the Membership Agreement. 

2.2 Authorise the Council to enter into the Asset & Employee Transfer Agreement 
(exempt appendix 1) with Visit West as guarantor for Visit Bath and for the future 
delivery of the Council’s destination management function through Visit West. 

2.3 Authorise the Council to enter into the Asset & Employee Transfer Agreement 
(exempt appendix 2) with Bath Forum to provide an indemnity for staff 
transferring from Visit Bath to Bath Forum. 

2.4 Authorise the Council to enter into the Asset & Employee Transfer Agreement 
(exempt appendix 3) with Visit Bath to provide for the transfer of Christmas 
Market staff to the Council and to address all residual matters.  

2.5 Delegate to the Director of Economy & Growth in consultation with the Cabinet 
member for Resources the power to make any minor changes to the Transfer 
Agreements or the Membership Agreement. 

2.6 Appoint the Director of Finance to the Board of Visit Bath to effect the voluntary 
strike-off of Visit Bath and to provide an indemnity to that officer to provide 
protection from personal liability pursuant to the Local Authorities (Indemnity to 
members and Officers) regulations 2004. 

2.7 Approve the use of reserve funding to enable the Council to meet the 
outstanding company liabilities, with delegation given to the Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) in consultation with the Chief Executive and Cabinet member for 
Resources to make final arrangements.  

2.8 Authorise the Council to take leasehold assignments for Bath Street and 
Bridgewater House. 

3 THE REPORT  

3.1 COVID-19 has had a devastating impact on the visitor economy and on Local 
Authority finances. B&NES Council, along with other West of England Local 
Authorities, will not be able to continue to provide the current level of financial 
support it has done in the past to a dedicated local Destination Management 
Organisation (DMO). 

3.2 Consequently a proposal has been developed to bring together support for the 
visitor economy across the West of England in a more efficient and proactive 
way, reducing the level of Local Authority funding support and improving the 
opportunity to obtain Government funding.  Visit West will be the “back office” 
engine but the public face will continue to be Visit Bath and Visit Bristol. 

3.3 Visit Bath was established in 2003 as Bath Tourism Plus, a company limited by 
guarantee owned equally by B&NES Council and Bath Chamber of Commerce.   

Page 160



Printed on recycled paper 

3.4 In November 2016, B&NES Council acquired the shares owned by Bath 
Chamber of Commerce and became the sole owner.  The company 
subsequently changed its corporate brand to Visit Bath.  

3.5 From 1 April 2017 Visit Bath secured a three-year contract from B&NES Council 
following an open competitive process to deliver specified destination 
management services, with an option to extend the contract for a further year to 
April 2021. Over the period of the contract as a result of budget constraints 
within the Council the annual fee for delivering the services effectively halved 
with a final sum agreed of £367k in 2020/21.  

3.6 As with all tourism companies up and down the country, Visit Bath’s income has 
dipped significantly as members are no longer able to pay the membership fee 
and commercial sponsors have put on hold their contributions. The Visitor 
Information Centre was closed and most staff furloughed. Despite a programme 
of redundancies and cost reductions, this has left the Company in a position 
where it is no longer financially viable as an on-going concern. 

3.7 Tourism is a vital sector to the Bath and North East Somerset economy, 
employing in the region of 9,000 people, which is approximately 10% of all 
B&NES employment. Given the devastating impacts of COVID 19 on the sector, 
supporting the tourism businesses now and in the future is critical to securing 
those jobs and people’s livelihoods. 

3.8 As a result it is recommended that a new DMO is formed covering the whole of 
the West of England, called Visit West. This will combine the resources of 4 
West of England Local Authorities with tourism business and is backed by Visit 
Britain and Visit England, the two primary Government agencies tasked with 
supporting the tourism economy. 

3.9 It will provide a much stronger industry presence for the region and voice in 
Government, create more sustainable tourism itineraries encouraging people to 
stay for longer and therefore reduce the area’s over-reliance on mass short stay 
tourism and by joining the back-office functions of the existing Companies, 
create a more financially stable Destination Management Organisation. 

3.10 In order to establish the new company the following is required: 

• Visit Bath will discharge all outstanding commitments and liabilities by 31 
March 2021 except for ongoing rental obligations on Bath Street and 
Bridgwater House which will be taken on by B&NES Council. 

• Visit Bath Directors will resign and B&NES will appoint a single Director to the 
dormant company.  After 3 months, Visit Bath will cease to exist as a 
separate company. 

• Four existing Visit Bath staff will transfer to Visit West along with relevant 
websites, IT and other systems 

3.11 Visit West will be a not-for-profit company limited by guarantee. The 
ownership voting structure for Annual General or Special General meetings will 
reflect the level of financial resource and size of each area’s tourism sector and 
be as follows, with key matters requiring unanimity: 

Page 161



Printed on recycled paper 

• Business West  4 votes 

• B&NES    1 vote 

• Bristol   1 vote 

• North Somerset  1 vote 

• South Glouc  1 vote 

3.12  Board Directors will comprise: 

• B&NES   1 Local Authority and 3 business 

• Bristol   1 Local Authority and 3 business 

• North Somerset 1 Local Authority and 2 business 

• South Glouc  1 Local Authority and 2 business  

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1 Under the transfer agreements staff currently employed by the Council’s wholly 
owned company Visit Bath (4 people) will transfer to Visit West and (3 people) 
will transfer to Bath Forum Ltd and their transfer will take effect by operation of 
law pursuant to the Transfer of Undertakings & Protection of Employment Act 
(TUPE).  Their employment rights will be protected and an indemnity will be 
provided by the Council as guarantor. 

4.2 In order for TUPE to take effect the transferor must transfer an Undertaking.  In 
respect of Appendix 1 that is the destination management (DM) functions to 
enable the staff transferred to be actively engaged. The transfer includes a 
mechanism to enable the staff and assets such as the name Visit Bath to be 
transferred to Visit West.  In respect of Appendix 2 this is the box office function. 
The transfer includes a mechanism to enable the staff and assets to be 
transferred to Bath Forum Ltd. 

4.3 The Council will become a member of Visit West, a company limited by 
Guarantee, together with the neighbouring Councils of Bristol, North Somerset & 
South Gloucestershire and the rights and responsibilities as between the 
members is governed by the Membership Agreement. 

4.4 Two members of staff employed by Visit Bath in the delivery of the Christmas 
Market will transfer directly to the Council. 

4.5 The leases for the properties Bath Street and Bridgwater House will be assigned 
to the Council and form part of the Council’s commercial estate. 

4.6 Once all staff and assets have been transferred the Council will as sole member 
of Visit Bath then voluntarily Strike off the company from the companies register.  
A separate “shareholder” decision will be taken by Cabinet to enable the strike 
off to proceed.  

 

Page 162



Printed on recycled paper 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

5.1 In November 2016, B&NES acquired the shares owned by Bath Chamber of 
Commerce and became the sole owner of the company taking on shareholder 
responsibility.  The company subsequently changed its corporate brand to Visit 
Bath. 

5.2 Since 2016, Visit Bath has consistently made a loss: 

2016/17  (£173k) 
2017/18  (£179k) 
2018/19  (£126k) 
2019/20  (£110k) 

 
5.3 The principal contributors to the 2019/20 loss were the Visitor Information Centre 

(£170k) and the Bath Box Office (£32k). The main company income sources 
were the annual contract from the Council and Christmas Market income. These 
alongside other income sources from trading activities have not been sufficient to 
cover the company running costs, despite a programme of cost cutting and 
redundancies. 

5.4 Due to the challenges of prior financial performance alongside the impacts of the 
pandemic on the company, this has resulted in company no longer being 
financially viable. The cancellation of the Christmas Market has resulted in the 
company’s inability to generate the required income to meet operating costs. 

5.5 The proposal set out in section 3 outlines how the destination management 
objectives of the Council can be delivered under a new model. The financial 
implications of this on the Council’s revenue budget are set out below: 

o Visit West annual membership fee: £75k per annum  

o This is an annual revenue budget saving of £291k which is being 
considered through the emerging revenue savings in the 2021/22 budget 
proposal. 

5.6 Through the decision to enter into a new membership model through Visit West 
the Council-owned company will be wound up. As shareholder it is proposed that 
the Council meet its corporate responsibilities and fund the outstanding company 
liabilities which are set out below: 

Liability 
Outstanding 
Company 
liabilities 

Ongoing 
liabilities  

B&NES 
Debt 

Total 

Property 105 175 0 280 

Council debt 0 0 215 215 

Overdraft 248 0 0 248 

Exit costs 73 0 0 73 

Corporate - VAT 66 0 0 66 

Total 492 175 215 882 

 
Page 163



Printed on recycled paper 

5.7 To meet the outstanding liabilities, it is proposed that the one-off costs are met 
from the Councils transformation reserve. The rationale and justification for the 
use of reserves is that the proposal in the report will deliver ongoing revenue 
savings for the Council.  

5.8 Over a 10-year period after meeting the liabilities this proposal will generate cash 
savings of £2m. 

5.9 The transformation reserve requirement for approval is £700k. This will meet the 
£667k liabilities above with the balance to be held as a contingency for any 
unplanned costs. 

5.10 There will be a debt write-off requirement of approximately £215k, some of which 
is historic debt which the Council has made a bad debt provision for having no 
adverse impact on the 2020/21 revenue position. The balance has been 
assumed unachievable in the current year budget monitoring requiring write off. 
It is recommended that the outstanding debt write off is delegated to the 
Council’s S151 Officer in Consultation with the Chief Executive and Cabinet 
member for Resources. 

5.11 In order to reduce the outstanding liabilities and improve the payback period 
further the Council will seek to have the leases for the 2 properties re-assigned 
to the Council’s commercial estate. These will be marketed, and new tenants will 
be sought for the remaining periods of the leases. 

6 RISK MANAGEMENT 

6.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision-making risk management 
guidance. 

7 EQUALITIES 

7.1 All aspects of the changes to employment for Visit Bath staff have been 
considered and addressed through legal advice received. 

7.2 Visit West will be the responsible organisation for ensuring that all equalities 
legislation is adhered to in delivering their services. 

8 CLIMATE CHANGE 

8.1 The tourism sector is likely to be a significant contributor to the area’s overall 
CO2 emissions, particularly from transport and the energy use from its buildings. 

8.2 The Council has declared a climate and ecological emergency and aims to be a 
zero carbon District by 2030.  

8.3 Creating Visit West provides the opportunity for the tourism sector across the 
West of England to consider how best to become zero carbon in a joined-up 
way. Given the relatively small economic geography of the region this provides 
significant opportunities for example by: 

(1) Developing a regional approach to local food-sourcing for tourism businesses; 

Page 164



Printed on recycled paper 

(2) Creating walking and cycling itineraries that take in the whole of the area, 
encouraging people to stay for longer and make more of the area’s natural 
beauty in a low impact way; 

(3) Improving communications on the public transport options for visitors to move 
into and across the area; 

(4) Using digital technology to encourage visitors to move around the region in a 
more sustainable and managed way, reducing traffic and congestion;      

(5) The creation of virtual digital twins, so people can explore the area’s main 
attractions from a distance;  

(6) Developing regional campaigns to support tourism businesses to reduce their 
carbon footprint, for example by improving the energy performance of their 
properties. 

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

9.1 Retaining Visit Bath as a separate Council owned company. This is not 
considered financially affordable for the reasons set out in the report. 

9.2 Closing Visit Bath and leaving the private sector to provide Destination 
Management services. The most successful Destination Management models in 
the UK are a partnership between the public and private sector. Creating a new 
regional model creates a strong financially sustainable partnership, bringing the 
best of both worlds, and is supported by Visit England and Visit Britain. 

10 CONSULTATION 

10.1 Consultation has been carried out with the Council’s senior responsible officers, 
including the Chief Executive, S151 and Monitoring Officers, the Head of 
Heritage Services and the Corporate Sustainability Manager as well as the 
Leader of the Council, the Cabinet Member for Resources and the Cabinet 
Member for Housing, Planning and Economic Development.  

10.2 Visit Bath has consulted with some of its members.  

10.3 Visit Bath has consulted with Visit England and Visit Britain. 

 

Contact person  John Wilkinson, 01225 396593 

Background 
papers 

 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 166



 

Page 1 of 2 

 
Access to Information Arrangements 

 
Exclusion of access by the public to Council meetings 

 
 
Information Compliance Ref: 1431/20 
 
Meeting / Decision: Cabinet 

Date: 10th December 2020 
 
Author: John Wilkinson 
 
Report Title: Future of Destination Management arrangements  
 
EXEMPT APPENDIX  1 – Asset & Employee Transfer Agreement  
EXEMPT APPENDIX  2 – Asset & Employee Transfer Agreement  
EXEMPT APPENDIX  3 – Asset & Employee Transfer Agreement  
 
 
The Report contains exempt information, according to the categories set out in the 
Local Government Act 1972 (amended Schedule 12A). The relevant exemption is set 
out below. 
 

 
The public interest test has been applied, and it is concluded that the public interest 
in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosure at this time. It 
is therefore recommended that the exempt appendices be withheld from publication 
on the Council website. The paragraphs below set out the relevant public interest 
issues in this case. 
 
PUBLIC INTEREST TEST 
 
If the Cabinet wishes to consider a matter with press and public excluded, it must be 
satisfied on two matters. 
 
Firstly, it must be satisfied that the information likely to be disclosed falls within one of 
the accepted categories of exempt information under the Local Government Act 
1972.   
 
The officer responsible for this item believes that this information falls within the 
following exemptions and this has been confirmed by the Council’s Information 
Compliance Manager.  

Stating the exemption: 
1 Information relating to any individual. 
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information) 

 

Page 167



 

Page 2 of 2 

The following exemptions are engaged in respect to this report: 
 
1 Information relating to any individual. 
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information) 
 
Exemptions 1 and 2 above must be considered in conjunction with the Principles of 
the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA). It is considered that disclosure of the 
information in this appendix would breach the first principle of the DPA, which 
requires personal data to be fairly and lawfully processed.  
 
Secondly, it is necessary to weigh up the arguments for and against disclosure on 
public interest grounds.  It is considered that there is a public interest in information 
about property disposal being disclosed into the public domain.  Other factors in 
favour of disclosure include:  

• furthering public understanding of the issues involved; 
• furthering public participation in the public debate of issues, in that disclosure 

would allow a more informed debate; 
• promoting accountability and transparency by the Council for the decisions it 

takes; 
 
Weighed against this is the fact that the exempt appendices contain strategic and 
financial information which could prejudice the commercial interests of the parties if 
disclosed at this time.  The exempt appendices also includes the observations and 
opinions regarding the proposal.  It would not be in the public interest if advisors and 
officers could not express in confidence opinions which are in good faith and on the 
basis of the best information available. It is important for public authorities to have 
some measure of ‘private thinking space’, and that they are able to share important 
information with Elected Members tasked with representing the local community. 
 
It is in the public interest that the Council is able to deliver cost-effective solutions. 
This depends partly on the Council being able to protect its commercial position while 
the detailed terms of relevant schemes are agreed.  
 
Additionally, there is a real risk that the first Principle of the DPA will be breached by 
this disclosure, and that any individual/s identified could bring a successful action 
against the Council if the disclosure occurred. 
 
The Council considers that the public interest has been served by the fact that a 
significant amount of information regarding the report has been made available – by 
way of the main report. Therefore it is recommended that exemptions set out above 
apply.  The Council considers that the public interest is in favour of not holding this 
matter in open session at this time and that any reporting on the meeting is 
prevented in accordance with Section 100A(5A). 

Page 168



Document is Restricted

Page 169

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 183

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 193

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Minutes of Previous Cabinet Meeting
	10 Single Member Cabinet Decisions Taken since Previous Cabinet Meeting
	11 Liveable Neighbourhoods
	E3238z Appendix LN1
	E3238z Appendix SQ1

	12 Local Plan Partial Update: Options Consultation
	E3239z Amendment to the wording on page 112 and 113 of Attachment 1 for clarification

	13 Property Services - Service Review
	14 Future of Destination Management arrangements
	E3245z LGA 1431 20
	B&NES - Visit Bath - Employee and Asset Transfer Agreement (draft 251120 BB) - c
	BNES - Visit Bath - Transfer Agreement (VB to BNES) (Draft 01 13.11.2020 BB) - c
	BNES - Visit Bath - V.3 Business Transfer Agreement (VB to BF) (Draft 03 16.11.2020 BB) - c (003) - c


